
OUR VISION
A progressive region creating opportunities for all

OUR MISSION
We are a council committed to continuous improvement, a 

sustainable future and efficient investment in our communities

OUR VALUES
Respect and Integrity

Accountability and Transparency
Providing Value

Commitment and Teamwork

OUR PRIORITIES
Strong, vibrant communities

Building and maintaining quality infrastructure
Supporting our local economy

Protecting our people and our environment
Leadership and governance

Our organisation 
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Special General Council Meeting

Notice is hereby given pursuant to the provisions of the 
Local Government Regulation 2012, that the next 
Meeting of the Central Highlands Regional Council will be 
held in the Council Chambers, 65 Egerton Street, 
Emerald on 

Monday, 14 December 2020
At 11.30am 

For the purpose of considering the items included on the Agenda.

Scott Mason
Chief Executive Officer 
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1 PRESENT

2 APOLOGIES

3 PURPOSE

The purpose of this Special General Council Meeting is to consider:

1. Presentation to Council of a monthly finance report (November 2020);
2. Endorsement of the annual financial statements by the Audit Committee;
3. Adoption of the 2019 / 2020 Annual Report; and 
4. Amendment to Fees and Charges – Waste Levy

4 ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF COUNTRY

5 CONFLICT OF INTEREST
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6 DECISION ACTION REPORTS

6.1 Corporate Services

6.1.1 Annual Report 2019 / 2020 ..... approx 10 mins

DECISION REPORT

Date: 14 December 2020 Presentation Duration: Approx. 10 minutes

To: General Council Meeting

Author: Andrea Ferris, Coordinator Communications

Authorising Officer: Margaret Gatt, General Manager Corporate Services

File Reference: NA

Presented for: Decision

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Central Highlands Regional Council - Annual Report 2019-20 [6.1.1.1 - 89 pages]

PURPOSE:
The 2019-20 Annual Report and Financial Statements for the Central Highlands Regional Council is tabled 
for adoption.

OFFICER RECOMMENDATION:
That Central Highlands Regional Council adopt the 2019-2020 Annual Report.

REPORT:

Background
Council is required to complete an annual report to comply with the Local Government Act 2009 and Local 
Government Regulation 2012. The 2019-20 Annual Report for the Central Highlands Regional Council is 
tabled for adoption.

Discussion/Current issue
The annual report must be adopted within one month of the day the Auditor General’s report on the 
financial statements is given, and the annual report must be published on the council’s website within two 
weeks of its adoption by council.

The independent auditor’s report was signed by the delegate of the Auditor General on 10 December 2020. 
Council has received an unmodified audit opinion from the Queensland Audit Office.

Each year, we strive to improve the annual report to ensure it is not only an accurate reflection of the year 
that was but is also easy for people to navigate and comprehend. 

This annual report tells a story about the Central Highlands, providing a snapshot in time. It begins with a 
brief overview of the past year, explores the region and the community then looks at the set-up of the 
organisation and introduces its leaders. 

The performance report details the highlights, challenges, next year’s outlook, and performance against the 
operational plan of each key performance area. The report ends with the financial statements.
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This year there are several references to the COVID-19 pandemic response including an outline of actions 
that council took in the auditor’s report, a case study presented by the Central Highlands Development 
Corporation and references to performance being affected in each performance report.

A section on what grants the council has received is also a new inclusion.

The report is structured on the 2017-2022 Corporate Plan, however there are a few areas where the 
organisational structure does not align with the corporate plan. For example, waste management services 
reside with key performance area 4 not key performance area 2, and customer service moved to 
commercial services, but remains in key performance area 6 in the annual report.

The report is presented as a first draft from the graphic designer who has worked on our five previous 
reports and is well-respected for his grasp of the ‘look and feel’ we desire for our report. The publication will 
not be printed in hard copy. It will be available as a ‘flip book’ online and as a PDF to download from 
council’s corporate website.

The cover continues the theme of using an image from a prize-winning art from an art awards held in the 
region each year; it is reproduced with the artist’s permission.

The annual report is a combined organisational effort, with corporate communications coordinating the 
content and design to ensure a quality publication.

This year’s annual report will be entered into the Annual Report Awards to be judged early in 2021. The 
awards’ judges closely scrutinise the report and provide comprehensive feedback to guide the improvement 
of future reports.

CONSIDERATIONS / IMPLICATIONS:

Corporate/Operational Plan Reference/Policy/Legislation: 
5. Leadership and Governance;
5.3.2 - Ensure transparency and accountability through integrated performance management 
reporting.

Budget/Financial/Resourcing: 
The annual report is considered as part of the budget as it is a requirement to deliver each year. 

Communication/Engagement:
The annual report is produced with the contributions of many staff and is the responsibility of the 
entire organisation as it is produced from the corporate plan. 

Risk Assessment: 
If council does not adopt the annual report within one month of the audited financial statements 
being received it will be in breach of the Local Government Regulation 2012.

Timings/Deadlines:
The Local Government Regulation 2012 requires the annual report to be adopted by council within 
one month of council Auditor General’s report is received. The report was received on 10 December 
2020. 

The annual report must be published on council’s website within two weeks (28 December 2020) of 
the annual report being adopted by council.

Conflict of Interest Declaration:
Council officers contributing to the preparation and approval of this report have no conflicts of 
interest to declare.  

Human Rights Impact: 
No
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Alternatives Considered:

Description Positives Negatives
Option 2 Not adopt the annual report. Annual report may need 

important amendments if 
information is not correct.

A special meeting of 
council will be required 
to adopt the annual 
report before 10 
January 2021.

- END OF REPORT -



Annual Report
2019-2020

1
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We acknowledge the First Peoples 

– the Traditional Owners of the 

lands where we live and work, 

and we recognise their continuing 

connection to land, water and 

community. We pay respect to Elders 

– past, present and emerging – and 

acknowledge the important role 

Aboriginal Peoples and Torres Strait 

Islanders continue to play within the 

Central Highlands Region.
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Our Vision 
A progressive region creating opportunities for all.

Our Mission 
We are a council committed to continuous improvement, 

a sustainable future and efficient investment in our 

communities.  

Our Values
Respect and integrity

	� Building trust, teamwork, communication and a shared 

understanding.

	� Actively listening to our communities.

Accountability and transparency

	� Equal opportunities, fair and open consultation and 

communication.

	� Accepting responsibility for our actions.

Providing value

	� Best value for money outcomes for our community.

	� Collaboration, managing expectations and working 

towards common goals.

	� Deliver efficiency and effectiveness in all that we do.

Commitment and teamwork

	� Continually improve on our achievements and drive 

innovative solutions.

	� Lead change and continuous improvement in 

delivering for our community.

	� Promote a positive health and safety culture.

Key Priorities
1. Strong vibrant communities.

2. Building and maintaining quality infrastructure.

3. Supporting our local economy.

4. Protecting our people and our environment.

5. Leadership and governance.

6. Our organisation.

About our annual report 
This annual report provides a comprehensive overview of the 

performance and activities of the Central Highlands Regional 

Council for the period 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020.

It is the culmination of a reporting process that begins 

with the Central Highlands 2022 Community Plan, which 

informs the 2017-2022 Corporate Plan and guides the annual 

operational plan.

This report is designed to tell a story of the council and its 

community; it commences with a guide to the region and a 

concise overview of the year that was and continues with five 

chapters that complete a 365-day picture of a progressive 

Queensland region.

Our Region – shows where the Central Highlands region is 

and explains some of the region’s statistical information.

Year in Review – gives an overview of the year from the 

mayor and chief executive officer and presents a summarised 

performance and financial report.

Our Community – showcases the people of the region: who 

live here and who inspire us. We also talk about how we 

engage, consult and communicate with the community; and 

how we support the people who live here in business, as 

community groups and how we prepare for disaster.

As a special feature in this report we look at the impact that 

the COVID-19 pandemic response had on our region.

Our Council - introduces how the organisation works and the 

people we employ.

Our Leaders – introduces the new councillors for the 2019-

2023 term and the executive leadership team.

Our Performance – provides a comprehensive look at how 

we performed in the six key priority areas outlined in the 

corporate plan. 

We look at the highlights, challenges and what lies ahead. 

Each report contains a summary of performance against 

projects and key performance indicators. 

More detailed information about key performance indicators 

(KPIs) and performance can be found in the quarterly reports 

against our annual operational plan on the council website.

Financial Reports – includes the audited financial 

statements of the council.

Information required by the Local Government Act, 2009 and 

Local Government Regulations, 2012 is included throughout.

This snapshot of our year is enhanced with local images to 

bring the story to life, data is presented with easy-to-read 

graphics, and the narrative crafted in plain English.

centralhighlands.qld.gov.auCentral Highlighlands Regional Council Annual Report 2019-2020 54
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Strategic planning framework
The annual report is the document that brings all the reporting together to deliver accountability for our actions at the end of 

each financial year. This graphic demonstrates our reporting framework.

The corporate plan is part of a framework of planning that provides a clear line of 
sight to the vision to be a progressive region creating opportunities for all.

Strategic Planning Framework

Annual Report
The outcomes of the annual operational plan and the performance on the 

budget are reported in the annual report

Staff Performance Plans
Drives organisational performance to achieve strategic goals.

Annual BUDGET
Outlines the income and expenditures for the coming year.

Annual Operational Plan
Outlines the service and project delivery actions for the coming year.

Planning Scheme 2016
Guides how land, buildings and structures are used and  

developed in the region.

Asset Management Plan
Financial, economic and technical practices applied to the  

management of council assets.

Financial Management Plan
A framework for the procurement, investment and  

administration of council funds.

Corporate Plan 2017-2022
Sets a strategic direction for the Central Highlands Regional Council to 

deliver progressive outcomes for the region that create opportunities for all.

Central Highlands 2022 Community Plan
Considers the social, environmental, economic and governance themes that 

contribute to the long-term wellbeing of the community.

Corporate Plan 2017- 2022 – A progressive region creating opportunities for all.4

7430 - Corporate Plan 2017-2022.indd   4 31/7/17   3:33 pm

centralhighlands.qld.gov.auCentral Highlighlands Regional Council Annual Report 2019-2020 76

Our Region

Agenda - Special General Council Meeting - 14 December 2020 

Central Highlands Regional Council 10 of 116



Our region 
The Central Highlands region is in Central Queensland, 

Australia—considered a gateway to the outback. The region’s 

central business area, Emerald, is a three-hour drive from 

Rockhampton on the coast and nearly 900 kilometres from 

Brisbane.

Our region is huge, approximately 60 000 square kilometres, 

which we liken to the size of Tasmania. It stretches from the 

Arcadia Valley in the south to the Peak Ranges in the north, 

east from Boolburra to Bogantungan in the west.

Around 29 000 people call the Central Highlands home 

and they live in the thirteen communities of Arcadia Valley, 

Bauhinia, Blackwater, Bluff, Capella, Comet, Dingo, Duaringa, 

Emerald, Rolleston, Sapphire Gemfields, Springsure and Tieri. 

Naturally our region is rich—in minerals, in grazing land, in 

dryland and irrigated agricultural land, in water from the 

Nogoa and Comet rivers and the Fairbairn Dam (three times 

the size of Sydney Harbour), in national parks and wilderness 

areas like Blackdown Tablelands and Carnarvon Gorge, and 

in gems as we claim the largest sapphire-producing fields in 

the Southern Hemisphere. 

Travellers in big rigs and small abound with major freight 

routes through the region that include the north-south link 

between Charters Towers and northern New South Wales—

identified as the inland transport alternative between Cairns 

and Melbourne and the Capricorn Highway leading ‘grey 

nomads’ to all points west.

 This is a vibrant region with a diverse economy based on:

	� A globally competitive coal mining industry. 

	� Robust and resilient agriculture and horticultural 

industries, including beef, grain, cotton, grapes, melons, 

nuts and citrus.

	� Dynamic small to medium size businesses.

	� Professional and government sectors.

	� Adequate availability of commercial, industrial and 

residential land.

	� An evolving tourism offering.

	� Major health and education services.

	� Significant new infrastructure and construction projects.

Our community

Mostly we’re a young community; the median age is 33 

years. Children aged 0-14 years make up nearly 25% of our 

population (Australian Bureau of Statistics 2016 Census).

Jobs in the mining sector account for most of our total 

workforce, followed by agriculture and horticulture, the retail 

trade, and education and training. 

The regional unemployment stands at 4.1%, well below the 

state average of 6.3% (Small Area Labour Markets data, 

Australian Government Department of Jobs and Small 

Business March 2020).

More than a third of our community reside in rental 

accommodation, 24% have a house with a mortgage and 16% 

own their house outright. 

Our neighbours

We are surrounded by the local government areas of 

Barcaldine Regional Council, Isaac Regional Council, 

Maranoa Regional Council, Banana Shire Council, 

Rockhampton Regional Council and the Woorabinda 

Aboriginal Shire Council.

Our history

We are proud to recognise that the Central Highlands was 

originally home to many indigenous people who remain the 

traditional custodians of these lands.

Early European settlement in the region dates from the 

1850s. The first pioneers brought sheep from down south 

to the region. Growth continued into the late 1800s with the 

inland expansion of the railway line west from Rockhampton 

and the establishment of small ‘railway’ towns.

Significant growth occurred in the 1950s to 1980s with the 

introduction of beef cattle grazing, the building of Fairbairn 

Dam for agricultural irrigation, and coal mining.

Today, our region is defined by the diverse prospering 

economies that support our unique vibrant communities.

9Central Highlighlands Regional Council Annual Report 2019-20208
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Employment

Our top three employers 

are coal mining, beef 

cattle farming and primary 

education, accounting for more 

than 30% of jobs. 

The unemployment rate in 

the region at the end of the 

March 2020 quarter was 4.1%. 

This compares to the Central 

Queensland rate of 4.0% and the 

Queensland rate of 6.3%. 

35.7% of employed people work in 

the mining industry and 12.1% work 

in agriculture, forestry and fishing. 

The labour force participation rate 

for Central Queensland is 70.8% 

compared to 69.1% at the same 

time in 2019 (qgso.qld.gov.au)

Population

The 2019 estimated 

resident population was  

28 701 people. This represents 

12.4% decrease from 2016 when 

the population on Census night 

was 32 752 people. The 30-39 

years cohort is the most common 

with 4716 people. 

Culturally Diverse

The top ten countries 

of birth for Central 

Highlands’ residents include 

Australia, New Zealand, England, 

Philippines, South Africa, 

Zimbabwe, India, United States of 

America, Papua New Guinea and 

Germany.

Community snapshot
Information supplied by REMPLAN, the 

Queensland Government Statistician’s 

Office and the 2016 Australian Bureau 

of Statistics Census data, and RP Data.

The 2019-20 year was steady for the 

local economy as the unemployment 

rate, rents and median house prices, 

and the number of building approvals 

showed little movement.

Housing

From the Census 2016, 

there were 22 694 private 

dwellings in the region, of which 

84.5% were ‘separate house’, and 

5.8% were ‘flat, unit or apartment’. 

The median weekly rent for a 

three-bedroom house in Emerald 

rose from $295 to $350 in the year, 

while the median rent for a similar 

property in Blackwater remained 

steady at $250.

The median sale price in Emerald 

is $325 000, which has risen slightly 

in the last twelve months. 

The number of building approvals 

in the region during the year was 

39; an increase of 11.4% from the 

previous year and more than 

double that of the 2016-17 year. 

The Queensland Valuer General’s 

2020 report noted that The Central 

Highlands region was not valued in 

2019-20.

Industry

Our economy generates 

an estimated $10.6 billion 

output representing 23.6% of the 

$44.8 billion output generated by 

Central Queensland.

The top five industry sectors 

(generating gross revenue) in the 

Central Highlands are:

	� mining 

	� agriculture, forestry, fishing

	� rental hiring and real estate 

services

	� construction

	� manufacturing

As at the 1 December 2019, the 

Central Highlands region was fully 

drought-declared (longpaddock.

qld.gov.au).

Tourism

The economic return to 

the region for tourism 

is around $242 million. According 

to the 2019 figures, the region 

welcomed 65 000 interstate 

visitors and 312 000 intrastate 

visitors. The ‘drive market’ accounts 

for most of the visitors to the 

Central Highlands. Domestic 

visitors stay an average of five 

nights in the region. 

There are 255 tourism-related 

businesses in the region. Our top 

three international visitor markets 

are New Zealand, United States of 

America and the United Kingdom.

In 2019, we had 707 000 visitors 

that stayed on average for five 

nights and spent an average of 

$91.00 per night.

CENTRAL HIGHLANDS TOURISM

Year Visitors
Average 
nights

Spend 
per 
night

2018 678 000 5 95.00

2019 707 000 5 91.00

Business is the primary reason people 

visit the region, followed by holiday 

makers and visiting friends and 

relatives. (2016-2019 data tra.gov.au)

1110

Year in Review
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Report from the mayor CEO Report
World-renown research 

professor and author Brene᷄ 

Brown said: ‘…  a leader is 

someone who holds her 

or himself accountable for 

finding potential in people and 

processes. And so, what I think is 

really important is sustainability.’

It’s one consonant in this quote that comes to mind as I 

write this report on a year that is too often described as 

‘unprecedented’. 

‘P’. People. Processes. Potential. Planning. Performance. 

Pandemic.

The year began with Toby Greenbury being crowned 

Central Queensland’s Bob Marshman Trainee of the year; a 

significant achievement for Toby, a mature-age trainee. 

Nearly 400 employees came together at Blackwater for the 

annual Whole of Organisation Day, where we celebrated our 

achievements, shared our plans, and awarded those that 

demonstrated our values and showed cultural leadership.

The Heart of Australia Bus gave us a benchmark for health 

and wellness as hundreds of staff had a frank assessment of 

their wellbeing and started conversations about sustainable 

personal change.

Health became central as quarter three introduced the 

COVID-19 pandemic where people, planning and process 

became an imperative. We embraced technology; adopted 

new flexible work practices; and relied on process to achieve 

business continuity and maintain services for the community.

Innovation shone as our people thought ‘outside the box’ to 

conduct click and collect library services, online family quiz 

events, virtual art exhibitions and home-delivered family 

activities.

Induction of newly elected councillors let us showcase 

planning and performance. A focussed effort to improve the 

delivery of the capital works program paid dividends seeing 

88% of the originally budgeted $72.34M program completed 

or in the delivery/construction phase at 30 June.

Some notable achievements, despite the pandemic 

limitations, included a$16 million airport runway and general 

aviation apron project at Emerald Airport, the Nogoa 

River Trail, completion of the new Black Gully Wastewater 

Treatment Plant, Fairbairn Road upgrade, and water valve 

and hydrant replacements.

While this is prominent validation of planning and diligence, 

as is much of the service council provides to the community, 

there is an equal amount of ‘behind the scenes’ endeavour 

worthy of remark.

After more than two years of planning and perseverance, 

we celebrated the switch-on of phase one of the 

TechnologyOne One Council business enterprise system, 

which is already improving operational efficiency. The level 

of commitment shown by our people to this enormous 

undertaking cannot be underestimated or adequately 

acknowledged on this page.

Building a sustainable public service entity requires an 

obligatory foundation of good governance. This year our risk 

management and policy frameworks, corporate reporting 

regime, and legislative compliance were reviewed and 

enhanced.

In closing this report on a remarkable year, the final ‘P’ is 

proud. This is an organisation of more than 400 people who 

pull together for the sole purpose of providing a service to 

the community of the Central Highlands. They don’t’ always 

get it right, and they often don’t get the recognition they 

deserve, but I am witness to their potential; the evidence of 

which is in the pages to follow.

Scott Mason 

Chief Executive Officer

This annual report is written 

under the shadow of the 

influences and impacts of the 

COVID-19 pandemic.

This global incident has taken 

an awful toll on human life, 

has negatively impacted world 

economies and its disruptions 

affect our livelihood, how we 

work and participate in the community, and has definitively 

changed our plans for the future.

Whilst the Central Highlands, for the main part, was less 

affected than many other regions, the impact on council 

activities was severe and felt in our financial position.

Having originally set a modest operating deficit for the 

2019-2020 financial year, impacts to capital works, airport 

operations, and cash interest revenue have increased the 

final deficit position.

Despite these disruptions, council’s business continuity 

planning ensured that we delivered $67.7 million of the 

capital works program, kept our services as functional 

as possible and adapted our delivery. And, under these 

extraordinary circumstances, we have kept rate increases to 

a minimum.  

We are constantly working to ensure that council operations 

are as efficient as they can be without compromising 

community service level expectations. To that end, council 

sold its Shepton Quarry during the year thereby removing a 

substantive legacy asset from its operations.  

Focussing on our core responsibilities, particularly asset 

management, will remove expensive provisions on the 

balance sheet and enable council the flexibility to fund more 

community infrastructure in future budgets.

This year was an election year for local government, and 

we saw four councillors returned and four new councillors 

elected.  Paul Bell, Gail Godwin-Smith  and Gail Nixon 

retired and, on behalf of our communities, we thank these 

councillors and Alan McIndoe for their incredible service to 

the region.

Councillors Christine Rolfe, Charlie Brimblecombe, Megan 

Daniels and Gai Sypher are joined by Joe Burns, Anne 

Carpenter, Natalie Curtis and Janice Moriarty to serve the 

Central Highlands for the next four years.

Whilst this election was conducted in the very early stages of 

COVID-19 pandemic restrictions, it was impossible to predict 

how the region would be impacted and ultimately changed.

Our council is facing increasing and very much changed 

challenges in the future and it will require determination, 

dedication and resilience to hold the course.

Councillor Kerry Hayes 

Mayor 

Central Highlands Regional Council
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Key Priority Area 1

Strong Vibrant Communities

Completed 62% 13

Carried over/not achieved 33% 7

Affected by COVID-19 response 57% 12

Not proceeding 5% 1

Key Priority Area 2

Building and Maintaining Quality Infrastructure

Completed 73% 16

Carried over/not achieved 27% 6

Affected by COVID-19 response 23% 5

Not proceeding 00 0

Key Priority Area 3

Supporting our Local Economy

Completed 84% 11

Carried over/not achieved 16% 2

Affected by COVID-19 response 23% 3

Not proceeding 0 0

Key Priority Area 4

Protecting our People and Environment

Completed 76% 16

Carried over/not achieved 24% 5

Affected by COVID-19 response 29% 6

Not proceeding 0 0

Key Priority Area 5

Leadership and Governance

Completed 81% 17

Carried over/not achieved 19% 4

Affected by COVID-19 response 24% 5

Not proceeding 0 0

Key Priority Area 6

Our Organisation

Completed 78% 14

Carried over/not achieved 22% 4

Affected by COVID-19 response 44% 8

Not proceeding 0 0

Performance Scorecard
This is an overview of the targets achieved against the key performance areas from the Operational Plan 2019-20.

1514

Spring colour in the Emerald Botanic Gardens.
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Community Financial Report
The community financial report provides details of the 2019-

2020 financial statement report that is included at the end of 

this annual report.

The financial report has four key statements that are 

supported by additional notes and disclosures, including 

measures of financial sustainability: 

	� The statement of comprehensive income (profit and 

loss) is a financial performance statement that details 

council’s income and expenses providing a net result for 

the financial year.

	� The statement of financial position (balance sheet) is a 

snapshot of council’s net worth (equity) and shows what 

we own (assets) and what we owe (liabilities) as at the 

end of the financial year.

	� The statement of changes in equity summarises the 

changes in our net worth during the year.

	� The statement of cash flows identifies movements in 

cash that occurred during the financial year.

The notes to the financial statements provide further detail 

and disclosures of significant items recorded in the four 

statements.

The three financial sustainability ratios provide a measure 

of council’s relative sustainability based on our financial 

performance in the current year.

Statement of Comprehensive Income

The statement of comprehensive income shows revenue 

during the year of $151 million, offset against expenses of 

$152 million to provide council’s operations and services. The 

net result is either a surplus (profit), or a deficit (loss). For the 

year ended 30 June 2020, council recorded a deficit of  

$1.3 million.

Included in the net result are grants to fund both operational 

and capital projects that council actively seeks from the state 

and federal governments to improve the liveability of the 

region. The following graph shows the six-year trend in the 

net result.

NET RESULT: SIX-YEAR TREND ($000)
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Within the net result is the operating result, which is 

calculated by subtracting total operating revenue from total 

operating expenses. 

Capital revenue and capital expenditure is not included in 

the operating result. Grants received to build community 

infrastructure assets are classified as capital revenue. When 

council’s infrastructure and plant assets are renewed or 

replaced, the resulting write off or disposal is recorded as a 

capital expense. The cost to construct or renew community 

infrastructure is reflected in the balance sheet as property 

plant and equipment assets.

For the year ended 30 June 2020, council recorded an 

operating deficit of $8.9 million. This result reflects several 

factors, including the COVID-19 pandemic response, which 

impacted revenue generated from the Emerald Airport 

and returns on invested cash balances, and an increase in 

depreciation expense related to assets commissioned and 

capitalised this year. 

The long-term forecast indicates that council should return 

to a more favourable position from 2020-2021 because of 

increases in own source revenue and a focus on reducing 

levels of operating expenditure.

The following graph shows the six-year trend in the 

operating result. 

OPERATING RESULT: SIX-YEAR TREND ($000)

Where does the money come from?
Council receives 77% of revenue from rates, sales and 

recoverable works and fees and charges. This demonstrates 

our significant ability to generate revenue from our own 

sources to fund day-to-day operations, which reduces the 

reliance on government grants.

Operating revenue of $134 million was recorded in  

2019-2020 and the following graph provides a breakdown by 

major category.  

REVENUE CATEGORY AS % OF TOTAL REVENUE

Details of key revenue items:

	� Rates and levies – annual increases in general rates and 

utility charges have contributed to the moderate increase 

this financial year. 

	� Fees and charges – revenue generated from waste 

activities is the main contributor to the increase in fees 

and charges.

	� Sales and recoverable works – variability of contract 

works from year-to-year and the reduction in revenue 

from airport operations due to the impacts of COVID-19 

contributed to the decrease this financial year.

	� Operating grants and subsidies – funding received for the 

Central Queensland Intermodal Terminal and Industrial 

Access (Regional Jobs Investment Packages) and the 

Yamala Rail Siding (Building our Regions) projects has 

contributed to the increase in the level of grant revenue 

this year.

	� Interest income – interest received on investments was 

significantly impacted by the record low cash rates set by 

the Reserve Bank of Australia over the course of the year.

	� Capital grants and subsidies – includes grants and 

contributions received towards investment in community 

infrastructure projects. The level of capital grant revenue 

has reduced significantly this year reflecting the funding 

received in the previous financial year for the restoration 

of flood damaged infrastructure.
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Audit committee members from left to right: Geoff King, Mayor Kerry Hayes, Chair Graham Webb, Cr Charlie Brinblecombe, Cr Christine Rolfe, CEO Scott Mason.

59.8%

14.5%

3.0%

8.6%

1.4%
1.4%

8.8%

2.5%

Rates and levies Interest income

Sales and recoverable works Other operating revenue

Fees and charges Capital grants and subsidies

Operating grants and subsidies Other capital income

1716 centralhighlands.qld.gov.auCentral Highlighlands Regional Council Annual Report 2019-2020

Agenda - Special General Council Meeting - 14 December 2020 

Central Highlands Regional Council 15 of 116



Where is the money spent? 

Council spent $143 million on day-to-day operations during 

the 2019-2020 financial year. This included expenditure 

associated with contract work carried out for the Department 

of Transport and Main Roads (TMR) for improvements and 

maintenance to their road network. This expenditure is fully 

recouped from the funding TMR provide, which is recorded 

as recoverable works revenue. The level of contract works 

can vary significantly from one year to the next.

EXPENDITURE CATEGORY AS % OF TOTAL EXPENDITURE

Details of key expenditure items:

	� Employee costs – movement in employee expenses 

reflects the approved increase in accordance with the 

Certified Agreement 2018-2021, combined with the 

growth in full-time equivalent employees of council. 

The impact of rates used to discount employee leave 

provisions has also contributed to the increase.

	� Materials and services – a reduction in expenditure is 

related primarily to less operational activity relating to 

contract works, which is consistent with the reduced 

sales and recoverable works revenue. Council has a local 

spend policy where, historically, approximately 70% of 

purchase orders are raised with local businesses.

	� Depreciation – the significant increase in depreciation 

expense reflects the commissioning and capitalisation of 

several capital projects during the year. These projects 

include, flood damaged road restoration works, the 

Black Gully wastewater treatment plant, Emerald Airport 

runway and the new TechnologyOne corporate software 

program OneCouncil. 

	� Finance costs – these costs include banking transaction 

fees, interest on loans and the write-off related to 

debts considered to be uncollectible. The increase this 

year reflects the recognition of a provision for unpaid 

creditor invoices.

	� Capital expenses – these expenses include the loss on 

sale of land and plant and equipment assets, and  

write-offs relating to renewal works undertaken on 

community infrastructure assets.

Statement of Financial Position

The statement of financial position shows what we own 

(assets) and what we owe (liabilities) with the difference 

being the net worth of council (equity). The community net 

worth at the end of the financial year has increased from 

$1.52 billion to $1.54 billion. 

The following graph shows the six-year trend of total assets, 

liabilities and equity. 

TOTAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES: SIX-YEAR TREND ($000)

What do we own (assets)?

Council classifies it assets as current or non-current. 

Current assets total $142 million and include cash, 

investments, inventory and trade and other receivables. 

Trade receivables consist of money owed to council by 

ratepayers and other customers of council within the next  

12 months. 

Cash and investments include funds that have been put 

aside for future investment in the renewal of existing 

infrastructure, as well as ensuring that there are funds 

available to cover any unforeseen events. 
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Cash balances decreased during the year from  

$123 million to $95 million. This movement is consistent 

with the increase in the current trade and other receivables 

balances, including other assets, which increased by  

$19 million to $40 million this year. The high level of trade 

receivables is mainly associated with delays in issuing the 

second-half rate and water notices.

Non-current includes property plant and equipment assets 

that provide community infrastructure, such as the road and 

bridge network, and water and wastewater facilities, and 

assets that improve the liveability of the region such as parks, 

community halls, swimming pools and sporting facilities.

Council’s property plant and equipment assets have 

increased by $31 million during the year, with a total of $1.50B 

in assets under management as shown in the following chart.

TOTAL COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE ASSETS ($000)

Other non-current assets shown in the balance sheet reflect 

amounts owed to council that will not be received within the 

next 12 months. 

What do we owe (liabilities)?

Council has both short and long-term responsibilities and 

classifies liabilities that will be paid within 12 months as 

current. 

Our liabilities include money borrowed from the 

Queensland Treasury Corporation; provisions to cover future 

commitments for staff leave; trade creditors from normal 

operations; and the rehabilitation of landfill sites.

During the year, council repaid $4 million in existing 

borrowings and obtained a new borrowing of $13 million to 

fund the Emerald Airport runway construction project. Total 

borrowings at the end of the year are $68 million. 

Total liabilities at the end of the financial year are $118 million 

as shown in the below chart.

TOTAL LIABILITIES ($000): SIX-YEAR TREND

Statement of Changes in Equity

The statement of changes in equity measures the change 

in community net worth from year-to-year and includes 

retained earnings from the current and previous years and 

any movement in asset values arising from revaluations. The 

community net worth at the end of the financial year has 

increased from $1.52B to $1.54B. 

In 2019-2020, an indexation of all major asset classes was 

performed including a comprehensive revaluation of council-

owned land. These revaluations increased council’s net worth 

by $21 million. The operating deficit of $8.9 million recorded 

this year, due to the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic 

response, had a negative impact on the community net worth.

Statement of Cash Flows

This statement identifies the sources of cash received 

throughout the year and how that cash was applied or spent. 

This could be from normal operating activities, investment in 

community infrastructure, or the receipt or payment of loans. 

A large portion of the cash balance is restricted for future 

capital investment in community infrastructure.

The final balance at the end of the financial year shows cash 

of $71 million and investments of $24 million. Total cash plus 

investments decreased during the year from $123 million to 

$95 million, which reflects a reduction in revenue from airport 

operations and interest earned on investments. 

The delays in issuing the second-half rate and water notices 

also contributed to the reduced cash flow at the end of the 

financial year, which is consistent with the high level of trade 

and other receivables shown on the balance sheet.

$0 $200,000 $400,000 $600,000 $800,000 $1,000,000

Other Assets

Land

Airport

Site Improvements

Works in Progress

Sewerage

Buildings

Water

Roads and Bridges

$0

$20,000

$40,000

$60,000

$80,000

$100,000

$120,000

$140,000

2014-2015 2015-2016 2016-2017 2017-2018 2018-2019 2019-2020

Creditors Provisions Borrowings Other

1918 centralhighlands.qld.gov.auCentral Highlighlands Regional Council Annual Report 2019-2020

Agenda - Special General Council Meeting - 14 December 2020 

Central Highlands Regional Council 16 of 116



CASH AND INVESTMENTS ($000)

 

Notes to the Financial Statements

The financial statements contain a series of notes and 

disclosures that provide important detail about the balances, 

policies and accounting practices adopted by council.

Where additional information in a statement is contained 

within a note, the number reference of the note is displayed. 

The purpose of the notes is to provide greater detail and 

information to the reader.

The financial statements for 2019-2020 include a separate 

note explaining the qualitative and quantitative impacts of 

the COVID-19 pandemic response on council’s operations. 

We have estimated that the pandemic has resulted 

in reduced revenue of $1.4 million and an increase in 

expenditure of $0.701 million. 

Financial Sustainability Ratios

Each year, we measure our performance using three financial 

sustainability ratios. These performance indicators measure 

our performance against industry benchmarks to ensure we 

remain financially sustainable in the long-term. 

By analysing these ratios over several years, trends or issues 

can be identified that may highlight a need to amend our 

long-term financial forecast. 
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THE OPERATING SURPLUS RATIO

This ratio measures the extent to which operating revenue 

exceeds operating expenditure in order to provide surplus 

funds for investment in community infrastructure and for the 

repayment of borrowings. 

The target range for this measure is between 0% and 10%.

Council’s operating surplus ratio for this financial year is 

negative 6.64%. This ratio indicates that expenses have 

exceeded revenue and reflects the operating deficit 

recorded in the current year. Several factors, including the 

COVID-19 pandemic response, have contributed to this 

unfavourable short-term performance. 

Council’s long-term forecast indicates that we should return 

to a more favourable position from 2020-2021, as a result of 

increases in own source revenue and a focus on reducing 

levels of operating expenditure.

The following chart shows the six-year trend of this ratio.

ACTUAL OPERATING SURPLUS RATIO RESULT:  SIX YEAR 
TREND
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THE ASSET SUSTAINABILITY RATIO

This ratio measures whether council is spending enough 

each year to keep property, plant and community 

infrastructure assets in good condition as they are being 

used by the business and the community. 

The target range for this measure is greater than 90% 

and is calculated by dividing capital expenditure on the 

replacement of assets by depreciation expense.

Council’s asset sustainability ratio for this financial year 

is 122%. This result is considered reasonable due to the 

extensive restoration work undertaken during this period to 

restore road network assets damaged by flood events. 

The following graph shows that the six-year trend for the 

asset sustainability ratio. 

ASSET SUSTAINABILITY RATIO RESULT: SIX YEAR TREND
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The net financial liabilities ratio

This ratio is a measure of whether council’s liabilities can be 

serviced by its operating revenue. The ratio is calculated by 

deducting current assets (predominantly cash) from total 

liabilities (mainly borrowings) and dividing this figure by 

operating revenue. 

The target range for this measure is less than or equal to 60%. 

Council’s net financial liabilities ratio for this financial year is 

negative 17.88%. This favourable result indicates that council 

continues to maintain a manageable level of debt. 

The following graph shows that the six-year trend for net 

financial liability ratio.

NET FINANCIAL LIABILITY RATIO RESULT: SIX YEAR TREND

Summary

The 2019-2020 financial statements and sustainability ratios 

indicate that council is in a sound financial position. 

The operating result recorded this year does reflect an 

unfavourable short-term performance due to several factors, 

including the COVID-19 pandemic response. The 2020-2021 

budget and long-term forecast indicate that we should 

return to a more favourable position from 2020-2021 because 

of increases in own-source revenue and a focus on reducing 

levels of operating expenditure. 

These actions will ensure that council will be able to deliver 

on its commitment to be a progressive region that creates 

opportunities for all.  
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Internal audit report
Audit Committee

The primary objective of the audit committee, which is 

an advisory body, is to fulfil our accounting and reporting 

responsibilities imposed under the Local Government Act, 

2009 and other relevant legislation.

The committee comprises two independent members; Chair 

Mr Graham Webb and Mr Geoff King, and three councillors; 

Councillor Gai Sypher, Councillor Charlie Brimblecombe and 

Councillor Christine Rolfe.

The audit committee’s principles and standards include:

	� Enhancing the ability of councillors to fulfil their legal 

responsibilities.

	� Adding to the credibility and objectivity of financial 

reports.

	� Enhancing the objectivity and effectiveness of the 

council’s internal audit function.

	� Overseeing the application of appropriate accounting and 

disclosure policies and procedures.

	� Monitoring existing corporate policies and reviewing new 

corporate policies to prohibit unethical, questionable or 

illegal activities.

	� Providing a communication link between management, 

internal auditors, external auditors and council.

	� Promoting the need for public accountability of managers 

to council, the community and other interested parties.

	� Supporting measures to improve governance, risk and 

internal controls.

Internal Audit 

The internal audit function provides independent, objective 

assurance and consulting services to add value and improve 

our operations. It helps the council accomplish its objectives 

by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate 

and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control 

and governance processes.

Internal audits undertaken by our internal auditors (Crowe) for 

2019-20:

	� Risk maturity review.

	� Payroll computer assisted audit techniques.

	� Social media management.

Audit Committee Chair Report

The audit committee has actively supported the organisation 

to manage its risks and oversight its financial performance. 

There are significant organisational developments being 

undertaken at the moment, principally the move to the 

TechnologyOne suite of software for the financial and 

information management of the organisation. 

The committee has kept oversight of the transition to the 

new system and is mindful of the risks that need to be 

managed to ensure success. The emerging risks around 

the COVID-19 pandemic response have also been of great 

interest and we have discussed at length the processes and 

procedures that have been introduced to ensure, as far as 

possible, the mitigation of its impacts.

A crisis management planning structure was developed 

consisting of strategic, tactical and operational 

response teams. 

COVID-19 pandemic response

The crisis management team (CMT) was created and 

continues to review corporate response strategies and 

provides high level organisational response guidelines. 

To support the CMT, the incident response team (IRT) was 

deployed to deal with operational matters in relation to the 

COVID-19 pandemic response. 

The IRT was charged with responsibility for the coordination 

and facilitation of resources, providing support to managers, 

reporting, and informing decision making. 

Council undertook business continuity planning reviews for 

all services to define the essential services priorities and 

understand current obligations, costs, key performance 

indicators, assets and resource allocations for each of its 

services. 

This led to the implementation of business continuity plans 

for each department and essential service. 

I am also pleased to report that risk management is 

embedded throughout all levels of the organisation as 

evidenced in the review and development of operational and 

strategic risk registers and risk management approach taken 

to deal with the COVID-19 pandemic response challenges. 

Central Highlands Regional Council was selected and 

congratulated by our committee as the winner for the 

Central Queensland region in the first of the quarterly Local 

Government Mutual Services (LGMS) Risk Excellence Awards 

for 2019-20 for its Game Plan initiative. 

The awards program is designed to reflect the compelling 

value proposition and inherent benefits of ongoing 

membership of the LGMS mutual self-insurance schemes by 

recognising outstanding individual member council efforts in 

risk management to the ultimate benefit of all members. 

Financial statements and extensions

Council was granted an extension to complete and audit its 

2019-2020 financial statements due to delays associated with 

the COVID-19 pandemic response and the transition to the 

new TechnologyOne OneCouncil corporate software system. 

The audit commenced on 19 October 2020 and the audit 

report was issued in November 2020.

I wish to acknowledge the contribution of my former and 

fellow committee members: councillors Brimblecombe, 

Rolfe and Sypher and independent member Geoff King 

for their contributions to the work of the committee and 

willingness to share and provide their wise counsel to me. 

I also acknowledge the support of Mayor Kerry Hayes; it is 

appreciated. 

Council appointed me to the position of chair at its meeting 

11 December 2018. 

As chair, I observe an open and transparent organisation with 

a very professional attitude to engagement and decision 

making. I encourage cultural excellence including sound 

governance practices, a team approach, commitment 

to current and long-term financial sustainability and a 

willingness to engage with the community and to make, at 

times, difficult decisions in the best interests of the Central 

Highlands regional community. 

The positive accountability role and function of the 

committee to the council, management/organisation 

and the wider community is reinforced by the agenda 

preparation and timely distribution to members, councillors 

and management, and reports to the committee, council, 

and postings of the committees decisions in agendas and 

minutes on council’s website.

Finally, I wish to acknowledge the support of the chief 

executive officer and senior managers of the organisation 

who have been open, frank and fearless in their advice and 

in our discussions. They have shown a willingness to engage 

with me, between meetings and through professional 

well-developed reports on the important audit and risk 

management committee, and internal and external audit 

functions. 

GRAHAM WEBB 

PSM, CHAIRMAN
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Citizen of the Year Trina Patterson.

Australia Day 
Award Winners
Citizen of the Year

Springsure/Rolleston 

Trina Patterson

Photographer, rural producer 

and mother, Trina Patterson 

knows the recipe that makes 

a community champion.

Experiencing one of the 

driest years on the family 

farm did not stop her from 

calling households from 

across the region to action 

and bake for a good cause.

Baked with love supplied 

people in flood-affected 

North Queensland with 

belly-soothing home-baked 

goods and heart-warming 

messages of hope. The flow-

on effects from countless 

hours spent organising 

transport are long-lasting 

and Baked with love has 

since donated to charities 

supporting rural Australians.

It doesn’t take a disaster for 

Trina Patterson to help others 

and build community spirit. 

She regularly involves herself 

in the Anglican church 

and community events in 

Rolleston and Springsure, 

where she can be found 

taking on leadership and 

organisation tasks, capturing 

the moments, faces and 

places with her camera. 

Citizen of the Year

Capella/Tieri 

Donna Bennett

Blackwater/Duaringa 

Kelli Willmott

Emerald/ Gemfields 

Selwyn Nutley

Springsure/Rolleston

Trina Patterson

Young Citizen of the Year

Emerald/Gemfields 

Thomas Currie

Capella/Tieri 

Not awarded

Blackwater/Duaringa 

Brodie Brandenberg

Springsure/Rolleston 

Brooke Killalea

Cultural Award

Emerald/Gemfields 

Andrew Doyle

Capella/Tieri 

Julie Tasker, Acrofit

Blackwater/Duaringa 

Blackwater Art Society

Springsure/Rolleston 

Not awarded

Senior Sports Award

Emerald/Gemfields 

Ashley Herwin

Capella/Tieri 

Andrew Jansen

Blackwater/Duaringa 

Mariah Storch

Springsure/Rolleston 

Glen and Sandra Knight

Junior Sports Award

Emerald/Gemfields 

Bella Donaldson

Capella/Tieri 

Savannah Herbert

Blackwater/Duaringa 

Brock Olive

Springsure/Rolleston 

Ashton Upton

Community Event of the Year

Emerald/Gemfields 

Comet River Social 

Association Bare All  

Charity Ball

Capella/Tieri 

Capella Country Music 

Festival

Blackwater/Duaringa 

Dingo Hogs and Dogs

Springsure/Rolleston 

Springsure Working Horse 

Association Fundraiser 

weekend
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Community Reference Groups update
Established place-based community reference groups (CRGs) continue to play an important role in the delivery of the council’s 

community plan. The CRGs are an opportunity for council to engage with community to find out what matters to them. 

Over the last financial year, community development and engagement staff held 26 CRG meetings.

New citizens
We welcomed 38 new citizens to the Central Highlands in 

2019-20.

They came from the Philippines, United Kingdom, India, 

New Zealand, China, United States, Zimbabwe, Cameroon, 

Sweden, Taiwan, Thailand and Turkey.

Citizenship ceremonies were held on the 17 September 2019 

and 26 January 2020.

Volunteers
Volunteering continues to play a pivotal role in the Central 

Highlands with almost a quarter of the population offering a 

helping hand to our community in some capacity.

In 2019-2020 volunteers from all walks of life selflessly offered 

their commitment, support and experience to many of our 

community programs and facilities. 

We recognise and appreciate the contributions of all our 

unsung heroes, who continually strengthen and enrich our 

region. 

Some of our volunteering opportunities include: 

	� State Emergency Services

	� Visitor Information Centre staff in Emerald, Duaringa, 

Springsure, Blackwater and Capella

	� Community Open Day Rubyvale

	� Friends of the Emerald Art Gallery 

	� Rubyvale, Sapphire and Scrub Lead Miners Common 

Committee

	� National Tree Planting Day

	� Australia Day Celebrations

	� Clean Up Australia Day

	� Regional shows

	� NAIDOC Week

	� Youth Week

	� Central Highlands Arts and Cultural Advisory Committee

	� Game Plan Advisory Committee

All our volunteers receive a briefing about our expectations 

and their rights and responsibilities as volunteers, including 

health and safety requirements and code of conduct training.

Community Reference Group priority projects 2019-20 

Community Reference Group Project

Arcadia Valley 	� Improved roads.

	� Telecommunications blackspot improvements.

Bauhinia 	� Community hall renovations

	� Tree planting project.

Blackwater 	� Opening hours review at Blackwater Aquatic Centre.

	� Design, funding and installation of Blackwater skate park. 

	� Continuation of the community newsletter Blackwater Banter.

Bluff 	� Shade over skate park.

	� Main street beautification.

	� Attracting a local store.

Capella 	� Renovations to Capella bakehouse oven.

	� Renew Capella signage.

Comet 	� QR code for Comet tales and walking trails.

	� Book exchange.

Dingo 	� Dingo Cemetery beautification.

	� Dingo Hall kitchen upgrades.

	� Dingo Progress Park permanent skate park pieces installation.

	� Beautification of Normanby Street.

	� Advocating for local waste facility to stay open.

Duaringa 	� Welcoming local tourism. 

	� Rural road maintenance.

Emerald 	� Central Highlands art trail booklet.

Gemfields 	� QR codes for Gemfields Interpretive Trail.

	� Anakie 10,000 Steps project.

Springsure 	� Springsure streetscape.

	� Community bus.

	� Springsure childcare project.

Rolleston 	� Clubhouse at Rolleston community sports precinct. 

	� Photographic art boards project.

Tieri 	� LED signage.

	� Footpath mapping project.

	� Koala project.
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New citizens at the 2020 Australia Day citizenship ceremony.

Clean-up Australia Day 2020.

Clean-up Australia Day 2020.
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Grants to Community Organisations
Organisation Project  Grant Category

$Amount to 

nearest whole $

Bauhinia Polocrosse Club Amenities block Sports & Recreation $5000

Blackwater Tiny Tots Centre Inc. Tots storage and table 

upgrades

Community Assistance $3000

Blackwater Toy Library Inc. New children’s toys Community Assistance $3782

C & K Emerald South Community 

Childcare Centre

Outdoor environment / 

playground upgrade

Community Assistance $4727

DancEdge Emerald Dance floor upgrade Community Improvement $20 000

Dingo Tennis Club Installation of insulated ceiling Sports & Recreation $5000

Emerald Brothers Cricket Indoor cricket nets and 

equipment

Sports & Recreation $4000

Emerald Karting Club 2020-2022 Strategic Plan Sports & Recreation $5000

Emerald Magpies Cricket Practise net upgrade Sports & Recreation $5000

Emerald Scout Group Camping gear and office 

equipment

Sports & Recreation $3000

Epic All Sports Inc. Water tank Community Improvement $20 000

Gemfields Community Support 

Association Inc.

Meals on Wheels dishwasher Community Assistance $5000

Gindie State School Parents & Citizens Resurfacing cricket pitch Sports & Recreation $5000

Marist College Emerald Parents & 

Friends

Purchase and install turf to 

sports field

Community Improvement $20 000

Queensland Country Women’s 

Association Emerald Branch

Refurbishment of kitchen Community Assistance $5000

Rolleston Campdraft Association Replacement of chairs and 

tables

Community Assistance $5000

Rolleston Tennis Club Court upgrades Community Improvement $16 874

Returned and Services League (RSL) of 

Australia (Sub Branch Gemfields)

Grid solar system Community Assistance $5000

The Rolleston Rag Inc. Festival of Small Halls Community Assistance $2200

Round 2 2019 Total $142 584

Organisation Project  Grant Category
$Amount to 

nearest whole $

Round 1, 2020 (endorsed by council 25 March 2020) 20 successful grant applications.

Blackwater Bilbies Junior Cricket Club Purchase of BBQ, gas, esky Sport and recreation $1163

Blackwater Equestrian Complex Grounds equipment Sport and recreation $5000

Blackwater State School Parents & 

Citizens

Junior playground Community improvement $20 000

Borilla Community Kindergarten Borilla Kindergarten 

supporting the community

Community assistance $5000

Capella Cricket Club Cricket trailer Sport and recreation $5000

Capella Pioneer Village To preserve and protect the 

timber

Community improvement $10 000

Central Highlands Music Festival Central Highlands Festival of 

Bands

Community assistance $3875

Central Highlands Science Centre Commercial coffee machine Community assistance $4845

Coal Capital Speedway Safety catch fence Community improvement $20 000

Duaringa State School Parents & 

Citizens

Portable stage upgrade Community assistance $5000

Emerald Archery Club Shade cover Sport and recreation $2892

Emerald District Athletics Association Inc. Electronic starting equipment Sport and recreation $3500

Emerald Golf Club Children's playground project Community improvement $13 646

Emerald Pottery Club Inc. Purchase and install split 

system air conditioner

Community improvement $8000

Emerald Show Society Portable water bottle fountains Community assistance $4375

Emerald Woodworkers Group Large table saw Community assistance $5000

Orion Community Inc. Life Matters - Orion 

Community

Community assistance $2000

Playgroup Queensland - Tieri Possums All Kids Today, Enjoying 

Outdoor Play

Community improvement $16 617

Queensland Country Women’s 

Association Blackwater Branch

Upgrade of Queensland 

Country Women’s  

Association Hall

Community assistance $3000 

Queensland Country Women’s 

Association Capella Branch

Upgrading of electrical 

switchboard and installing 

smoke alarms

Community assistance $5000

Round 1 2020 Total $143 915
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RADF grants 2019-2020 
Project Title $ Amount Project Summary

Capella Tieri Middlemount (CTM) 

Links Capella - Whimsey and me

1313 Two full-day workshops with tutor Toni Crane creating inspirational 

whimsey boards.

Future Concepts Entertainment – 

Les Alberts

3867 Professional comedian, Anthony Lamond conducted a comedy 

workshop and performance at Capella Cultural Centre.

Emerald Pottery Club Inc 1901 ‘Garden Dwellers Sculptural’ workshop that included sculpting, 

mosaics and painting to create sculptural works.

Emerald Patchwork and Quilting 

Group (EPG) 

6020 A four-day workshop as part of the Arts Around August program with 

two patchwork and embroidery tutors: Robyn Jones and Linda Nicastri. 

Wellness Rocks workshops 5000 Blackwater artist Lisa Hodge worked with regional artists and the 

community to conduct a social, emotional well-being project of 

‘wellness rocks’ workshops.

Community, connectivity, 

confidence. 

38 900 Community, Connectivity, Confidence supported local artist 

development and mentoring across the region. This project involved 

mentored workshops of watercolour, photography, patchwork, pro-

create and writing across the region.

Jet James workshops 5666 Artist Jet James held workshops to explore collagraph print making, 

though print making and charcoal/watercolour drawing. 

Total 62 667

3332

Nogoa November 2019. Clean-up Australia Day March 2020.

Community grant recipients the Emerald Karting Club.
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Disaster management and preparedness
Prevention

The first stage of a comprehensive all hazards-focused 

disaster risk assessment began with hazard and vulnerability 

verification.

The Fitzroy catchment strategy to provide a coordinated 

approach to flood warning infrastructure management 

for the state government’s Resilient Queensland in Action 

program was developed alongside CQROC, the Bureau of 

Meteorology, Fitzroy Basin Association and SunWater. 

A bushfire risk management plan and operation cool burn 

strategy was developed by the Central Highlands Regional 

Area Fire Management Group.

Four hydraulic modelling projects were completed in line 

with the Australian Rainfall and Runoff 2019 guidelines.

Preparedness

The Local Disaster Management Plan was reviewed to 

bring it in line with the Emergency Management Assurance 

Framework, Standards and revised Guidelines.

Two community recovery workshops were held to assist with 

the redevelopment of the local disaster recovery plan.

The Sapphire and Graves Hill remote-activated early warning 

sirens for floods and bushfires were installed.

Staff attended 24 workshops and training sessions and 

conducted four exercises to test operational capability.

Response

There were five non-declared incidents that included two 

fire-weather events, two severe weather events and the 

COVID-19 pandemic response.

The LDMG and LDCC were activated at varying levels for 219 

days: severe fire events (62), severe weather events (3) and 

COVID-19 pandemic response operations (154).

Recovery

Three projects were funded by the state government’s 

Category C Central Queensland bushfires flexible 

funding grants: 

Rural Community Connect – Carnarvon and Arcadia ($42 560) 

Coordinating, facilitating, and evaluating community disaster 

education and preparedness workshops in rural localities of 

the Central Highlands’ local government area.

Rural Community Connect community led initiatives ($51 

968)

Mental health and well-being workshops to provide 

education and information, and an opportunity to learn new 

skills to assist with the recovery phase. 

Central Highlands Disaster Dashboard recovery portal ($19 525)

To update the current Central Highlands Regional Council 

Disaster Dashboard with a recovery portal.

How we involve our community 
Council engages with the Central Highlands’ community 

using a variety of methods. Established practices include 

meeting with community reference groups and holding 

community consultations, which provide opportunities for 

people to connect with councillors and council staff. 

Have Your Say, Central Highlands

During the last financial year, Have Your Say, Central 

Highlands had 4700 visits. A total of 448 people participated 

in the 75 surveys that were posted on the site. 

The Illegal Dumping and Littering in our Region project had 

the highest engagement with 337 respondents to the survey. 

It sought community involvement to locate hotspots for 

illegal dumping or littering. 

The council’s survey of the effects of COVID-19 on the Central 

Highlands community had the second highest engagement 

with 273 respondents. 

Seniors Week

Another successful Seniors Week celebration was hosted 

at the Bauhinia Memorial Hall in Springsure with 240 guests 

travelling across the region to attend this signature event 

in the calendar. The luncheon event featured a musical 

performance of Practically Perfect – The Music of Julie 

Andrews. 

Students from Springsure State School served tea, coffee 

and meals and their support to make the event run smoothly 

was greatly appreciated by council staff. 

Art Therapy and Narrative Therapy 

Workshops 

We partnered with Central Queensland University to deliver 

art therapy and narrative therapy workshops to promote 

resilience in Central Highlands’ communities. 

This pilot study, conducted by the university, explored how to 

increase insight of the participant’s personal resilience. There 

were 12 workshops, with four each in Emerald, Gemfields and 

Rolleston and 56 people attended. 

Councillor consultations

Councillor consultations and regional general council 

meetings are held in communities across our region every 

year. These meetings are an opportunity for residents to 

meet with the mayor and councillors, ask questions or raise 

concerns and receive updates on projects in their area.

In 2019-20, consultations were not held due to the local 

government elections and the COVID-19 pandemic response.

3534

Volunteer Week celebrations at Springsure. Hazard burning on the Gregory Highway near Emerald.
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Calendar of Events
July 2019 	� Many Mobs Festival 

	� NAIDOC week 

	� CHDC Paddock to Port Tour

	� CHDC Farm to Fine Dining Showcase

	� Blackwater Emergency Services Open Day

	� Duaringa Bullarama

	� CHDC Industry and Innovation Forum

	� Fun Flight 

	� National Tree Planting Day 

August 2019 	� Whole of Organisation Day (CHRC) 

	� Japanese exchange students visit 

	� Blackwater Art Society Art Exhibition 

	� CHRC Annual Art Awards 

	� National Tree Planting Day Springsure and 

Rolleston 

	� Jeans for Genes Day 

September 2019 	� Comet Rodeo Fundraiser for Camp Quality 

	� RUOK? Day

	� Capella Pioneer Village Heritage Day

	� Central Highlands Business Excellence 

Awards Gala Dinner

	� Citizenship Ceremony (Australian  

Citizenship Day) 

	� ABC Pool Party 

	� Springsure Races 

	� Clean up the World weekend 

	� Bauhinia Bicentennial Art Gallery 

	� National Police Remembrance Day 

	� Relay for Life BBQ 

October 2019 	� Safe Work Month at Blackwater Civic Centre 

	� Garage Sale Trail 

	� CHDC/CHRC Mayor’s Resources  

Roundtable 1

November 2019 	� Catholic Community Fair 

	� Remembrance Day 

	� Rotary Duck Dash 

	� CHDC AgTeCH19 Forum and Field Day

	� Nogoa November

	� Opening of Black Gully Waste-Water 

Treatment Plant 

	� CHDC Tourism and Events Forum and Tours 

December 2019 	� Light up your Town Christmas lights 

competition

	� Emerald Rotary Club Carols by Candlelight 

	� Lochington Cricket Day

	� Christmas markets

	� New Year’s Eve Races – Emerald

	� CHRC Length of Service Dinners 

	� White Gala Christmas Ball 

January 2020 	� Australia Day Events – Blackwater, Emerald, 

Rolleston, Tieri

	� Citizenship Ceremony

February 2020 	� Reasonable and Necessary Art Exhibition 

	� Basic skills photography on mobile phone at 

Springsure, Blackwater and Emerald 

	� Medway Creek Rail Disaster Exhibition 60th 

Anniversary morning tea

	� Grand opening of Green Space Drop-In at 

Emerald PCYC

	� CHDC/CHRC Mayor’s Resources  

Roundtable II

March 2020 	� Clean Up Australia Day in Emerald 

	� CHDC Economic Futures Forum

	� Local Government Elections

April 2020 	� ANZAC Day 	� Easter Sunflower house decoration

May 2020 	� Online Exhibition: Art from the Central Highlands 

June 2020 	� Online Regional Show

3736

Emerald State School Year 2 students enjoy an excursion to the water treatment plant at Emerald. Duaringa Library Officer Paese Sagafili.
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Our Council

Early morning reflections on the water at the Emerald Botanic Gardens.
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HOW COUNCIL WORKS
The community elects the councillors and mayor 

and provides input through the community plan, 

consultations and community reference groups to 

determine the region’s priorities.

Our standing 

committees consider 

the strategic direction 

for the region and make 

recommendations to 

council in relation to specific 

operational areas.

The Central Highlands Development 

Corporation manages the economic and 

tourism facets of the local government area. Board 

members comprise of councillors and the CEO.

The Audit Committee provides an independent 

external review of our governance and internal 

control framework.

Council establishes 

operational and 

strategic priorities that 

align with the community 

plan, corporate plan and 

operational plan.

The Australian and Queensland 

Governments provide 

authority to council under 

the Local Government 

Act 2009 and endow 

funding for various 

programs.

Governance Principles

The chief executive officer and executive 

leadership team. drive the business of council and 

offer councillors advice.

OUR organisation

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Scott Mason

SAFETY AND WELLNESS

GENERAL MANAGER 
INFRASTRUCTURE 

AND UTILITIES

Gerhard Joubert

GENERAL MANAGER 

CORPORATE SERVICES

Margaret Gatt

	� Payroll

	� People and culture

	� Recruitment

	� Learning and 
development

	� Information 
technology

	� Financial services

	� Governance

	� Procurement and 
stores

	� Information and 
records management

	� Asset management

	� Risk management

	� Business 
transformation

	� Facilities management

GENERAL MANAGER 
CUSTOMER AND 

COMMERCIAL 
SERVICES

Michelle Webster

	� Customer service and 
call centre

	�  Emerald Saleyards

	�  Emerald Airport

	�  Property Services

GENERAL MANAGER 
COMMUNITIES

Daniel Fletcher 

 13/2/17 – 2/8/19

John McDougall 

9/12/19 

	� Public assets and 
facilities

	�  Libraries

	� Community planning 
and development

	� Arts and cultural 
services

	� Sport and recreational 
engagement

	� Youth and indigenous 
development

	� Parks and recreational 
services

	� Sport and recreational 
facilities

	� Cemeteries

	� Town planning

	� Development 
assessment

	� Strategic land use and 
planning

	� Building and 
plumbing

	� Ranger services

	� Environmental health

	� Waste management

	� Corporate 
communications and 
events

	� Advocacy

	� Project development 
and contract delivery

	� Infrastructure services

	� Water utilities

	� Disaster management

	� Emergency services

	� Flood mitigation 
project

	� Quarries/borrow pits
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A-Z of services

	� Advocacy

	� Art galleries

	� Cemeteries

	� Community consultation

	� Community grants

	� Communications – media, public relations and social 

media

	� Community housing

	� Culture – citizenship, sister city relations, heritage and 

history

	� Customer service

	� Disaster management and planning

	� Economic development – business support

	� Emerald Airport and landing areas

	� Emerald Saleyards

	� Environmental management – feral animal control, 

weeds, flying foxes, mosquitoes, magpies

	� Events – Australia Day, ANZAC celebrations, 

commemorative and celebratory events

	� Flood mitigation planning

	� Food and personal appearance (hairdressers, tattooists, 

beauty salons etc.) compliance and registration

	� Indigenous cultural support

	� Library services

	� Major economic project development

	� Park and community hall bookings

	� Parks and gardens maintenance

	� Pest and weed control

	� Planning and building 

	� Playgrounds maintenance and building

	� Plumbing inspections

	� Quarry

	� Ranger services – animal management, livestock control, 

pounds

	� Roads, bridges, culverts and footpaths

	� Sporting and recreation areas – planning and 

maintenance

	� Sporting and active recreation club support

	� Stock route management 

	� Street lighting and signage

	� Streetscape and tree management

	� Swimming pools

	� Swimming pool fence safety compliance

	� Waste and recycling services

	� Water and wastewater management

	� Workplace health and safety

	� Youth services

Our services
We offer services to around 29 000 people 

and 15 000 rateable properties in an area of 

nearly 60 000 square kilometres. 

We employ around 480 staff to administer 

in excess of $1.9 billion in assets, including 

ten library branches, six aquatic centres and 

seven customer service centres. 

We maintain 4632 kilometres of roads and 

numerous parks and gardens, including the 

impressive botanic gardens in Emerald, the 

linear parkland in Capella and the Japanese 

Gardens in Blackwater.

Enjoying the Nogoa November festivities.

Ponciana trees add colour to the region in early summer.
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Capital and Operating Grants Received
Council receives a number of grants each year from the state and federal governments to enable it to deliver many programs, projects and services to the community.

Capital and Operating Grants received 2019-2020

Project title Funding program Funding department Amount $

Capital grants:

Sapphire Early Warning Sirens Natural Disaster Resilience Program Queensland Reconstruction Authority  2,573.19 

Community Resilience Education and Emergency Volunteer 

Recruitment Trailer

Natural Disaster Resilience Program Queensland Reconstruction Authority  3,750.00 

Capella Aquatic Centre Playground Area Shade Structure Stronger Communities Programme Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development and Communications  10,000.00 

Gemfields Playgroup Upgrade of Disability Toilet Amenities Stronger Communities Programme Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development and Communications  10,000.00 

Rolleston Airstrip Repairs and Upgrade Remote Airstrip Upgrade Program Department of Industry, Innovation and Science  10,761.00 

Springsure Airstrip Repairs and Upgrade Remote Airstrip Upgrade Program Department of Industry, Innovation and Science  12,278.00 

Nogoa River Recreational Track Building Better Regions Fund Department of Industry, Innovation and Science  75,019.00 

Resource Recovery Preparation Local Government Levy Ready Program Department of Local Government Racing and Multicultural Affairs  81,619.84 

Emerald Saleyard Upgrades Building Better Regions Fund Department of Industry, Innovation and Science  139,539.00 

Opal Street & Rifle Range Road Shared path Cycling Infrastructure Grant Department of Transport and Main Roads  239,188.00 

Emerald Botanical Gardens (West) Upgrade Local Government Grants and Subsidies Program Department of Local Government, Racing and Multicultural Affairs  240,598.74 

Works for Queensland 2017-19 Works for Queensland Department of Local Government, Racing and Multicultural Affairs  255,000.00 

Emerald Airport General Aviation Upgrade Building Our Regions Department of State Development, Manufacturing, Infrastructure and Planning  303,966.00 

Emerald Airport Screening Equipment Replacement Regional Airport Security Screening Fund Department of Industry, Innovation and Science  405,000.00 

Black Gully Waste Water Treatment Plant Upgrade Building Our Regions Department of State Development, Manufacturing, Infrastructure and Planning  459,029.41 

Construct a New Skate Park and Multi-Purpose Precinct in 

Blackwater

Active Community Infrastructure Department of Housing and Public Works  750,000.00 

Physical Asset Condition Assessment Local Government Grants and Subsidies Program Department of Local Government, Racing and Multicultural Affairs  999,999.60 

Road Transport Infrastructure Development Project Transport Infrastructure Development Scheme Department of Transport and Main Roads  1,238,417.14 

Emerald Airport General Aviation Upgrade Building Better Regions Fund Department of Industry, Innovation and Science  1,416,217.00 

Roads Construction Upgrade Roads To Recovery Program Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development and Communications  1,703,101.00 

Emerald Airport Runway Upgrade Building Our Regions Department of State Development, Manufacturing, Infrastructure and Planning  1,792,489.00 

Natural Disaster Relief and Recovery Arrangements Natural Disaster Relief and Recovery Arrangements Queensland Reconstruction Authority  2,234,455.29 

Total capital grants  12,383,001.21 
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Capital and Operating Grants received 2019-2020

Project title Funding program Funding department Amount $

Operating grants:

First Five Forever Micro Grant - Scan and Cut Equipment First Five Forever Micro Grant - Scan and Cut Equipment State Library of Queensland  2,600.00 

Disability Action Week Grant Disability Action Week Department of Communities, Disability Services and Seniors  3,000.00 

First Five Forever Micro Grant - Strategic Priorities Strategic Priorities Micro Grant State Library of Queensland  3,000.00 

Installation of Humidity and Temperature Sensors Central Queensland Bushfire Department of Communities, Disability Services and Seniors  7,000.00 

Yamala Enterprise Planning Area Innovation and Improvement Fund Department of State Development, Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning  8,075.21 

Get Ready Queensland Get Ready Queensland Queensland Reconstruction Authority  16,480.00 

Central Highlands Disaster Dashboard Central Queensland Bushfire Department of Communities, Disability Services and Seniors  17,572.00 

Bluff Flood Mitigation Study Natural Disaster Resilience Program Queensland Reconstruction Authority  18,000.00 

Annual State Emergency Service State Emergency Service Support Grant Queensland Fire and Emergency Services  20,300.00 

Isaac River Regional Flood Model Natural Disaster Resilience Program Queensland Reconstruction Authority  28,008.50 

First Five Forever Literacy Allocation First Five Forever Literacy State Library of Queensland  29,041.96 

Regional Arts Development Fund Regional Arts Development Fund Department of Environment and Science  36,000.00 

Rural Community Connect - Carnarvon and Arcadia Central Queensland Bushfire Department of Communities, Disability Services and Seniors  38,304.00 

Community Led Initiatives Central Queensland Bushfire Department of Communities, Disability Services and Seniors  44,971.00 

Construct New Dam at Abor Water Facility QLD Stock Route Network Department of Natural Resources, Mines and Energy  47,000.00 

Illegal Dumping Prevention and Intervention Project Illegal Dumping Hotspot Department of Environment and Science  48,000.00 

Regional Recycling Transport Assistance Regional Recycling Transport Assistance Department of Environment and Science  52,093.20 

Skilling Queensland for Work Skilling Queenslanders for Work - First Start Program Department of Education, Small Business and Training  133,500.00 

Public Library Grant Public Library Grant State Library of Queensland  158,689.00 

Yamala Rail Siding Building Our Regions Department of State Development, Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning  900,000.00 

CQ Intermodal Industrial Regional Jobs and Investment Packages Department of Industry, Innovation and Science  1,145,381.00 

Roadworks Financial Assistance Grant Financial Assistance Grant Department of Local Government Racing and Multicultural Affairs  3,194,427.00 

Financial Assistance Grant Financial Assistance Grant Department of Local Government Racing and Multicultural Affairs  6,774,159.00 

Total operating grants  12,725,601.87 

GRAND TOTAL GRANTS RECEIVED IN 2019-2020  25,108,603.08 
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Our Organisation

A LEADING CULTURE LIVING OUR VALUES

A GREAT PLACE TO WORK

centralhighlands.qld.gov.au

Council staff support R U OK? Day.
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Central Highlands Regional Council is one of 

the largest employers in the region. Our people 

are our priority and we strive to be an employer 

of choice. We support their endeavours 

by providing a safe, inclusive, and healthy 

workplace where personal development, 

growth and innovation are fostered and 

rewarded.

Service areas

Summary of key activities
	� Provide excellent customer service to ensure 

professional service delivery.

	� Continuously advance work practices and 

business systems to ensure a skilled, motivated 

and community-focused workforce.

	� Create and sustain a positive and future-

focused organisational culture that 

demonstrates and supports council’s values.

	� Sustain a productive, efficient and safe 

workforce that is responsive to council and 

community needs.

A leading culture

We continue to build a workplace where people are 

engaged and supported to pursue excellence in all they do; 

where collaboration, creativity and innovation form the basis 

of how we work to deliver services to our community and 

achieve the corporate goals and priority outcomes.

The safety and wellbeing of everyone in our workplaces 

is a priority, as well as ensuring our people have every 

opportunity to, and are supported to achieve, high levels of 

job satisfaction and engagement.

A high-performing customer-focused organisation marked 

by great people, good governance and strong leadership is 

the framework to form a positive culture in our organisation. 

The values also inform our culture and we are working hard 

to become a leader in workplace culture as we continue with 

transformational change. 

Living our values

To implement and drive council’s vision, mission and 

values and support the delivery of the priorities of the 

corporate plan, the people and culture team is coordinating 

organisational-wide learning and development activities that 

improve employees’ capabilities. 

A great place to work.

Programs in health and safety, career development, diversity, 

work flexibility, family friendly, and learning and development 

have been promoted to maintain a positive workforce image 

and engender a supportive and productive workforce. 

Continuous improvement culture

We offer a range of professional development and learning 

opportunities to ensure staff have the skills and knowledge 

to deliver the highest quality services to our community 

whilst setting our highest priority, the safety and wellbeing of 

our people. 

The opportunity to develop our workforce from the 

ground up is part of building the capability and capacity 

for succession planning and a sustainable future. It also 

supports service excellence along with our organisational 

values and commitment to job satisfaction. 

CUSTOMER SERVICE AND CALL CENTRE

RECRUITMENT

LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT

SAFETY AND WELLNESS

PAYROLL PEOPLE AND CULTURE

Creating a future-focused culture 

We understand that our people are our greatest asset 

and, with a team of empowered and skilled workers that 

demonstrate a future-focused culture, we can continue to 

provide the highest quality services to our community. 

We regularly run organisation-wide surveys to measure 

employee engagement, to strengthen the dialogue between 

employees and senior management, and to support an open 

mindset of collaboration.

We ‘Grow Our Own’ – almost from the inside out. Starting 

with entry level positions and developing opportunities to 

gain experience, education and exposure to different and 

better ways of working, all while developing and building the 

capability of individuals and the capacity of the organisation. 

Highlights of 2019-20
Customer Service
	� Online portal for customers to log a service request 

directly into the corporate software system. 

	� Customer satisfaction survey result of 97% satisfaction 

with service. 

	� Voice of the Customer survey overall satisfaction  

rating of 5.4, (benchmark 5.8) overall ease rating of 5.3  

(benchmark 5.8).

	� Online animal registration now available via the website.

	� Mail opening and enquires email triage transitioned 

to customer service to improve responsiveness to 

customers. 

People and Culture

TechnologyOne Go Live

Moving into the new TechnologyOne OneCouncil system 

was a major highlight. The new system has given our people 

direct access to their own data, moved internal employees 

to an online timesheets and leave applications, streamlined 

work processes and enabled a move from paper-based to 

electronic forms and processing.

Employee Engagement Pulse Survey 

Conducting a full employee engagement survey and several 

smaller pulse surveys to listen to employees, set priority 

action areas, and increase employee engagement and job 

satisfaction.

Growth Program Launch 

The Growth program supports council employees to 

reach their full potential, whether working as an individual 

contributor or leading a team. The Growth program provides 

employees with the tools to build confidence, capabilities 

and grow careers. Employee pathways through the program 

are designed with each employee’s unique skills, experience 

and attributes in mind. 

Queensland Training Awards

For the fourth year running, Central Highlands Regional 

Council was represented at the prestigious Queensland 

Training Awards. A school-based trainee hosted by council 

while undertaking a Certificate III in Business Administration 

was recognised as a state finalist in the category of ‘school-

based apprentice or trainee of the year’.

Australasian Management Challenge

This year, council had two teams compete in the Local 

Government Professionals ‘Australasian Management 

Challenge’. Modelling council values, each team displayed 

commitment and teamwork and completed each task to a 

very high standard. 

People and culture team members Tanya Rouse and Tash Todd at 
the Turn on TechnologyOne thank-you celebration.
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Challenges of 2019-20
Customer Service

The new corporate software solution had an impact on the 

responsiveness and performance against our customer 

service standard because it took time for the business to 

undertake training and become familiar with the new system. 

Some improvements were implemented post system go-live 

to support business areas deliver timely and efficient service. 

People and Culture

The TechnologyOne Go Live was an immense challenge 

over two years. It caused high levels of stress, but the team 

worked together to support one another and ensure the 

transition was smooth.

Recruiting only high-risk roles during the COVID-19 

pandemic response was difficult. Moving the recruitment 

process online and using technology to the best of its ability 

was testing but revealed different ways of working and 

process changes that will be implemented in the future.

Outlook for 2020-21
Customer Service 

Completion of year-two actions from the Customer Service 

Strategy and Action Plan that include: 

	� The provision of online services and release of a 

registered user portal. 

	� Improvements to the website so customers can conduct 

business with council 24/7.

	� Expanding our contact channels to include webchat 

during business hours.

People and Culture 

The people and culture team has an ambitious outlook 

for the next twelve months with the delivery of many key 

initiatives of the People Strategy 2019 – 2022.

A major initiative is the delivery of a foundation skills program 

to employees across the region. 

Other key initiatives include:

	� Launch of the inaugural diversity and inclusion steering 

group.

	� Leadership essentials program.

	� Bi-annual employee engagement pulse surveys.

	� Introduction of multi-phased onboarding and exit surveys. 

	� A wholistic review of the recruitment and onboarding 

process. 

Statistics and trends 
Total workforce

Year 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Internal

External

226

234

223

225

221

197

241

188

241

188

Total 460 448 418 429 429

Recruitment

Year 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Total 106 102 79 103 110

Gender Balance

Year 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Male

Female

309 (68%)

160 (31%)

293 (65%)

164 (35%)

253 (61%)

165 (39%)

247 (57%)

182 (42%)

247 (58%)

182 (42%)

Terminations

Year 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Total 86 108 121 105 96

Employee turnover

Year 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

% 19 23 19 20 19

Age Demographics 

Age Group 15-24 25-35 36-45 46-55 56-65 65+

2016-17 39 98 88 115 100 8

2017-18 36 83 86 99 108 6

2018-19 33 91 95 93 110 7

2019-20 35 92 90 89 115 8

Aging Workforce Trend 56 years & over

Year 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Total 103 98 108 114 117 123

Trainees Toby Greenbury (left) and William De Vreede (right).
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I have worked in local government for 27 years. My 

first role was a junior administration officer and over 

time I moved into finance and being an executive 

assistant before the role I’m currently in.

Completing a Certificate III in Business 

Administration gave me the knowledge to use 

computers after a period of being out of the 

workforce. This really helped me return to full-time 

work with council. Having the opportunity to also do 

on-the-job training over the years has also helped.

I supervise customer service staff and the 

operation of the Capella administration office and 

the Tieri transaction centre. A typical day can vary, 

but usually includes dealing with enquiries about 

rates, animals, hire of facilities, and cemeteries; 

giving local information; managing council records; 

and arranging consultation between council and 

the community.

Being involved with the change management 

team in preparation for the change-over to the 

new corporate software system was a highlight 

for me this year because I learnt so much about 

managing significant change in a large and diverse 

organisation. 

The year’s personal challenge has been working 

limited hours and trying to become familiar with all 

aspects of the new system as I navigate day-to-

day tasks. 

Having wonderful, helpful and knowledgeable 

staff in the customer service team and my own 

local team has been invaluable during the last 

12 months. 

Staff profile Fiona Eyles, Coordinator Area Office Capella and Tieri

Customer requests by category 
Category 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Animals and local laws 2496 2216 2019 1832 1343

Assets and facilities 729 621 592 661 225

Development compliance 1276 811 736 716 1261

Health and environment 246 221 759 273 300

Parks and recreation 721 696 788 616 447

Rates 990 807 775 1563 2793

Roads 1051 1120 1184 1214 862

Sewerage 169 155 184 160 158

Waste management 530 489 548 558 613

Water 2502 2285 2481 2309 1970

Fleet 3 7 4 0 2

TOTAL 10 713 9428 10 070 9906 9974

Customer Experience Officer Meianee Gangadoo.
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At Central Highlands Regional Council, we have a 

leadership development program like no other!  

Continuous improvement for the business and 

the development of our people are important, 

particularly in a rapidly evolving cultural, business 

and political environment. We are committed to 

enabling our people with the skills they need now 

and into the future.  

The project began with the people and culture 

team identifying aspects of skill development 

that could link with a capability framework for 

responsible civic leadership.  

This developed into a leadership framework that 

defines proactivity and advance decision-making 

as an influence for high performance. 

The framework, branded as Growth is underpinned 

by council’s strategic plans, capability, and value-

based culture. Capability is the built-in council 

process, knowledge, behaviours, role-based skills 

and personal attributes required by employees to 

deliver results.  

Growth is intended to be a foundation to 

drive initiatives that support and guide talent 

management including workforce planning, 

leadership capability assessments, performance 

management, succession planning, leadership 

roadmap, and recruitment and selection pathways.  

Employees participating in the Growth leadership 

and compliance program receive holistic 

360-degree learning designed with their unique 

skills, experience and attributes in mind and 

focused on how local government complements 

community support. 

The program uses a proven blended 70:20:10 

on-the-job: feedback: formal learning approach 

to engage leaders in developmental assignments, 

challenges and peer learning.   

Once completed, they will benefit from support 

to engage in performance discussions; identifying 

learning needs, self-reflection techniques, and 

career planning. 

Whether employed as an individual contributor or 

leading a team, Growth provides employees with 

the tools to build confidence and capability; grow 

their career; reach their full potential and become 

the best leaders – in and out of the workplace.  

Case Study Growth: our journey to connect, learn and reach  

our full potential.

Stringing the new lighting on Egerton Street in Emerald.
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Performance Report – Key Priority Area 6 – our organisation
Key Performance Indicators

Living our values

	� Achieve greater than 80% 

community customer service 

satisfaction.

	� Provide monthly customer service 

report to council.

Continuous improvement 

culture

	� Implement OneCouncil enterprise 

business system phase one.

	� Review and adopt workforce 

planning strategy.

	� Implement 95% of people and 

culture strategy action plans.

	� Achieve 90% leadership 

development program 

attendance.

	� Reduce employee turnover rate 

through attraction and retention 

initiatives.

	� Conduct regular employee pulse 

surveys.

One team approach

	� Provide annual review of 

enterprise risk management 

report to audit committee.

	� Develop a crisis management 

plan.

	� Conduct elected member 

inductions.

	� Encourage elected member 

professional development.

Working safely

	� Provide bimonthly workplace 

health and safety report to 

council.

Living our values

	� Complete 100% of year one 

customer service action plan 

initiatives.

One Team Approach

	� Provide risk register quarterly 

report to audit committee.

	� Deliver internal audit plan.

	� Achieve 100% enforceable 

undertaking compliance.

	� Implement digital safety 

management system.

	� Provide quarterly enterprise risk 

management reports to audit 

committee.

	� Complete 100% of year one 

customer service action plan 

initiatives.

	� Review and adopt workforce 

planning strategy.

	� Implement 95% of human 

resources strategy action plans.

	� Achieve 90% leadership 

development program 

attendance.

	� Reduce staff turnover rate through 

attraction and retention initiatives.

	� Provide risk register quarterly 

report to audit committee.

	� Deliver internal audit plan.

Nil

Health and safety report
Our safety values

	� All incidents are preventable.

	� Everyone has a right to come to work and do their jobs 

effectively and go home safely.

	� Every person has the authority to stop the job.

	� No job is more important than my ‘Top 4’.

	� I am responsible for safety.

	� I will not walk past an unsafe act or condition.

The safety and wellness team’s focus is to facilitate everyone 

at council to start safe, work safe and go home safe. It 

achieves this though consultation and engagement with all 

areas of council.

The outcome is to sustain a productive, efficient 

and safe workforce that is responsive to council and 

community needs. 

There were 101 work area inspections carried out across the 

region this year.

Bringing the enforceable undertaking activities to its 

conclusion is the focus for the next year as council 

progresses opportunities to make council a safe workplace 

for everyone.

Lost time injury statistics

A review of lost time injury lagging indicators measured 

safety performance against past incident rates and 

benchmarked against other regional councils. Lagging 

indicators are traditional safety metrics used to indicate 

progress towards compliance of safety rules and provide 

information on how many people were injured and the 

severity of injury. 

This council’s lost time injury trends for 2019-20 are 

comparable to other councils of a similar size when 

benchmarked against Local Government Workcare (LGW) 

group average. Lost time injury frequency rates and lost time 

injury incident rates have shown a consistent downward 

trend since 2018 with a 20% improvement in both areas this 

financial year. 

The lost time injury duration rate has performed significantly 

better this financial year with a 74% reduction. 

Lost time injury statistics

Enforceable Undertaking

In January 2018, council agreed to 51 deliverables in the 

enforceable undertaking throughout the three-year term. 

Compliance with the enforceable undertaking monitoring 

plan and promoting a positive safety culture is on track with 

only four actions remaining to close the monitoring plan. 

Strengthening safety leadership is assisting to boost 

safety performance, safety culture and engagement in 

safety initiatives. Employees were provided opportunities 

to undertake training to upskill their health and safety 

capabilities. 

Since the commencement of the enforceable undertaking, 

757 employees have attended training courses that included: 

Switch on Safety, Certificate IV in Workplace Health and 

Safety, supervisor leadership skillset, authority to work, risk 

management, spinal injury and prevention awareness.

NOT PROCEEDINGCARRIED OVER/NOT ACHIEVED AFFECTED BY COVID RESPONSECOMPLETED
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Our Leaders

The new council following the 2020 council elections.
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Kerry Hayes
MAYOR

Cr Kerry Hayes served as a councillor 

on the Emerald Shire Council from 

1997 – 2008 and then on the Central 

Highlands Regional Council from 2008 

– 2012. He was elected mayor in 2016 

and re-elected unopposed in 2020.

Cr Hayes has owned and operated the 

Emerald Land and Cattle Company for 

just over 30 years, driving his desire 

to promote and enhance the Central 

Highlands to its full potential.

He has contributed to many 

committees and advisory groups over 

his career including saleyards boards, 

vegetation management, town and 

disaster recovery groups.

He is currently chair of the Central 

Highlands Development Corporation, 

the Central Highlands Accelerate 

Agriculture Advisory Group, Central 

Highlands (Qld) Housing Company, 

the Local Disaster Management Group 

and the Central Queensland Regional 

Organisation of Councils. 

Cr Hayes is also a representative on 

the Local Government Association of 

Queensland Economic Development 

Advisory Group.

E: mayor@chrc.qld.gov.au

P: 0438 828 335

Christine Rolfe
DEPUTY MAYOR

Cr Christine Rolfe is serving her second 

term with council and is thrilled to hold 

the position of deputy mayor.

A business owner, Christine is director 

of Birrong Grazing Company. She is 

a member of the Australian Institute 

of Company Directors (AICD) and 

holds qualifications in rural business 

management and agriculture.

Cr Rolfe is passionate about making 

a positive difference to the region, in 

particular, exploring opportunities for 

economic growth.

Her achievements include serving 

as vice-president/treasurer of 

state farming organisation AgForce 

Queensland and vice-president of the 

National Farmers Federation. 

E: crolfe@chrc.qld.gov.au 

P: 0438 444 618

Paul Bell AM 
2008 - 2020

Paul Bell had more than 35 

years continuous service to local 

government, including nine years 

as mayor, four as the president of 

the ALGA and eight as president of 

the QLGA. 

Local government and local 

communities have been a passion and 

a major part of his life. 

Paul Bell did not stand for re-election 

in 2020.

Charlie Brimblecombe

Cr Charlie Brimblecombe is serving his 

third term with council.

An irrigation, dry land and grazing 

farmer, Charlie has called the Central 

Highlands home for more than 40 years.

He serves as a volunteer ambulance 

driver and is a first officer with 

Boolburra Rural Fire Brigade and a 

member of the Duaringa SES. He 

is also instructor and president for 

Traditional Shotokan Karate Federation 

Rockhampton and vice-president of 

Traditional Shotokan Karate Federation 

Queensland.

Cr Brimblecombe is a member of 

the Local Government Water and 

Sewerage Committee.

He is proud of his community 

engagement contribution, particularly 

in the smaller communities, and has 

a strong interest in efficient, strategic 

asset management.

E: cbrimblecombe@chrc.qld.gov.au

P: 0417 758 819

Joseph Burns

Cr Joseph Burns is serving his first term 

with council. 

Born and raised in Emerald, Joseph has 

lived in the region for 35 years.

He works in a supervisory/trainer 

assessor role for Wolff Mining at 

Coronado Curragh Mine, Blackwater. 

Career highlights include studying law 

at James Cook University, Supervisor 

of Dozer Push Operations, and being 

one of the first in Australia to learn 

and operate the Caterpillar Semi-

Autonomous Tracked Systems (dozers).

Joseph currently volunteers for the 

St. Patrick’s Parish Council in Emerald; 

is chair of the Emerald Saleyards 

Coordination Committee; and sits 

on the Emerald Airport Advisory 

Committee, the Central Highlands 

Community Grants Panel, and the 

Central Highlands Resource Use 

Planning Project (CHRRUP).

E: jburns@chrc.qld.gov.au
P: 0419 017 968

Anne Carpenter

Cr Anne Carpenter is humbled to join 

council for her first term. She is looking 

forward to ensuring the community is 

well informed, getting out and listening 

to people, and responding to their 

concerns.

Having always lived in the Central 

Highlands, she currently works for 

Elders Rural Services; a job she is 

passionate about.

Cr Carpenter is a volunteer for the 

Springsure Working Horse Association 

and the Anglican Parish of Springsure 

and the Springsure Show.

She has served on the Game Plan 

Advisory Committee and is proud to be 

successfully negotiating for day care 

in Springsure. Cr Carpenter has also 

worked on organising committees for 

six campdraft national finals.

E: acarpenter@chrc.qld.gov.au
P: 0418 870 985

Councillors and mayor
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Natalie Curtis

Cr Natalie Curtis is delighted to be 

serving her first term with council.

She has lived in the Central Highlands 

region for 24 years and keen to use 

her expertise to improve the region’s 

liveability.

Cr Curtis runs a real estate business. 

She loves what she does and rates 

starting her own business and working 

for herself as a career highlight.

She has a Certificate IV in Real Estate 

and a Certificate IV in Agricultural 

Production.

Cr Curtis enjoys volunteering for 

the Queensland Country Women’s 

Association Capella Branch.

E: ncurtis@chrc.qld.gov.au

P: 0418 431 727

Megan Daniels

Cr Megan Daniels is serving her second 

term with council.

She owns a cattle grazing business at 

Comet and is a long-term resident of 

the Central Highlands region. An active 

volunteer, she donates her time and 

expertise to many organisations.

She holds a Bachelor of Business 

– Agriculture and is a graduate of 

the Australian Institute of Company 

Directors' company directors' course.

Cr Daniels is currently deputy-

chairperson of Central Highlands Social 

Services Ltd, deputy-chairperson 

of Emerald and District Social 

Development Association (Emerald 

Neighbourhood Centre), deputy-

chairperson of Friends of Emerald, 

Rural and Remote Communities Inc. 

(Access Accommodation), director 

of Central Highlands Development 

Corporation Ltd., and director of Central 

Highlands (Qld) Housing Company Ltd.

E: mdaniels@chrc.qld.gov.au

P: 0436 629 053

Gail Godwin-Smith

DEPUTY MAYOR 2012-2020

Gail Godwin-Smith and her family 

operate beef and grain properties in 

the Springsure, Rolleston and Bauhinia 

Downs areas.

A graduate of the Australian Institute 

of Company Directors, Gail chaired 

council’s Finance and Infrastructure 

Standing Committee, and held several 

key positions on local boards and 

advisory committees. 

Gail Godwin-Smith did not stand for re-

election in 2020. 

Janice Moriarty

Councillor Janice Moriarty is serving her 

first term with council.

She has lived in the region for almost 

28 years and runs a small community/

social development and research 

consultant business.

Her career highlights include 

working at Central Queensland 

University Emerald, CHDC, the former 

Department of State Development, 

Trade and Innovation and Central 

Highlands Regional Council.

She has a Bachelor of Arts and Master 

of Business Administration.

Cr Moriarty is an Associate Fellow of 

the Institute of Managers and Leaders’, 

a Graduate member of the Australian 

Institute of Company Directors (AICD), 

and has worked with many volunteers 

over the years in sporting, school, 

church and community groups.

E: j.moriarty@chrc.qld.gov.au

P: 0418 145 317

Alan McIndoe

2016–2020

Alan McIndoe represented both 

Queensland and Australia in rugby 

league. He was elected as a first-time 

councillor in 2016. He is a project 

manager, a small family business 

owner, an experienced life coach, and 

is well connected to the local rugby 

league community. 

Alan McIndoe was not re-elected as a 

councillor in 2020.

Gail Nixon

2008–2020

Gail Nixon spent more than 30 years 

in local government; 19 years with 

the Bauhinia Shire Council, twelve as 

mayor, and nine with Central Highlands 

Regional Council. 

A Springsure local, Gail helps manage 

her family’s small transport and fuel 

business. 

Cr Nixon did not stand for re-election 

in 2020. 

 Gai Sypher

Cr Gai Sypher is serving her third term 

with council.

She is passionate about the Central 

Highlands region, which she has 

called home for more than 50 years 

and is proud of the work she has done 

to forge the concept of Community 

Reference Groups in the region.

In partnership with her husband,  

Cr Sypher manages a grazing property 

and transport business. She previously 

enjoyed an 18-year career with Central 

Queensland University as an executive 

manager - an achievement she rates as 

a career highlight.

She has a Bachelor of Arts and Masters 

of Management (HR).

Cr Sypher has volunteered with the 

Central Highlands Science Centre for 

20 years and is also a volunteer with 

Yumba Bimbi.

E: gsypher@chrc.qld.gov.au 

P: 0499 322 121
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Councillors undertaking professional development.

Councillor remuneration (LGR 2012 S186)

COUNCILLOR REMUNERATION 2019-20

Name of Councillor Allowances $ Superannuation $ Total Remuneration $

Mayor Kerry Hayes 128,471.71 15,416.72 143,888.43

Cr. Christine Rolfe 69,992.13  8,399.07 78,391.20

Cr. Paul Bell 58,377.68  7,005.35 65,383.03

Cr. Joseph Burns 9,872.17  1,184.66 11,056.83

Cr. Charles Brimblecombe 68,249.85  8,190.01 76,439.86

Cr. Anne Carpenter 9,872.17  1,184.66 11,056.83

Cr. Natalie Curtis 9,872.17  1,184.66 11,056.83

Cr. Megan Daniels 68,249.85  8,190.01 76,439.86

Cr. Gail Godwin-Smith 68,680.37  8,241.56 76,921.93

Cr. Alan McIndoe 58,377.68  7,005.35 65,383.03

Cr. Gail Nixon 9,872.17  1,184.66 11,056.83

Cr. Christine Rolfe 58,377.68  7,005.35 65,383.03

Cr Gai Sypher 68,249.85  8,190.01 76,439.86

686,515.49 82,382.07 768,897.56

Councillor other expenses (LGR 2012 S186)

  OTHER COUNCILLOR EXPENSES Council Motor Vehicle

Name of Councillor Travel & 
Accommodation & 

Meal Costs (includes 
deputations and 

hospitality) $

Seminar, 
Conference 

& Course 
Fees $

Uniforms 
& personal 
protective 

equipment

Mobile 
Devices 
& Phone 

Charges $

Total Other 
Expenses $

Pool vehicle 
access 

available

Vehicle 
allocated 

for 
exclusive 

use

Mayor Kerry Hayes 8,991.63 1,498.20 - 878.44 11,368.27 yes

Cr. Christine Rolfe 5,316.62 3,667.09 - 647.60 9,631.31 yes

Cr. Paul Bell - 59.09 - 170.25 229.34 yes

Cr. Joseph Burns - - 24.00 - 24.00 yes

Cr. Charles Brimblecombe 2,293.06 1,659.10 - 186.43 4,138.59 yes

Cr. Anne Carpenter - - 149.00 - 149.00 yes

Cr. Natalie Curtis - - 24.00 - - yes

Cr. Megan Daniels 5,185.45 568.18 - 646.24 6,399.87 yes*

Cr. Gail Godwin-Smith 3,264.10 537.26 - 366.74 3,264.10 yes

Cr. Alan McIndoe 798.82 642.30 - 174.62 798.82 yes

Cr. Gail Nixon - - 149.45 - - yes

Cr. Christine Rolfe 2,224.57 1,868.19 - 228.05 2,224.57 yes

Cr Gai Sypher 1,317.35 59.09 - 200.51 1,317.35 yes

29,391.60 10,558.50 346.45 3,498.99 43,795.43

Standing Committee Representatives (until 30 March 2020)

FINANCE AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE

	� Mayor Kerry Hayes

	� Cr Gail Godwin-Smith

	� Cr Charles Brimblecombe

	� Cr Megan Daniels

	� Cr Christine Rolfe

	� Cr Gail Nixon

LEADERSHIP AND 
GOVERNANCE

	� Mayor Kerry Hayes

	� Cr Charlie Brimblecombe

	� Cr Gai Sypher

	� Cr Paul Bell

	� Cr Gail Nixon

	� Cr Christine Rolfe

COMMUNITIES 	� Mayor Kerry Hayes

	� Cr Charles Brimblecombe

	� Cr Gail Godwin-Smith

	� Cr Megan Daniels

	� Cr Alan McIndoe

Councillor meeting attendance 2019-20 (S186C)

Standing Committee General Meeting

Mayor Cr Kerry Hayes 24 24

Cr Gail Godwin-Smith (deputy mayor) 21 17

Cr Paul Bell 9 16

Cr Charles Brimblecombe 27 24

Cr Joseph Burns N/A* 6

Cr Anne Carpenter N/A* 6

Cr Natalie Curtis N/A* 6

Cr Megan Daniels 20 24

Cr Alan McIndoe 8 17

Cr Janice Moriarty N/A* 6

Cr Gail Nixon 22 17

Cr Christine Rolfe 18 21

Cr Gai Sypher 16 22

N/A* These councillors were elected in March 2020 and standing committees were disbanded.

*Cr Daniels was allocated a car for exclusive use in April 2020.
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Representing our region
It is important for the council to be represented at various forums and conferences throughout the year to keep up-to-date 

with best practice, learn about new technology, advocate for facilities and services for the community, and keep abreast of 

the current political climate.

This is an account of councillors’ representation during 2019-20. 

Event Attendee/s

CHDC Paddock to Port Tour, 1-4 July 2019 	� Cr Brimblecombe

	� Cr McIndoe

National Saleyards Expo, 23-25 July 2019, Roma, Qld 	� Cr Rolfe

	� Cr Daniels

Bush Council Convention, 6-8 August 2019, Roma, Qld 	� Cr Brimblecombe

	� Cr Rolfe

	� Cr Nixon

Northern Alliance of Councils Annual Conference, 15-18 August 2019, Bowen, Qld 	� Cr Hayes

LGAQ Waste Forum, 29-30 August 2019, Brisbane, Qld 	� Cr Daniels

QldWater Annual Forum, 11-12 September 2019, Logan, Brisbane, Qld 	� Cr Brimblecombe

LGAQ Climate Resilient Queensland, 25 September 2019

Brisbane, Qld

	� Cr Daniels

LGAQ Annual Conference, 14-16 October 2019, Cairns, Qld 	� Cr Godwin-Smith (delegate)

	� Cr Rolfe

	� Cr Daniels (delegate)

Destination Q Forum, 7-8 November, Sunshine Coast, Qld 	� Cr Daniels

	� Cr Sypher

ALGA Local Roads and Transport Congress, 18-20 November 2019, Adelaide, SA 	� Cr Hayes

	� Cr Rolfe

	� Cr Nixon

LGAQ Resource Management Forum, 11-12 February 2020, Rockhampton, Qld 	� Cr Brimblecombe

CQ Hydrogen Forum, 27 February 2020, Gladstone, Qld 	� Cr McIndoe

Bioenergy and Marine Fuels Forum, 27 February 2020, Gladstone, Qld 	� Cr McIndoe

Regional collaboration
Our councillors and executive leaders value the opportunity to represent council’s position on various issues and to add the 

Central Highlands’ perspective to the broader regional conversation.

This is a list of the groups and committees that we met with during the year:

Group Representative

Central Queensland Regional Organisation of Councils Mayor Kerry Hayes, Cr Gail Godwin-Smith, CEO Scott Mason 

From 23 April 2020 

Mayor Kerry Hayes, Cr Christine Rolfe (Chair), CEO Scott Mason 

Western Queensland Local Government Association Mayor Kerry Hayes 

CEO Scott Mason

Central Queensland Senior Officers Network Jason Hoolihan, Manager Infrastructure

Central Queensland Region Engagement Committee Suzanne Poulter, Manager Connected Communities 

Queensland Great Artesian Basin Advisory Council CEO Scott Mason

Queensland Water Directorate Technical Reference Group CEO Scott Mason

LGAQ Water and Sewerage Advisory Group Cr Charlie Brimblecombe

LGAQ Roads and Transport Advisory Group Cr Christine Rolfe

LGAQ Regional Economic Development Advisory Group Mayor Kerry Hayes

Central Highlands Accelerate Agribusiness (CHAA) Mayor Kerry Hayes

Bowen Basin Regional Roads and Transport Group Mayor Kerry Hayes, Cr Christine Rolfe (Chair)

Mayor Kerry Hayes at the Springsure Hospital during the COVID-19 pandemic.

CHDC’s Paul Thompson, Outback Aussie Tours' Alan Smith, Lachlan Millar MP and Central Highlands Regional Council Mayor Kerry Hayes met in Emerald in 
July this year to discuss Outback Aussie Tours' proposed tourism train venture from Emerald to Winton.
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Daniel Fletcher

GENERAL MANAGER COMMUNITIES

13 February 2017 – 2 August 2019

Daniel joined council in February 2017 

from Logan City Council where he was 

manager community services. 

He led the planning, environmental 

services, community and customer 

services, parks and recreation, and 

community development service 

delivery areas until his resignation on 

2 August 2019 to take up the position 

of chief executive officer at Litchfield 

Council in the Northern Territory.

Gerhard Joubert

GENERAL MANAGER 
INFRASTRUCTURE AND UTILITIES

Gerhard joined the council in January 

2016. He has more than 30 years’ 

experience as a civil engineering 

executive starting in South Africa 

working for the Department of 

Transport in Cape Town, gaining 

experience in planning, design and 

construction of highways for more than 

10 years before migrating to Australia. 

His portfolio includes hazard 

mitigation, disaster management and 

emergency services, technical services, 

infrastructure services and water utilities.

He has completed a Bachelor of 

Engineering Civil and is a member of 

the Institute of Engineers Australia; 

a Chartered Professional Engineer; a 

Fellow of the Institute of Public Works 

Engineers Australia; and a Registered 

Professional Engineer Queensland.

Michelle Webster

GENERAL MANAGER CUSTOMER AND 
COMMERCIAL SERVICES

Michelle has 25 years’ experience 

in Queensland local government 

with nine years at an executive 

level. She is responsible for 

the business planning of the Emerald 

Saleyards, Emerald Airport, quarries, 

property services and customer service. 

The property services portfolio 

includes managing vacant council land 

and applying a commercial lens to 

the 200 housing properties owned by 

council.

During the year, the Shepton Quarry 

was sold to Wagners Quarries and the 

remaining business support for the 

quarries function was transferred to the 

Infrastructure and Utilities department. 

Michelle has qualifications 

in accounting, management, business 

and planning. She is also the holder 

of a Bachelor of Commerce degree, is 

a graduate and member of the 

Australian Institute of Company 

Directors, and an associate member of 

CPA Australia.

Scott Mason
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Scott Mason commenced his career 

with Monto Shire Council in 1993 and 

became CEO in 2003. 

He moved to Diamantina Shire Council 

as CEO in 2007 and became CEO for 

Central Highlands Regional Council 

in 2013.

Scott is passionate about local 

government and actively supports 

cooperative regional initiatives. 

He was awarded the Queensland 

LGMA’s Manager of the Year Award 

for Leadership and Management 

Excellence in 2010. He is a graduate of 

the Australian Applied Management 

Colloquium and has fulfilled roles of 

office for the Central Queensland LGMA 

including two terms as president. 

Scott was appointed Chair of the 

Queensland Great Artesian Basin 

Advisory Council in June 2018. 

Scott has completed a Bachelor 

of Economics Degree through the 

University of New England. 

John McDougall

GENERAL MANAGER COMMUNITIES

(Commenced 9 December 2019)

John joined council in December 2019 

after four years with Banana Shire 

Council where he fullfilled several 

director roles. He has 15 years local 

government experience in large coastal 

and small regional organisations and 

also held a senior management role in 

the mining industry for five years.

His Commuties Department portfolio 

includes connected communities, 

planning and environment, corporate 

communiciations and events, and parks 

and recreation.

John has completed a Bachelor 

of Health Science and is an active 

member of LGMA and Environmental 

Health Australia. His keen desire is 

to improve communities through 

collaboration and communication.

Margaret Gatt

GENERAL MANAGER CORPORATE 
SERVICES

With 26 years’ service to local 

government in the south-east 

and central regional Queensland, 

Margaret has a range of contemporary 

leadership skills. She is passionate 

about leading and developing people, 

improving systems and processes, 

and is a strong advocate for good 

governance.

Margaret leads a substantial portfolio 

including: information communication 

and technology, finance, people and 

culture, business transformation, 

asset management and governance. 

Margaret has a Diploma of Local 

Government, qualifications in project 

management and has recently 

completed a Post Graduate Certificate 

in Financial Leadership with the 

University of Queensland.

CEO and Executive Leadership Team

Senior Management 

Remuneration (S201)

Remuneration packages paid to  

senior management (s201 LA 09)

Remuneration 

Range

Number of 

contracted senior 

employees

$100 000 - 

$200 000

0

$200 000 - 

$300 000

4

$300 000 - 

$400 000

1
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Glossary of terms 
Annual Report / An overview of 

the activities of council for the 

financial year. This report gives a 

comprehensive easy-to-read summary 

of what your council has been doing 

within the community, including a 

comprehensible community financial 

report and a complete financial 

summary.

ALGA / Australian Local 

Government Association

ARIP / Advancing Regional 

Innovation Program

Asset / An item that has potential or 

actual value to an organisation. 

Asset management / A systematic 

approach to managing assets through 

all lifecycle phases. This involves 

applying a combination of engineering, 

financial and other technical practices 

to the management of infrastructure, 

costs, opportunities, risks and 

performance.

Asset Management Plan / A plan 

that combines technical and financial 

techniques for the management of one 

or more infrastructure assets over the 

lifecycle of the asset in the most cost-

effective manner in order to provide a 

specified level of service.

Audit / An examination of the records, 

statements, systems and procedures of 

an organisation together with its stated 

claims for performance.

Blackspot Program / an Australian 

Government initiative to reduce crashes 

on Australian roads.

BMA / BHP Mitsubishi Alliance – the 

largest coal producer and supplier of 

seaborne metallurgical coal. Operates 

seven Bowen Basin mines.

Budget / Refers to the Central 

Highlands Regional Council Budget for 

2015-16.

BBRRT – Bowen Basin Regional Road 

and Transport Group.

BOR / Building our Regions fund.

Capital expenditure / Represents 

expenditure on a capital project. 

Capital works / Works undertaken 

to create a new asset or space, or to 

change the use, function or layout of an 

existing asset or space.

Central Highlands 2022 Community 

Plan / A 10-year plan providing a 

long-term ‘road map’ for the Central 

Highlands, setting out goals, priorities 

and aspirations for our 13 unique 

place communities as well as the 

whole region.

CEO / Chief Executive Officer

CHAA / Central Highlands Accelerate 

Agribusiness

CHACAC / Central Highlands Arts and 

Cultural Advisory Committee

CHBEA / Central Highlands Business 

Excellence Awards

CHDC / Central Highlands 

Development Corporation. A 

not-for-profit organisation that is 

the lead economic and tourism 

development agency for the Central 

Highlands region.

CHEMP / Central Highlands Economic 

Master Plan

CHRRUP / The Central Highlands 

Regional Resources Use Planning 

Cooperative is an independent 

community-owned organisation 

dedicated to increasing the 

sustainability of natural resources.

CHQHC / Central Highlands 

Queensland Housing Company

Council / Refers to Central Highlands 

Regional Council.

Community / The people living, 

working and visiting the Central 

Highlands. 

Community engagement / Expands 

on community consultation to include 

wider processes of education, 

advocacy, communication and 

participation that also contribute to 

council decision-making.

Corporate Plan / Sets out the council’s 

strategic direction for the coming five 

years and is based on the outcomes 

and goals in the Central Highlands 2022 

Community Plan. It’s the tool we use 

to consider the priority of projects and 

services and balance their delivery with 

available resources.

CQIP / Central Queensland Inland Port

CQLGMA / Central Queensland Local 

Government Management Association

C-Res / a cost neutral entity that 

delivers the local buying program 

for all BHP Minerals Australia assets 

nationwide.

CRG / Community Reference Group / 

A group of community representatives 

established in each of the region’s 

thirteen townships under the Central 

Highlands 2022 Community Plan. 

The aim of these groups is to engage 

with their communities and develop 

individual action plans to advance their 

own communities as well as the Central 

Highlands. 

Customer Service Charter / Outlines 

the principles and standards relating to 

the services provided by council staff.

ECM / electronic content management

EHP / Queensland Government’s 

Department of Environment and 

Heritage Protection.

E-news / Electronic newsletter.

GIW / Great Inland Way.

Governance / The system by which 

council business is controlled and 

directed, especially with regard 

to regulation of decision-making 

procedures.

Infrastructure / The physical and 

organisational structures and facilities 

(roads, buildings, water treatment 

plants) needed for the operation of 

Central Highlands’ communities.

LDCC / Local Disaster 

Coordination Centre

LDMG / Local Disaster 

Management Group

LGAQ / Local Government Association 

of Queensland

LGIP / Local Government 

Infrastructure Plan.

LGMA / Local Government 

Management Association

LGMS / Local Government Mutual 

Services

NAIDOC/National Aborigines and 

Islanders Day Observance Committee

NDRRA / National Disaster Relief 

and Recovery Arrangements. A joint 

funding initiative of the Australian 

and state governments to provide 

disaster relief and recovery payments 

and infrastructure restoration to help 

communities recover from the effects 

of natural disasters.

OneCouncil / a software solution 

designed by technologyone for local 

government.

Operational Plan / The Operational 

Plan is the detail of the Corporate Plan. 

It shows what projects, services and 

activities are current for the financial 

year and the progress of each as 

at the end of each quarter (three-

month period).

Operational expenditure / Money 

spent on the ongoing costs of running 

council and its services.

Open Space and Recreation Plan / 

Evaluates existing council-managed 

open space, sport and recreation 

facilities and provides a united vision 

for future planning and development. 

Under review.

PCYC / Police-Citizens Youth Club

PDA / Priority development area

Policy / A statement formally adopted 

by council or the chief executive officer 

that describes the council’s position on 

a particular issue.

QLGA / Queensland Local Government 

Association.

QRA / Queensland Reconstruction 

Authority

R2R / Roads to Recovery, an Australian 

Government infrastructure investment 

program.

RADF / Regional Arts 

Development Fund

REMPLAN / A web-based tool 

providing detailed demographic, 

economic and community data for 

businesses and community groups.

SES / State Emergency Service

SME / small to medium enterprise

Stakeholder / A person or organisation 

with an interest in the outcome or 

output or is affected by services, 

activities, policies, services, programs, 

or strategies.

Tech Savvy / A class conducted 

at libraries to introduce people to 

the use of computers, tablets and 

smartphones.

TIDS / Transport Infrastructure 

Development Scheme

TOTO / Turn on Tech One – the project 

to implement the One Council system 

provided by technologyone.

WoW / Wheel of Wellbeing

YouthInc / Council’s youth 

development service based 

in Blackwater.
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Strong Vibrant 
Communities

RESPECTING OUR CULTURES

ACTIVE AND INCLUSIVE COMMUNITIES

SUPPORT DIVERSE COMMUNITIES

2019 Senior's Week lunch at Springsure.
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Summary of key activities
	� Provide and maintain accessible community services and 

facilities. 

	� Position the community at the heart of an advocacy 

strategy.

	� Managing libraries that offer relaxing hubs; connect 

people and offer learning resources, information, 

recreational materials and skill development.

	� Listening to the community and prioritising actions that 

support a sustainable future for our region. 

	� Promoting the art, culture and heritage of our 

communities.

	� Leading and influencing community participation in 

healthy and active lifestyles.

	� Making opportunities for learning, social activities, 

community events, grants and funding programs.

	� Ensuring the region’s sustainability through integrated, 

well-planned development and continuous improvement 

of the planning scheme.

Service areas
PUBLIC ASSETS AND FACILITIES LIBRARIES CEMETERIES

COMMUNITY PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT ARTS AND CULTURAL SERVICES

PARKS AND RECREATIONAL SERVICES

SPORT AND RECREATIONAL FACILITIESSPORT AND RECREATIONAL ENGAGEMENT

YOUTH AND INDIGENOUS DEVELOPMENT

Mayor Kerry Hayes delivers the Christmas hampers to the Emerald Neighbourhood Centre.

Highlights for 2019-20
Sport and recreation

Amended the Sport and Recreation Organisations Policy 

to the Community Organisations Tenure of Council Owned 

and Council Controlled Land Policy to include flexibility and 

create strong partnerships between council and clubs. 

Community consultations yielded a positive response for the 

new Game Plan tenure agreements. 

Successfully delivered the 2019 Healthy Active Highlanders 

program and Get Out Get Active 50+ program. 

The new e-sports bulletin improved communication to all 

sporting and active organisations across the region including 

giving access to online training for clubs opening under 

COVID-19 industry plans.

clubCOACH, an online website to support clubs and 

volunteers, created a valuable resource for management, 

legislation, document storage, and automated reminders.

A combination of state government sport and recreation 

and community improvement grants delivered $95 880 to 

regional sport and active recreation clubs.

Parks and recreation

The purchase of specialist equipment to maintain sporting 

fields and facilities in conjunction with a care plan for fields 

with high community use.

Delivered 52 capital projects to the value of $9.5 million that 

included the Blackwater skate park; the memorial garden 

on the old Blackwater pool site; work at the Capella and 

Sapphire aquatic centres; amenities upgrade at the Bluff 

Oval; soft fall in various parks; and electrical upgrades in 

multi-use facilities and showgrounds. 

Conducted community consultation on town entrance 

beautification projects for Springsure, Comet and Bluff. 

Arts and culture

Establishing an arts asset consolidated register and 

conducting a gap analysis. 

Publishing a monthly art-related email newsletter that 

increased social media outreach by 655%. 

An online exhibition providing 33 regional artists and artisans 

an opportunity to exhibit while galleries were closed due to 

the COVID-19 response.

Artist Maxine Wild, who made the Federation Mosaic 

Pathway in Morton Park Emerald, returned to repair the 

pathway. 

An event to commemorate the 60th anniversary of the 

Medway Creek rail disaster.

Youth development 

Youthinc Emerald 1825 was developed for young people 

aged from 11 to 17 years to develop leadership, project 

management and budgeting skills. 

Web-enhanced activities to help youth and families stay 

connected and pass the time in social isolation. The team 

delivered 19 online events with 2390 people participating. 

Fortnightly online family quiz nights during the COVID-19 

response lockdown reaching people from all over 

Australia and enabling distanced families to connect and 

compete against each other. 

The opening of Green Space in Emerald; a safe place 

for young people aged 11-18 years to socialise and hang 

out with their friends and meet new people. 

Community planning and engagement

There were 39 grants approved through the Community 

Grants program for a total of $286,498 allocated.  

(See pages 28-29)

Eight Japanese students and two chaperones visited the 

Central Highlands as part of the reciprocal student program. 

A conversation class was held between 16 Springsure High 

School and 30 Emerald High School students via Skype. 

A women’s health night organised by Rolleston Health 

Committee and supported by the Central Queensland Rural 

Division of General Practice attracted 41 participants.

The youth development team successfully applied for a state 

government disability community events grant. A selection 

of 16 short films made by young regional Australians about 

mental health being a disability was screened. 

Library services

Click and Collect was introduced for people to order books 

online and the library staff to process the loan and place 

the items outside the library to be collected so that library 

services could be maintained during the COVID-19 response. 

The Princh printing system was rolled out for anyone to print 

via the library using an app and website. Print requests are 
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sent to the library from any device, anywhere, at any time 

and contactless pick-ups are arranged.

Children’s craft packs were made available for contactless 

pickup. These takeaway craft activities provided families with 

fun activities to do at home. Craft packs were so popular they 

are being continued in library programs.

The library service obtained two micro grants from the State 

Library of Queensland to purchase eight smart televisions 

and four Brother Scan n Cut machines.

Wheeled shelving was installed at Dingo, Duaringa 

and Tieri libraries transforming the library spaces into 

multipurpose areas. 

Challenges in 2019-20
Community Reference Group meetings were not held in 

quarter one due to the local government elections so there 

was a shorter window of time to engage with the community. 

Not receiving any expressions of interest from community 

groups to administer the two art galleries. This was resolved 

with the employment of a designated galleries officer. 

Social distancing impacting face-to-face youth events. This 

challenge was overcome by going online! 

Asset maintenance planning identified regional aquatic 

centres require more focus and attention.

Maintaining the 90 sporting and recreation clubs on tenure 

agreements as changes to the Game Plan are implemented.

A constantly changing database of volunteers.

COVID-19 response regulations affecting events in parks and 

council spaces.

Outlook for 2020-21
Tech Savvy classes to be delivered at all nine regional 

libraries.

Installation of wheeled shelving at Capella, Rolleston and 

Springsure libraries. 

Digitising the local history collection and providing a 

digitisation service to the community. 

Offering $316 550 of community grants. 

Completing the skate park for young people at Dingo.

Promoting community reference group activities to attract 

new members. 

Implementing bigger and better community arts and cultural 

events, such as Metal in March and Arts Around August. 

Introducing the Youth Resilience Survey to 

all regional students in grades 3 - 12 to measure the 

resilience and well-being of young people and assist council 

and schools to program plan and provide services 

and resources. 

Implementing more tenure to sport and active recreation 

clubs on council-owned and controlled land.

Fulfil the next stage of the Game Plan, including planning 

a new strategy for the use of sporting facilities throughout 

the region, their increased use and identifying current or 

future needs. 

Developing service level agreements for parks and 

gardens work.

Planning and delivering cemetery upgrades.

Strategies, plans and policies
CH2022 Community Plan Refresh Community Engagement 

Report 

Community Engagement Policy 

Arts and Cultural Policy

Creative Cultural Futures and Heritage Action Plan 2020-

2022 FYs.

Statistics and Trends
Community Grant Applications

Year 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-2020

Received

Successful

61

36

78

42

59

39

67

43

53

39

Library Services

Year 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Membership

New members

Total collection

Total loans

Attendees to programs

11 057

915

77 852

70 282

7869

12 179

833

67 360

70 869

15 985

12 941

1046

68 966

56 705

3662

13 317

928

64 766

54 495

9763

20 609

1090

n/a

73 775

10 580

Total visitors n/a n/a n/a 92 474 72 540

Blackwater High School students performing at NAIDOC Week 2019.
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I’m Rinku Shrestha and I've worked as a 

technical officer resource recovery in the waste 

management area since April 2019. 

I came to Australia in 2013 and two years later 

completed a master’s degree in environmental 

engineering. I worked as a graduate engineer in an 

environmental engineering consultancy for twelve 

months before taking a break to raise my son.

I saw this job opportunity and decided to relocate 

to Emerald from Perth. I believe council welcomes 

cultural diversity in the workplace and it offers 

flexibility between work and family.

Having a civil and environmental engineering 

background, I feel this role has so many 

opportunities to explore and learn. It has 

expanded my knowledge to include landfill 

design and management, environmental impact 

assessment, project management and delivery, 

research for new recycling initiatives, preparation 

of tender/contract documents. and other 

technical reports. 

I also learnt a lot about teamwork, communication, 

coordination and collaboration while liaising 

with other departments. Most importantly, I feel 

proud to work with the community and for the 

community.

We achieved a grant fund for activities under 

the state government’s Illegal Dumping Hotspot 

Awareness Program and Regional Recycling 

Transport Assistance Program, which were the 

highlights of my year.

Community attitude change towards waste and 

recycling, investigation on new recycling initiatives, 

and achievement of zero waste to landfill by 2028 

are some of the greatest challenges of my role. 

However, I have taken this as an opportunity to 

grow myself.

Staff profile Rinku Shrestha, Technical Officer Resource Recovery 

Performance Report – Key Priority 1 – Strong Vibrant Communities
Key Performance Indicators

Strong diverse communities

	� Community information directory 

use increased.

	� Promote collaboration with 

interagency networks.

Respecting our cultures

	� Complete Central Highlands 

Heritage Collections study report.

	� Develop Emerald arts precinct 

proposal.

	� Deliver cultural capability training 

to council staff.

	� Deliver Arts in August event.

	� Deliver the Regional Arts 

Development Fund program.

Active and inclusive 

communities

	� Implement the refreshed 

community engagement model.

	� Adopt the Community 

Engagement Policy.

	� Increase online engagement with 

Have Your Say website.

	� Present report on active 

recreation in the community.

	� Deliver active healthy lifestyles 

program of events.

	� Promote social awareness 

activities.

	� Administer community grants 

program.

	� Align waste strategy with 

Queensland waste strategy.

Strong diverse communities

	� Complete growth of youth groups 

action plan.

	� Complete liveability strategy 

actions.

Respecting our cultures

	� Maintain sister city cultural 

exchange program.

Active and inclusive 

communities

	� Approve library collection 

development policy.

	� Complete growth of youth groups 

action plan.

	� Promote collaboration with 

interagency networks.

	� Complete liveability strategy 

actions.

	� Complete Central Highlands 

Heritage Collections study report.

	� Install new roof at Springsure 

Hospital Museum.

	� Deliver the Regional Arts 

Development Fund program.

	� Maintain sister city cultural 

exchange program.

	� Implement the refreshed 

community engagement model.

	� Active recreation program in the 

community.

	� Healthy active lifestyles program 

delivery.

	� Align waste strategy with 

Queensland waste strategy.

	� Install new roof at Springsure Hospital Museum.

NOT PROCEEDINGCARRIED OVER/NOT ACHIEVED AFFECTED BY COVID RESPONSECOMPLETED
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WELL-PLANNED AND CONNECTED COMMUNITIES

AFFORDABLE AND WELL-SERVICED INFRASTRUCTURE

Building and Maintaining  
Quality Infrastructure 

Maintenance grading on rural roads.
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FLOOD MITIGATION PROJECTEMERGENCY SERVICESDISASTER MANAGEMENT

WATER UTILITIES INFRASTRUCTURE SERVICES

Service areas
PROJECT DEVELOPMENT AND CONTRACT DELIVERY

QUARRIES/BORROW PITS

Summary of key activities
	� Provide contracted project development and delivery 

support. 

	� Manage road corridor activities to ensure appropriate 

addresses are allocated. 

	� Develop and implement a robust infrastructure plan 

through effective long-term asset management practices.

	� Plan and deliver essential infrastructure that supports a 

sustainable future.

	� Develop a strategy for our land and property assets.

	� Develop efficiencies in water and wastewater operations.

	� Develop a roads and transport strategy to ensure the 

efficient and effective use of resources.

	� Implement energy efficient practices for assets and 

facilities.

	� Manage one of the largest real-time, natural disaster early 

warning networks in Queensland. 

	� Provide flood risk and mitigation investigations and works, 

and land mobile radio communications. 

	� Deliver waste, recycling and re-use strategies across the 

region.

Black Gully wastewater treatment plant.

Highlights for 2019-20
Project development and contract delivery

The project development and contract delivery team 

progressed 127 capital projects. 

Infrastructure Services

Delivered more than $21M of capital works including 

works funded through the state government’s Transport 

Infrastructure Development Scheme and the Australian 

Government’s Roads to Recovery Program. 

Completed the first two sections of the Nogoa Trail that 

connects Emerald’s top weir with the Vince Lester Bridge 

and the bottom weir with Campbell Street. 

Completed more than $2.5 million of reseal preparation 

works on behalf of the Queensland Department of Transport 

and Main Roads.

Water Utilities

The completion of a $1.4 million project to replace 

hydrants and valves across the region to make the water 

network more resilient and efficient, thereby reducing 

maintenance costs.

The review and update of the regions Drinking Water Quality 

Management Plans by the Department Natural Resources 

Mines and Energy. The four-yearly audit reviews plans 

and procedures to ensure any public health safety risk 

is managed.

Flood mitigation project

Managed and maintained 84 automated flood 

warning stations that enhance community safety and 

disaster resilience. 

Installed six new rain gauges, two new rain/river height 

gauges, five new automated road outage flood level sensors, 

and upgraded two rain/river height gauges, and installed 

new manual gauge boards at three locations.

Installed two new state-of-the art, remotely activated early 

warning sirens at Sapphire and Graves Hill. 

Updated regional flood modelling and hazard outputs for the 

planning scheme.

Completed flood modelling to develop accurate stream 

rating curves on river gauges.

Completed the design of a land mobile radio network, 

including provision of infrastructure for public CB coverage.

Waste management

Renovation of the Emerald Resource Recovery Centre office.

Joint kerbside waste and recycling collection contract 

awarded to Cleanaway.

Installation of surveillance cameras at 14 waste resource 

recovery centres.

Site fence works at 11 resource recovery centres.

Purchase of 2 hook lift bins at Emerald Resource 

Recovery Centre.

Registration with Mobile Muster program to promote 

recycling e-waste: unused mobile phones and accessories.

Bin station key distribution to community. 

Clean Up Australia Day event in Emerald.
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Challenges for 2019-20
Project development and contract delivery

The biggest challenge was delivering the services required 

with limited team members because many positions are 

vacant. The team is working closely with the people and 

culture team to employ attraction and retention initiatives, 

particularly for road construction personnel.

Infrastructure Services

Sourcing suitable water for construction without jeopardising 

the water security of primary producers.

Meeting the requirement of government departments for the 

extraction of natural resources for road construction.

Attracting and retaining suitably qualified and experienced 

road construction team members.

Water Utilities

The lack of rainfall placed stress on water supplies 

that resulted in varying levels of water restrictions in 

regional towns. 

Flood mitigation project

Completing an effective rain/river station ALERT network in 

the Upper Comet River, because of the challenging terrain. 

Completing field investigations to finish regional flood 

modelling in the Isaac River catchment because of the 

COVID-19 response travel restrictions, which has delayed the 

project to the next financial year. 

Waste Management

Community concern at the introduction of reduced hours 

to the resource recovery centres, and some initial concerns 

with waste levy fees on commercial waste. Community 

consultation sessions were held throughout the region and a 

comprehensive communication plan was initiated. 

Staff retention was an issue and the unit is working closely 

with the people and culture team to utilise retention and 

recruitment strategies.

Community attitude to increased recycling and waste 

segregation. This will be addressed in a sustainable 

behaviour change project in the coming year.

Disaster Management

A report on the disaster management activities can be found 

on page 33.

Outlook for 2020-21
Project development and contract delivery

Putting together a team to deliver annual and multi-year 

capital works programs and the development of a project 

management and governance framework. 

Infrastructure Services

The release of the data from the Asset Physical Condition 

Inspection project for roads, drainage and bridges that will 

give a better understanding of the current asset condition 

and enable a more efficient and focused delivery of capital 

renewal projects. 

The delivery of more projects for council and the state 

government because of the release of additional funding 

from the COVID-19 response.

Flood mitigation project

Improvements in the flood warning network to include four 

new rain gauges and upgrades to some existing river height 

stations.

Review and finalisation of evacuation planning information for 

Sapphire and Emerald, and a flood mitigation study for Bluff 

township.

Implementation of stage one of council’s land mobile radio 

repeater network.

Water Utilities

To improve water services as part of an industry best practice 

program by recruiting technical staff and focusing on capital 

improvements projects.

Waste Management

Decommission of Fernlees, Comet and Dingo Resource 

Recovery Centres.

Emerald bin safety barrier works.

Excavator hydraulic finger grab.

Waste audit.

Specialist waste review to investigate for super resource 

recovery centre.

Illegal dumping hotspot awareness grant program activities.

Recycling sustainable behaviour change project.

Statistics and trends
Water consumption 2019-20

Location Total water consumption (kL) Usage (L/P/D) Population

Anakie 26800 732 100

Bauhinia 14800 1617 25

Blackwater/Bluff 1656300 890 5089

Capella 280800 796 964

Comet 40460 753 147

Dingo 48100 906 145

Duaringa 99900 1400 195

Emerald 3805000 728 14290

Rolleston 40500 434 255

Sapphire/Rubyvale 210200 497 1156

Springsure 264200 842 857

Tieri 515100 1365 1031

Waste and recycling (consistent data unavailable prior to 2016-17)

Households with kerbside waste collection service

Year 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Number of households 9742 9572 9760 10 022

Waste Services statistics (tonnes)

Year 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Waste to landfill 9199 12 590 15 628 40 996*

Kerbside recycling 1359 1298 1252 1112

Container refund scheme n/a n/a 154 62

* The increase in tonnes of waste to landfill from the 2018-19 financial year is because the Queensland Government’s waste levy provisions now requires council 
to record the amount of clean fill/soil that is trucked on to landfill sites to cover the waste and protect it from the wind and feral animals. In previous years, this 
was not recorded.
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The Nogoa River Trail project is part of a network 

of local cycle and walkways.

The community and council wanted to do 

something to restore pride in and connection to 

the river on the 10-year anniversary of the last 

major flood event.

The objective was to link Emerald’s Selma and 

‘bottom’ weirs by constructing a walking trail 

alongside or close-by the Nogoa River. The river 

is close to the town of Emerald and winds its way 

through the Emerald Botanic Gardens, which is a 

popular tourist destination. 

The project also created an opportunity to 

beautify an unused, underdeveloped reserve, 

provide public appreciation of the history of the 

area, and promote river-based recreation activities.

The trail loosely follows existing paths to minimise 

any construction impact on the natural surrounds 

with some upgrades made, including interpretive 

signage, to improve the user experience.

Construction was staged: stage one was from 

Selma Weir through to the Vince Lester Bridge; 

stage two was the construction from the ‘bottom’ 

weir through to Campbell Street. The final stage, 

yet to be constructed, will join stages one and two.

Case Study Nogoa River Trail

My name is William Neill and I’m the supervisor 

networks with water utilities.

My background is commercial plumbing and I’ve 

been in the industry since 2009. 

I started with council in March 2020 because I 

wanted to have an opportunity to get a greater 

understanding of the kind of work that local 

government does in relation to infrastructure and 

water networks. 

My role requires me to offer direction to and work 

with six crews and maintain stock levels to repair 

and maintain water and sewerage networks. 

I also provide customer service to people with any 

concerns about the water network and work with 

contractors on certain projects. 

In the short time that I have been working with the 

council we’ve had a leap forward in the response 

and repair times of assets around the region and 

it’s our aim to keep improving this.

A definite highlight of working with the council is 

coming into a workplace that has a real sense of 

community and warm welcoming vibe.

Staff profile William Neill, Supervisor Networks
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Performance Report – Key Priority Area 2 –  
Building and Maintaining Quality Infrastructure
Capital Works Programs

Key Performance Indicators

Well-planned and connected 

communities

	� Programmed asset condition 

assessments completed.

	� Asset renewal programs reviewed.

	� Derive 60% of capital projects bids 

from asset management plans.

	� Apply for 100% of relevant funding 

opportunities.

	� Complete all stages of 

3 Blackwater project’s 

development plans.

	� Implement phase 2 of Game Plan.

	� Implement capital turnaround 

strategy.

	� Adopt new waste reduction and 

recycling plan.

	� Establish under-utilised asset 

retention and disposal plan.

	� Develop use and sustainability 

hierarchy for libraries and offices.

	� Complete a regional aquatic 

centres maintenance strategy.

	� Achieve greater than 5% cost 

savings for water and wastewater 

operations.

	� Attend all Bowen Basin Regional 

Road Group and road user group 

meetings.

	� Finalise 100% of waste levy-ready 

capital projects.

	� Divert 10-15% of recoverable 

material from landfill.

	� Improve council’s energy 

efficiency.

Well-planned and connected 

communities

	� Complete water utilities business 

plan actions.

	� Adopt active transport plan.

	� Present centralised regional waste 

management facilities option 

paper to council.

	� Complete draft water security 

plan.

	� Implement housing strategy 

action plan.

	� Implement vacant land strategy 

action plan.

	� Apply for 100% of relevant funding 

opportunities.

	� Implement capital turnaround 

strategy.

	� Present centralised regional waste 

management facilities option 

paper to council.

	� Complete draft water security plan.

	� Achieve greater than 5% cost 

savings for water and wastewater 

operations.

Nil

NOT PROCEEDINGCARRIED OVER/NOT ACHIEVED AFFECTED BY COVID RESPONSECOMPLETED

Emerald Railway Station looking on to the Capricorn Highway.

Supporting Our  
Local Economy

CENTRAL HIGHLANDS DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

The Central Highlands Development Corporation partners with business, industry, 

government and communities to drive growth, enable innovation, build capability and 

deliver economic outcomes.
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Summary of key activities 
	� Supported more than 5000 small to medium enterprises with 

resources and guidance.

	� Presented more than 20 workshops and events, attracting 

more than 800 attendees and more than 110 sponsorships.

	� Delivered the Central Highlands Visitor Economy Strategy 

2020-2022.

	� Attracted more than $1.9 million project funding. 

	� Welcomed more than 7300 visitors and generated $16K 

in merchandise sales at the Central Highlands Visitor 

Information Centre.

	� Completed the inaugural AgFrontier Regional Agtech 

Incubator.

	� Recorded a 77% increase in followers across five social 

media platforms.

	� Launched Food and Fibre Plus.

	� Hosted the 4th biennial Central Highlands Business 

Excellence Awards and 2nd biennial AgTeCH.

	� Appointed three independent, skills-based directors to the 

CHDC Board.

Service areas
BUSINESS SUPPORT

TOURISM DEVELOPMENT

INVESTMENT ATTRACTION

AGRIBUSINESS AND AGTECH

SKILLS AND EMPLOYMENT

INNOVATION

CHDC Board

July 2019 – 

June 2020

Chairperson  

Mayor Kerry Hayes

Secretary 

Scott Mason (CEO Central 

Highlands Regional Council)

Director 

Councillor Christine Rolfe

Director 

Councillor Megan Daniels

Director 

The Honourable Paul Lucas

Director 

Ciarán Hallinan

Director 

Bronwyn Roberts

The six CHDC Goals

1. Advocate for sustainable regional and economic 

growth.

2. Proactively market and promote the Central 

Highlands as a ‘region of choice’.

3. Enhance workforce development.

4. Support business development, innovation and 

capacity.

5. Support community organisations to develop 

skills and knowledge.

6. Sustain, refresh and grow our organisation.

Highlights in 2019-20
The past year has been a unique combination of highs and 

lows that have brought significant challenges to the team 

at CHDC and Central Highlands’ businesses. Fortunately, 

these challenges have been balanced by some significant 

achievements and the occasional celebrations, with the 

team at CHDC responding to provide updated information, 

consolidate a number of key projects and collaborating 

with stakeholders to adapt initiatives that respond to the 

unexpected challenge of a global pandemic. 

Chief Executive Officer Mrs Sandra Hobbs retired after 11 

years with the corporation. Mrs Hobbs and her directors, 

staff, partners and clients built the corporation from two 

staff and an annual budget of $240K into the current stellar 

configuration of 14 staff and an annual turnover of $3 million.

Business and Investment Attraction

A review of the Action Plan 2017–2022, which forms part 

of the Central Highlands Economic Master Plan, was 

completed. 

CHDC produced the annual Central Highlands Economic 

Profile and Development Register, which equip business, 

industry and government with key information.

The inaugural Central Highlands Mayor's Resources 

Roundtable was an opportunity for the resources sector, 

council and CHDC to establish a new approach to 

collaboration.

CHDC also supported the formation of the Cooperative 

Research Centre for Transformations in Mining Economies a 

national project aimed at defining transformation approaches 

to mining economies.

Agribusiness and Agtech Development

The Central Highlands Accelerate Agribusiness (CHAA) 

initiative identifies the competitive advantages for the 

region, and delivers strategic interventions and programs 

to grow, promote and realise value and opportunity for all 

agribusiness.

	� Completed the 14-month AgFrontier Regional AgTech 

Incubator program, the only dedicated agtech incubator 

in Queensland. 

	� AgTeCH: Build it, Use it, Profit forum and field day sold-

out, with more than 265 attendees.

	� Paddock to Port Tour to Townsville, Mackay and 

Gladstone for 18 exporters, aspiring exporters and value 

chain members.

	� Annual Farm to Fine Dining Regional Produce 

Showcase in Brisbane, including the launch of 

growninthecentralhighlands.com.au

	� Central Highlands Freight Task Survey to secure 

detailed information on inward and outward freight task.

	� Helped to establish the Northern Australian Cropping 

Research Centre of Excellence, a new nationally 

significant research and development initiative.

Business Facilitation

CHDC’s Business Facilitator provides targeted, one-on-one 

support to build business capacity in the Central Highlands. 

This year, more than 5000 local operations received direct 

support for tenders, business planning workshops, grants 

and information. 

The 2019 Central Highlands Business Excellence Awards 

attracted 250 guests. The Maraboon Veterinary Surgery 

was announced as Central Highlands Business of the 

Year; Takarakka Bush Resort took home the publicly voted 

People’s Choice for Customer Service Award; and Fair 

Dinkum Meats and 4T Consultants were inducted into the 

Hall of Fame.

Tourism Development

The Central Highlands Visitor Economy Strategy 2020-2022 

sets out how the industry can collaborate to attract more 

overnight visitors, increase income across the year and 

enhance the desirability of the region for work and play. 

The tourism strategy groups achieved increased 

engagement and collaboration and the annual Tourism and 

Events Forum attracted more than 60 guests.

Skills Development

The Regional Skills Investment Strategy identified current 

and emerging jobs in key industry sectors to ensure a supply 

of skilled local people to meet this demand. CHDC delivered 

the Supervisors and Managers Training Program and 60 

students completed the 12-week program.

There was an average of 268 job postings per month on 

cqjoblink.com.au, which is designed to help employers find 

staff and job seekers gain employment within the Central 

Highlands and Isaac regions.

Retiring CHDC Chief Executive Officer Sandra Hobbs.  
Image Credit: Glen Wright Photography.
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Innovation and Development

The Advancing Regional Innovation Program (ARIP, Fitzroy) 

entered its third year, with the state government supported 

initiative to end on 30 September 2020. CHDC assisted 

local businesses via a number of program areas and events, 

including the 2019 Industry and Innovation Forum.

Food and Fibre Plus was launched in partnership with 

Queensland’s Department of Agriculture. The program 

aims to enhance collaboration and innovation for business 

resilience building in food and fibre and associated cross-

sector industries in Central Queensland.

Outlook for 2020-21
CHDC begins 2020-21 by welcoming new Chief Executive 

Officer Arjan Bloemer. Mr Bloemer hails most recently from 

Toowoomba, where he was an independent advisor to 

company boards and executive level managers. Mr Bloemer 

shares the CHDC Board’s firm belief that the corporation 

has a critical role in the Central Highlands’ future economic 

prosperity.

	� 2020 Tourism and Events Forum and Tour, 2021 Economic 

Futures Forum and Industry and Innovation Forum.

	� AgFrontier Regional Agtech Catalyst, a follow up to the 

inaugural incubator program.

	� Agtech Innovation Mission to Brisbane to support start-

ups and entrepreneurs to take their idea to the next level.

	� BeefTech2020, an innovation and technology event for 

the Central Queensland beef community.

	� Further implementation of Central Highlands Visitor 

Economy Strategy.

	� Further implementation of COVID Response and Support 

Plan, including the appointment of an economic transition 

and recovery officer.

	� The Business Facilitator program will continue to actively 

guide, mentor and support regional SMEs, with digital 

capability building a priority.

Statistics and trends
General
	� $6.31B Gross Regional Product.

	� $10.563B Output generated across the region.

	� 3291 businesses operating in the Central Highlands.

Agriculture
	� $1B estimated Agribusiness economic value.

	� 1.37 million head of cattle.

	� About 2 million ha of strategic cropping land.

Tourism
	� $218.5 million tourism total output.

	� 173 302 annual passengers through Emerald Airport.

	� 4 nights the average length of stay for domestic and 

overnight visitors. 

	� Emerald Visitor Information Centre 7302 visitors.

Mining
	� $1.8B domestic imports.

	� Highest contributing sector in terms of local expenditure 

at $796.03 million.

	� 6079 mining sector jobs out of the 17 019 jobs in 

the region.

The corporation promptly adapted to support 

our region’s business, industry and government 

through the initial impacts of the global pandemic.

COVID-19 Response and Support Plan overview:

	� Daily team situation reports.

	� In excess of 19 000 engagements via in-person 

contact, emails, calls and video meetings.

	� Dedicated COVID-19 section on CHDC website, 

updated daily.

	� Government program and grant writing 

support.

	� Industry and government briefings.

	� Facilitating regional solutions for business and 

industry.

	� Active participation in the Local Disaster 

Management Group.

In addition, CHDC commissioned research 

to capture and quantify the impacts and 

opportunities from the pandemic to date:

	� COVID-19 Economic Impact Analysis

	� Historical Events (global financial crisis 

and recent mining downturn) comparative 

economic impact analysis.

	� COVID-19 Business Activity Survey.

Case Study COVID-19 Response
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Performance Report – Key Priority Area 3 – Supporting our Local Economy
Key Performance Indicators

NOT PROCEEDINGCARRIED OVER/NOT ACHIEVED AFFECTED BY COVID RESPONSECOMPLETED

Facilitate investment and 

employer opportunities

	� Deliver initiatives to support local 

business.

	� Produce major projects 

development register.

	� Advocate for regional business 

and industry investment.

	� Increase applications for Regional 

Economic Development Incentive.

	� Attract at least five commercial 

development applications.

	� Complete stage one of Emerald 

Botanic Gardens beautification 

project.

	� Develop funding-ready 

Rifle Range Road Reserve 

improvement plan.

	� Develop Lake Maraboon 

Recreation Area Master Plan 

business case.

	� Prepare scope of works for 

Emerald Regional Sports Precinct 

master plan.

	� Increase number of regional 

services through advocacy.

Support local business and 

emerging industry

	� Provide support for at least 500 

regional businesses.

Facilitate investment and employment 

opportunities

	� Implement Central Highlands (QLD) Housing Company 

Ltd Strategic Action Plan.

Support local business and emerging 

industries

	� Achieve greater than 50% local spend and number of 

transactions.

	� Deliver initiatives to support local 

business.

	� Increase number of regional 

services through advocacy.

	� Achieve greater than 50% 

local spend and number of 

transactions.

Nil

The CHDC Board is (left to right) The Hon. Paul Lucas; Councillor Megan Daniels; Bronwyn Roberts; Mayor Kerry Hayes; Ciarán Hallinan; Councillor Christine 
Rolfe; and CHRC CEO Scott Mason.

WELL-MANAGED AND PROTECTED COMMUNITIES

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY

Protecting Our People 
and Our Environment

River paddling was enjoyed at Nogoa November 2019.
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Summary of key activities 
	� Ensure the region’s sustainability through 

integrated, well-planned development.

	� Employ efficient development planning processes 

and practices.

	� Promote community safety and wellbeing.

	� Collaborate with stakeholders to manage the built 

and natural environment.

	� Ensure an effective regulatory role through 

education and enforcement.

	� Deliver waste, recycling and re-use strategies 

across the region.

Service areas
TOWN PLANNING

DEVELOPMENT ASSESSMENT

BUILDING AND PLUMBING

RANGER SERVICES

STRATEGIC LAND USE AND PLANNING

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH

Coordinator Ranger Services Brett Keys organised free pet microchipping at Nogoa November.

Highlights of 2019-20
Strategic Land Use Planning

Major Planning Scheme Amendment for Renewable Energy 

Facilities was adopted.

Temporary Local Planning instrument (TLPI) 1/2020 for 

Operational Works within a Flood hazard Area commenced 

on 15 May 2020. 

Five commercial development applications for the Regional 

Economic Development Incentive were approved.

Two other major planning scheme amendments progressed 

to first State Interest Review (Major Planning Scheme 

Amendment – Business Innovation and Improvement and 

Major Planning Scheme Amendment – Flood Hazard). 

Grant funding of $30K secured to participate in the next 

phase of the Clean Growth Choices: Communities in 

Transition program.

Ranger Services

Collaboration with the National De-sexing Network resulted 

in outstanding outcomes for the region where at least 

1080 unwanted kittens and 660 unwanted puppies were 

prevented and 102 pets were microchipped.

An educational and informative presentation about 

co-habitation with flying fox populations in the region 

was developed in partnership with the Currumbin 

Wildlife Sanctuary. 

Upgrades to the Emerald parthenium washdown and 

underbody spray unit at Batts Street improved its efficiency 

that will assist with weed management throughout 

the region.

Development and Planning

Continued focus on customer charter expectations, customer 

request responses and timeframes.

Deciding 114 development applications.

Environmental Health

Welcomed significant increase in development 

application referrals from the planning team so that 

environmental health was more fully involved in the impact 

assessment project.

Challenges in 2019-20
Strategic Land Use Planning

Planning scheme amendment delays due to staffing 

resource issues.

The lengthy process to adopt planning scheme amendments 

to action the liveability strategy. 

Ranger Services

The inability to attend community events to promote 

responsible pet ownership and other messages associated 

with ranger services responsibilities to the community 

because of the COVID-19 pandemic response was the 

greatest challenge for the team.

Development and Planning

Unplanned staff leave and staff movements.

Underperformance against the customer service charter.   

Limited implementation of performance improvement 

initiatives.

Environmental Health

Recruiting high quality environmental health officers that 

have suitable environmental legislative experience. 

Providing advice to the hospitality industry on COVID-19-safe 

practices
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Outlook for 2020-21
Strategic Land Use Planning

Launch of the web-based integrated eplanning portal. 

Adoption of three planning scheme amendments (Local 

Government Infrastructure Plan – Amendment 2, Major 

Planning Scheme Amendment – Flood Hazard, Major 

Planning Scheme Amendment – Business Improvement and 

Innovation). 

Commencement of two new planning scheme amendments 

(Major Planning Scheme Amendment – Urban Design 

Guidelines and Major Planning Scheme Amendment – 

Heritage, Scenic Amenity and Indigenous Interests) that 

address numerous actions under the liveability strategy. 

Ranger Services

Monitoring and maintaining stock routes including upgrades 

to current water facilities.

Investigate a new animal management facility to provide a 

better and more convenient service to the community.

Improvement in responsible pet ownership related to dog 

registrations and microchipping requirements for the region 

through education and other activities.

Development and Planning

Using an evidenced-based approach to understand 

workloads and workflows, develop and implement initiatives 

to improve quality and timeliness of customer service.

Environmental Health

Licencing and inspections for community events once the 

COVID-19 pandemic response has eased.

Paperless licensing and compliance processes with the 

advent of TechnologyOne software.

Strategies, plans and policies
	� Regional Economic Development Policy reviewed. 

	� Mosquito management plan reviewed.

Statistics and trends
Development and Planning

Applications decided Building Plumbing Planning 

2018-19 Private certifications Council certified 116 99

133 84

2019-20 155 58 95 114

Ranger Services

Complaints

Type 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Attack – animal 109 89 58 45 61

Overgrown unsightly allotments 398 519 266 260 223

Wandering stray or nuisance animals 816 697 1486 969 399

Impounded animals 

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Adopted 85 115 186 202 149

Released to owner 180 310 320 226 184

Euthanized 126 100 118 94 126

Environment Services statistics

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Licensed food premises inspected 11/176 124 151

Licensed Premises (fixed and mobile) 219 208 191

Routine inspections 223 124 146

Follow-up inspections 8 10 56

Improvement notices issued 1 0 4

Complaints received 6 18 210

Complaint inspections performed 10 17 25

Surrender of licenses 10 9 1

Temporary caterer’s permits (assessed and approved) 100 69 39

Market stall licenses (assessed and approved) 6 4 1

Event food inspections (Emerald Show, Ag-Grow and Gemfest) 20 28 1

General Manager Michelle Webster (left) receives the Keep Australia 
Beautiful 2019 Queensland Sustainable Communities competition 
award for environmental sustainability for the Blackwater community. Launch of the Cleanaway contract.

centralhighlands.qld.gov.auCentral Highlighlands Regional Council Annual Report 2019-2020

Agenda - Special General Council Meeting - 14 December 2020 

Central Highlands Regional Council 57 of 116



103102

Emergency Services report
Four SES members were deployed to NSW to assist with the 

floods early in 2020.

Two members were deployed to Brisbane Airport to assist 

with border and quarantine assessments in relation to the 

COVID-19 pandemic response.

SES Week Awards saw six Central Highlands SES members 

presented with meritorious medals.

Central Highlands SES was again successful in receiving 

funding from the Energising Queensland Equipment program. 

The Gemfields group received a Lifetec Water Rescue man 

overboard adult manikin to help with flood boat training. 

Capella SES Group received a Ferno 71S split basket stretcher 

that will be great asset on rescues and land searches. 

The Water Rats on-water training event was cancelled due to 

the COVID-19 pandemic response.

Performance Report – Key Priority Area 4 – Protecting our People and 
our Environment
Key Performance Indicators

NOT PROCEEDINGCARRIED OVER/NOT ACHIEVED AFFECTED BY COVID RESPONSECOMPLETED

Well-managed and protected 
communities

	� Adopt an all hazards risk register/

plan.

	� Conduct regular Local Disaster 

Management Group meetings.

	� Establish flood mitigation industry 

partnerships.

	� Promote public safety and 

wellbeing.

	� Conduct food handling safety and 

wellbeing education.

	� Process 100% of development 

applications within the statutory 

timeframe.

Collaborate with 
stakeholders to manage 
our built and natural 
environment.

	� Conduct three community 

environmental awareness events.

	� Remove hymenachne weed from 

the Nogoa River between the Vince 

Lester Bridge and the top weir.

	� Deliver pest management control 

initiatives.

	� Publish development use fact 

sheets for each zone.

	� Review animal management fact 

sheets.

	� Deliver animal management 

education program.

	� Increase waste and recycling 

awareness in the community.

	� Introduce environmental nuisance 

monitoring devices.

	� Develop building, planning and 

plumbing compliance program.

Environmental sustainability

	� Align waste strategy with 

Queensland waste strategy.

Well-managed and 
protected communities

	� Achieve 100% compliance with 

planning statutory requirements 

and instruments.

	� Achieve 100% compliance 

with innovative development 

application processes.

	� Achieve greater than 90% 

planning scheme amendments.

	� Deliver evacuation planning tools 

for Emerald and Sapphire.

Collaborate with 
stakeholders to manage 
our built and natural 
environment.

	� Deliver funded pest plant control 

projects.

	� Deliver funded pest plant control 

projects.

	� Achieve 100% compliance with 

planning statutory requirements 

and instruments.

	� Achieve 100% compliance 

with innovative development 

application processes.

	� Achieve greater than 90% 

planning scheme amendments.

	� Deliver evacuation planning tools 

for Emerald and Sapphire.

	� Publish development use fact 

sheets for each zone.

Nil

Leadership and 
Governance

FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY

LEADERSHIP AND COMMUNICATION 

ADVOCATE FOR THE REGION

ACCOUNTABILITY AND INTEGRITY
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Summary of key activities 
	� Champions good governance and 

coordinates risk management, policy and 

compliance frameworks. 

	� Manages council’s insurance portfolio 

and supervises the internal audit function 

through the audit committee. 

	� Practice effective internal and external 

communication.

	� Advocate for improved services and 

infrastructure.

	� Ensure transparency and accountability 

through integrated performance 

management reporting.

	� Ensure the long-term financial sustainability 

of the region through prudent financial 

management and budgeting.

	� Support organisational users of the 

council’s corporate systems and computing 

network. 

	� Provide leadership in the delivery of 

flexible and responsive information and 

communication technology services 

aligned to business goals and expectations. 

	� Assist, advise and support the consistent 

roll-out of asset management for all asset 

classes. 

	� Provide fleet and workshop activities to 

support service level delivery.

Service areas
CORPORATE COMMUNICATIONS AND EVENTS

INFORMATION COMMUNICATIONS TECHNOLOGY (ICT)

FINANCIAL SERVICES

ASSET MANAGEMENT

PROCUREMENT

RISK MANAGEMENT

RECORDS MANAGEMENT

SAFETY

GOVERNANCE

INFORMATION SERVICES

Highlights of 2019-20
Corporate Communications

Publication of the 2018-19 Annual Report.

Successful management of Australia Day, Clean-up Australia 

Day, Garage Sale Trail, Nogoa November and Light up Your 

Town events.

Community newsletter survey.

Implementation of Isentia media monitoring service.

Governance

The facilitation of the 2020 Local Government Councillors  

General Elections and the induction of councillors. 

The governance team led the 2020-2021 Operational 

Plan development and enhanced the quarterly performance 

reporting regime on the operational plan. 

Developed and implemented a compliance tool to manage 

council’s legislative requirements. 

Reviewed and developed a policy framework and 

implemented the quarterly departmental policy reviews. 

Implemented a councillor’s portal, the CHRC Hub, a one-

stop-shop for councillor’s content management and delivery.

Information Communications Technology

Provided email access for field staff.

Introduced Intune mobile device management for council’s 

ICT assets.

Implemented multi-factor authentication for all user 

accounts.

Deployed e-signing capabilities.

Upgraded public access to the libraries’ computer facilities.

Finalised network WAN (wide area network) resilience 

infrastructure.

Business transformation

Turned on the OneCouncil software system on in November. 

This provides a cloud-based integrated platform with a 

single source of truth for council data that is accessible to all 

staff, from anywhere, at any time, on any device. 

Enhanced animal renewal, animals and health 

related permits and licenses renewal process in 

the new OneCouncil system. It improves tracking of 

information, monitoring and tracking of payment status and 

accuracy of notices. 

Asset Management

Physical condition inspections on sewer and stormwater 

pipes, sealed and unsealed roads, housing and 

aquatic centres.

Major works at council depots including new fencing/

electronic gates and CCTV at Capella, Blackwater and 

Springsure.

Delivery of the $4.5 million fleet replacement program.

The refurbishment of a grader and other plant for the 

Woorabinda Aboriginal Shire Council.

The rebuild of a council grader by council staff to provide 

apprentices with skills development.

Cr Megan Daniels with Cultural Award of the Year recipient Andrew Doyle.

2020 Australia Day Ambassador Associate Professor Richard Lewandowski,  
the founder of Operation Smile with Young Citizen of the Year Thomas Currie.

2020 Australia Day Citizen of the Year Selwyn Nutley.
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Challenges of 2019-20
Corporate Communications

Changing print media landscape.

Reputation management, confirmation bias and increasing 

community distrust in the accuracy of information provided 

on social media.

Governance

Raising awareness of the importance of 

reporting achievements and outcome-based reporting 

throughout the organisation. Improvements are being 

noticed and council is on a journey to enhance its reporting, 

celebrate its successes and communicate this to its 

community. 

Information Communications Technology

Supporting and maintaining the increase in user/email 

accounts and ICT assets. This was managed by upskilling 

staff and introducing smart management tools such as 

Microsoft Intune. 

The increase of cyber security threats. Security maturity 

levels were increased by introducing multi-factor 

authentication and providing a cyber security awareness 

program for all staff.

Business Transformation

The attraction and recruitment of suitable candidates to work 

in Emerald. 

Asset Management

The delivery of many capital works projects across a 

vast area.

Discovering assets and understanding their performance 

from the physical condition inspection program. 

Outlook for 2020-21
Corporate Communications

Corporate website refresh stage one.

Sustainable behaviour change campaigns for water 

conservation and recycling.

Governance

	� Development of the 2021-2022 Operational Plan.

	� Strategies alignment review. 

	� Implement a delegation management system. 

	� Implement a corporate planning reporting system. 

	� Conduct fraud and corruption awareness training 

with staff. 

	� Records digitisation and disposal projects. 

	� Business continuity plans testing. 

	� Commence a procurement improvement program. 

Information Communications Technology

Refreshing the ICT strategic plan.

Completing the production and disaster recovery ICT 

infrastructure upgrade (server and storage).

Review and improvement of the council chambers  

audio/visual and livestream technology.

Improving field-based mobility technology.

Continuing cyber protective activities.

Optimising the network to meet the needs of council. 

Business Transformation

Upgrading the OneCouncil system to 2020A. 

Automate the transmission of payment files from OneCouncil 

to the bank. 

Deliver a contractor management system.

Asset Management

Conduct asset physical condition inspections.

Conduct comprehensive asset valuations and strategic 

modelling of assets.

Implementation of electronic pre-starts and the greater use 

of Navman technology.

Explore greater use of technology for asset management 

functions, such as drones and sensors.

Finalisation of the Emerald Depot strategy.

Strategies, plans and policies
These governance policies and associated procedures were 

reviewed to enhance the control, operating efficiency, and 

compliance for council: 

	� Common Seal Policy 

	� General Compliance Management Policy 

	� Information Management Policy 

	� Risk Management Policy 

	� Legislative Compliance Policy 

	� Competitive Neutrality Complaints Policy 

	� Entertainment and Hospitality Policy 

	� Conflict of Interest Policy 

	� Public Interest Disclosure (whistle blower) Policy 

	� Councillor Contact with Lobbyists, Developers and 

Submitters Policy 

	� Expenses Reimbursement and Provision of Facilities for 

Mayor and Councillors 

	� Councillor Acceptable Requests Policy 

	� Complaints about the Chief Executive Officer Policy 

	� Investigations – Councillor Conduct Policy 

	� Intellectual Property Policy 

	� Copyright Policy 

	� Privacy Policy 

	� Councillor Briefing Sessions and Workshops Policy 

	� Councillors Confidentiality Policy 

	� Standing Orders Policy 

Statistics and trends
Average number of monthly website users for www.centralhighlands.qld.gov.au 

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

7456 8856 8328 9850 9570

Average number of media releases prepared each month.

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

11 14 14 14 16

Average number of Facebook posts per month

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

49 55 31 24 40

Average combined Facebook engagement/month (reactions, shares and comments)

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

1959 2432 2874 3416 1994

Plant and vehicle replacement strategy

Year 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Items of plant replaced 21 55 47 48 37
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The objective of the physical asset condition 

assessment program was to gather relevant and 

reliable asset condition data for council-owned 

assets. 

The $2 million project began this year with the 

inspection of sewer and stormwater infrastructure. 

Managed by the asset management team, eight 

individual data collection projects were done for 

different asset sub-classes. 

These overall condition inspections will ensure 

the asset information is accurate and reliable 

and it will eliminate the use of assumption-based 

condition information for renewal planning. 

Having this data means more accurate risk 

assessments, asset renewal planning and 

identification of funding requirements; a reliable 

asset information database; a return on investment 

for the TechnologyOne SAM module; and it will 

achieve balance of cost, risk and performance. 

It will also stabilise the large variations that can 

occur in the funding calculations after valuation, 

as the known physical condition is independent of 

the valuation process. 

We can now get a true picture of the assets 

required to be renewed–now and into the future.

Case Study Asset condition assessment program

I am currently the acting manager finance. 

My substantive role is coordinator financial 

accounting. Emerald is my home-town; I was 

born and did my schooling here. I have been 

with council since 2009 and am a CPA-qualified 

accountant. 

Before coming to council,  I had worked with the 

federal government and chartered accounting 

firms in Canberra, and had some experience 

working in London in commercial accounting.  

Right now, I manage the pivotal business 

functions of rates and revenue, accounts payable, 

stores and procurement, property and rating, 

treasury and taxation, management and financial 

accounting in the corporate services department. 

A typical week involves overseeing the issue of 

a rate levy, preparing financial statements for 

external audit, assessing the taxation implications 

of a transaction, undertaking investments, 

preparing reports for council meetings and 

developing and reviewing the annual budget.

Working as an accountant in local government has 

been the most rewarding job of my career to date. 

It’s fast-paced and deadline-driven and requires 

a lot of accounting and finance-related skills and 

knowledge. 

It’s said that with some of the biggest challenges 

comes the best rewards and this has never been 

more relevant. This year was a challenge for 

the finance team due the COVID-19 pandemic 

response and the implementation of the 

OneCouncil corporate software system. 

The new rating system has experienced problems 

and a significant amount of resources were 

invested to ensure continued good customer 

service. 

The 2020-21 budget, which involved the 

development of a 12-month budget and a 

ten-year forecast, was demanding due to the 

uncertainty created by the pandemic. We had to 

model the impacts and risks, at both a national and 

local level, to determine the effect on council’s 

long-term financial sustainability.

There’s never a dull moment in the finance 

department and this was especially true in 2019-20. 

Staff profile Acting Manager Finance Helen Kirby
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Commercial  
Services 

Night works at the Emerald Airport building the first stone mastic runway in Australia.

performance Report – Key Priority Area 5 – leadership and governance
Key Performance Indicators

NOT PROCEEDINGCARRIED OVER/NOT ACHIEVED AFFECTED BY COVID RESPONSECOMPLETED

Leadership and 

communication

	� Increase staff satisfaction with 

communication by 25%.

Advocate for our region

	� Collaborate with the Bowen Basin 

Road and Transport Group.

Accountability and integrity

	� Improve integrated quarterly 

reporting.

	� Deliver individual performance 

plan reporting.

	� Implement LGAQ legislative 

compliance tool.

Financial sustainability

	� Obtain revenue initiatives from 

each business unit.

	� Airport compliant with legislative 

safety obligations.

	� Quarry compliant with legislative 

safety obligations.

	� Saleyards compliant with 

legislative safety obligations.

	�

	� Strengthen stakeholder 

communication and engagement 

for commercial businesses.

	� Conduct three budget review 

changes.

	� Report finance information 

and plans to council and state 

government.

	� Achieve benchmark local 

government financial sustainability 

ratios.

	� Maintain Queensland Treasury 

Corporate credit rating.

Leadership and 

communication

	� Review service levels.

	� Increase community satisfaction 

with communication by 25%.

Accountability and integrity

	� Conduct elected member self-

assessment surveys.

	� Advocate for our region

	� Conduct stakeholder engagement 

for water security plan.

Financial sustainability

	� Achieve less than 10% three-year 

capital program budget variance.

	� Review service levels.

	� Achieve less than 10% three-year 

capital program budget variance.

	� Increase staff satisfaction with 

internal communication by 25%.

	� Conduct stakeholder engagement 

for water security plan.

	� Deliver individual performance 

plan reporting.

Nil

STABILITY CONFIDENCE ACCOUNTABILITY
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Summary of key activities
Ensure council’s commercial activities are managed well and 

provide benefits to our community.

Core services 

Provide safe and secure operations for Emerald Airport and 

outlying aerodrome landing strips.

Provide support partnerships with the Royal Flying Doctor 

Service, CareFlight and Angel Flight for outreach medical 

services.

Provide quality aggregates, crusher dust, general fill, road 

base, gabion rock and gravels and support council’s road 

construction activities. 

Provide a well-maintained livestock selling facility for the 

region. 

Manage land development activities.

Highlights of 2019-20
Emerald Airport

The first stone mastic asphalt runway in Australia was 

constructed in partnership with Boral Asphalt and Dr. Greg 

White from the University of Sunshine Coast. The project was 

completed with significant savings, on time, and without any 

negative impact on aviation. 

General aviation users received a new, larger, safer general 

aviation apron providing a significant increase in operational 

capability.

Fencing projects were completed at Dingo, Duaringa and 

Capella aerodromes. 

All-weather helicopter landing pads especially suited to 

rescue helicopter operations were built at Rolleston and 

Springsure aerodromes.

The Emerald Airport Terminal Redevelopment Project 

commenced to meet changes in aviation security screening 

requirements.

Emerald Saleyards

Construction of a roof over the scale house has improved 

workplace health and safety for the staff during sales. 

Construction of the additional double-decker ramp has 

made loading and unloading of cattle more efficient. 

The new catwalk to the top of double-decker ramp means 

transport operators can now walk along the full length of 

their trailers while loading and unloading on both levels. 

A new weatherproof hay shed means less spoiled hay. 

A lighting upgrade has given contractors, agents and 

scanning staff better working conditions during pre-sale 

activities. 

Construction and finalisation of the concrete delivery lanes 

3 and 4 provides greater security and efficiency against wet 

weather when feeding hay to all the main delivery yards at 

the northern end of the facility. 

Quarry Operations

The sale of Shepton Quarry to Wagners Quarries in May 

2020.

Community and Staff Housing

Asset condition assessments carried out on 189 staff and 

community houses identifying that 60% are in average 

condition. Council can now identify houses to sell and adjust 

its maintenance budget.

Capital works projects including upgrades of two bathrooms 

and construction of concrete paths at Kokoda Village in 

Springsure.

The Community Housing Funding Agreements review with 

the Department of Housing and Public Works to understand 

requirements under the Queensland Regulatory Scheme for 

Community Housing.

Challenges of 2019-20
Emerald Airport 

Bringing several complex projects through the project design 

stages to delivery within a short period of time. 

Travel restrictions as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic 

response meant the airport team had to find new ways to 

support the airport users.

Emerald Saleyards

The increase in throughput for dipping and spelling services 

has presented logistical problems at peak times for the 

placement and holding of cattle. 

Community and Staff Housing

The COVID-19 pandemic response presented several 

challenges including the:

	� Reduced maintenance due to the vulnerable tenants in 

community housing.

	� Longer timeframes to order and receive maintenance 

supplies and the inability to obtain furnishings.

	� Reduced numbers in share housing requiring alternative 

housing options to be sourced.

	� No quotes or tenders received for some of the capital 

works projects. 

Outlook for 2020-21 
Emerald Airport 

Completing the Emerald Airport Terminal Redevelopment 

Project.

Assimilating a new set of compliance requirements into the 

airport organisation and infrastructure.

Emerald Saleyards

Completing the state and federal government-funded 

spelling yard project will give flexibility for stock 

management.

Upgrading the truck turnaround area.

Community and Staff Housing

Construction of a six-unit complex in Nogoa Rise Estate for 

staff housing.

Upgrade of staff housing switchboards on non-compliant 

properties. 

Bathroom upgrades in community housing at Martin Place, 

Emerald.

The commencement of a three-year program to sell staff 

housing across the region. 

Development of a community housing plan to align with 

state government funding agreements and requirements 

under the Housing Act, 2003. 

Strategies, plans and policies

Amendment to the Staff Housing Strategy, Staff Housing 

Administrative Guideline and Procedures. 
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Always looking ahead, all options were considered 

for heavy maintenance on the Emerald Airport 

runway, taxiways and aprons. Not only were sound 

engineering methods investigated, but also ways to 

be cost effective. 

The aim of this project was to ensure Emerald 

Airport can support the community and regional 

economy in the decades to come without fail, in a 

way that significantly reduces long-term whole-of-

life costs. 

Council solicited the assistance of researchers such 

as Dr Greg White from the University of Sunshine 

Coast in its quest. 

In Australia, runways are constructed from dense 

graded asphalt, which is cheap and easy to lay 

down. However, it has a limited life and the harsh 

climate, stresses of use, and highly reactive clay 

soil type at the airport severely impacts that life 

expectancy. 

After considering the science, the project team 

decided on stone mastic asphalt (SMA). Originating 

in Germany as a robust solution to manage wear on 

traditional asphalt winter roads as a result of snow-

studded tyres, SMA is now found at some of the 

world's largest airports. 

However, SMA is a costly and specialised product 

with a short shelf life and very narrow production 

parameters. A business case was made to use 

SMA as it requires less major intervention over an 

extended life. 

In addition, it doesn’t have to be grooved like 

ordinary asphalt (for friction reasons), which is a 

saving. 

A SMA provider was contracted to install an onsite 

mobile asphalt plant. To ensure quality, a nationally 

accredited test laboratory was also established 

onsite for continuous testing of production and laid 

material.

More than 15 000 tonnes of asphalt later, the airport 

team delivered the first SMA runway in Australia. 

The project included the runway, aprons, taxiways, 

airfield lighting, flanks, strip, line marking, all 

weather access roads and many additional areas of 

the airport. 

Significant time and cost savings were achieved 

and, although work continued 24-hours a day for 

months, aviation operations were not disturbed.

Since project completion, several internationally 

and peer reviewed research papers with learnings 

from the production and construction processes 

pioneered at Emerald Airport have been published.

Case Study Emerald Airport Runway and Apron Works

Statistics and trends 
Cattle numbers through the Emerald Saleyards

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

116 772 90 234 102 462 109182 95 086

Passenger numbers at Emerald Airport

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

216 107 208 284 206 748 204 073 173 284

Quarry material sales volume (tonnes)

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

93 706 95 475 118 591 205 532 198 058*

*to 8 May 2020

Occupancy rates (%)

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Staff Housing 66 78 83 73 76

Community Housing 83 71 85 88 84

Concrete delivery lanes at the Emerald Saleyards.
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Performance Report – Key Priority 6 (Commercial Services)
Key Performance Indicators

	� Airport complies with legislative and safety requirements.

	� Quarry complies with legislative and safety requirements.

	� Emerald Saleyards comply with legislative and safety requirements.

	� Hold quarterly advisory meetings for Emerald Saleyards and Emerald Airport.

	� Hold two meetings with Emerald Airport Emergency Committee.

	� Seek additional revenue and initiatives for commercial businesses.

	� Improve budget performance for council-owned land management.

Nil

Hi, I’m Tim Maguire the Emerald Saleyards 

manager. 

I started this job in July 2017, but I have a  

34-year background in the real estate and 

livestock industry together with agricultural, 

farming and grazing interests. 

I have extensive experience within the livestock 

industry and marketing knowledge is a useful 

business model for the saleyards. 

As this role can be managed on a part-time basis, 

a typical week for me sees Mondays and Tuesdays 

at the saleyards involved in maintenance, 

planning, logistics, and management of capital 

works projects. The rest of the week I’m usually 

attending meetings!

One of the highlights from the past year was the 

completion of the new double-decker dump 

ramp, which has made the loading and unloading 

of livestock much more efficient and has alleviated 

transport operators queuing back into the carpark 

area at the saleyards. 

This project also involved the installation of two 

tiers of personnel safety catwalks, which is a great 

safety feature as truck drivers can now walk the 

full length of their trailers to load and unload 

livestock safely. 

Other improvements that have made the 

saleyards’ life much easier and safer are the new 

hay shed, an upgrade to the lighting for after-

hours work, and a roof over the scale area that 

provides much needed shade in the summer. 

Staff profile Tim Maguire, Manager Emerald Saleyards

NOT PROCEEDINGCARRIED OVER/NOT ACHIEVEDCOMPLETED

Heavy machinery moves through Emerald, the business hub of the region.
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Legislative Disclosure 
Requirements 

On the road into the Kaka Mundi section of the Carnarvon National Park.
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Local Government Act 2009
Identifying beneficial enterprises (s41)

No beneficial enterprises conducted this year.

Identifying significant business activities (s45)

Council conducted two significant business activities during 

2019-2020: water services and sewerage services.

The competitive neutrality principle was applied to these 

significant businesses. There were no other significant 

business activities commenced during the reporting period.

For a full list of business activities refer to Note 27 ‘National 

Competition Policy’ of the Financial Statements on page 36.

Senior Management Remuneration (s201) 

Refer to page 33.

Local Government Regulation 2012
General purpose financial statements

Refer to page 121.

Community Financial Report 

Refer to pages 16.

Particular resolutions (s185)

Expenses reimbursement 

policy (s250)

No resolutions were made 

to amend the expenses 

reimbursement policy.

Amount set for each 

different type of non-

current physical asset. 

(s206)

No resolutions made.

Councillors (s186)

Councillor remuneration (LGR 2012 s186) – refer to page 66.

Councillor expenses & facilities (LGR 2012 s186) – refer to 

page 66.

Councillor meeting attendance 2019-20 (s 186c) – refer to 

page 67.

Complaints in accordance with Section 186(f) of the 

Local Government Regulation 2012 

Complaints referred to the assessor under section 

150P(2)(a) of the Act by local government entities 

for the local government. 

0

Matters, mentioned in section 150P(3) of the Act, 

notified to the Crime and Corruption Commission. 

0

Notices given under section 150R(2) of the Act. 0

Notices given under section 150S(2)(a) of the Act. 0

Decisions made under section 150W(a), (b) and (d) 

of the Act.

0

Referral notices accompanied by a 

recommendation mentioned in section 150AC(3)(a) 

of the Act.

0

Occasions information was given under section 

150AF(4)(a) of the Act.

0

Occascions the local government asked another 

entity to investigate, under chapter 5A, part 3, 

division 5 of the Act for the local government, the 

suspected inappropriate conduct of a councillor. 

0

Applications heard by the conduct tribunal about the alleged misconduct of a councillor.

Complaint orders/recommendations summary reported in accordance with Section 186(e) of the Local Government 

Regulation 2012 

The name of each councillor that was 

subject to an order under section 180 

and 181.

Description of misconduct or 

inappropriate conduct.

Summary of order or recommendation.

N/A N/A N/A

Administrative Action Complaints (s187)

Central Highlands Regional Council aims to ensure excellent standards of service and has a policy and procedure in place 

to efficiently and effectively investigate and, where appropriate, take corrective actions and/or revise a decision when a 

customer is dissatisfied. Complaints may be lodged by an affected person either in writing, by telephone or face-to-face.  

Council manages complaints through the General Complaints Management Policy and related procedures. 

Administrative action complaints are managed as per the Administrative Action Complaints Procedure. The department 

referred to in the complaint will be responsible for the initial investigation. If the complainant is not satisfied with the 

investigation undertaken by the department, they may appeal for an internal review to the chief executive officer or another 

departmental general manager. If the complainant is not satisfied with the internal review, they may lodge a complaint with the 

Queensland Ombudsman or use other external review processes through the courts were appropriate.

Outcome of administrative action complaints.

Number of complaints made under the administrative actions complaints process. 10

Number of administrative action complaints resolved under complaints management process. 10

Number of unresolved complaints under the administrative actions complaints process during the financial year. 2

Number of unresolved complaints under the administrative actions complaints process from 2018-2019 (previous 

financial year).

0

All of the administrative action complaints referred in the table above were reviewed and have been resolved. 

Council has begun a review of the complaints management process to develop and ensure a consistent approach to the 

way complaints are received, handled and responded to including recently established complaint categories under the 

Human Rights Act, 2019.  
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Overseas travel (s188) 

There was no overseas travel in 2019-20.

Grants to community organisations (s189) 

Refer to pages 28-29.

Other contents (s190) 

Chief Executive Officer’s report on page 7.

Council has no commercial business units.

There was no joint government activity supplied by another 

local government for which special rates or charges 

were levied.

Invitations to change tenders (190e) 

There were no invitations to change tenders this year under 

Section 228 (8) of the Local Government Regulation, 2012.

List of registers (s190f) 

	� electoral gifts

	� interests of councillors and relatives of councillors

	� interests of senior managers and relatives of senior 

managers

	� interests of chief executive officer and relatives of chief 

executive officer

	� register of access to registers of interest

	� delegation of powers to standing committees and chief 

executive officer

	� delegation of power by the chief executive officer

	� register of roads cost recovery fees

	� register of business interests

	� local laws

	� town planning – existing uses, subdivision approvals, 

consent approvals, permitted developments

	� corporate investigations register.

Concessions for rates and charges (s190g)

Expenditure on a service, facility or activity for which special 

rates were levied during the financial year.

Council provided the following concession for rates and 

charges for the 2019-18 financial year.

Pensioners

A 50% remission is granted to pensioners that are legally 

liable to pay rates providing that an owner of the premises 

meets council’s definition of a pensioner and the premises 

for which they are claiming a rebate is their principal place of 

residence. This is in addition to the 20% that is given by the 

Queensland Government. The remission does not apply to 

special rates, special levies and water consumption.

Entities whose objectives do not include making 

a profit

Concessions equivalent to 100% of general rates may be 

allowed to certain eligible entities whose objects do not 

include making a profit. All rebated rates are initially levied 

and a rebate provided automatically when rates are levied 

so that each organisation can assess the level of council 

rebate provided. Eligible entities include: community groups, 

churches, other community organisations and sporting clubs.

Other concessions

Mining Claims – upon application council may consider a 

refund of the net general rate for a mining claim overlapping 

a residential tenure.

Quarries – concessions may be available to ratepayers 

within quarry categories relating to development approval, 

development contributions and actual vs approved level of 

production.

Other rebates

Consideration may be given by council to grant a class 

concession in the event that all or part of the local 

government area is declared a natural disaster area by the 

Queensland Government and/or where an extreme event 

occurred that affected all or part of the property.

External audit

The annual external audit of council’s financial statements 

was conducted by BDO on behalf of the Queensland 

Audit Office in 2019-20. The external auditors attend 

audit committee meetings to present findings and 

recommendations. The external audit management letter 

and responses are also provided to the audit committee.

Competitive neutrality (s190 i,j) 

There were no investigation notices given in the financial year 

under S49 for competitive neutrality complaints.

RADF grants 2019-20

Refer to page 16.

Financial  
Statements 
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6.2 Communities

6.2.1 Amendment to Fees and Charges - Waste Levy ..... approx 15 mins

DECISION REPORT

Date: 14 December 2020 Presentation Duration: Approx. 15 minutes

To: General Council Meeting

Author: Kirstin Byrne, Manager Planning and Environment

Authorising Officer: John McDougall, General Manager Communities

Presented for: Decision

ATTACHMENTS: 
Nil

PURPOSE:
This report seeks to amend the 2020-21 Register of Commercial and Cost Recovery fees schedule to 
increase the Queensland Waste Levy fees which were scheduled to be imposed 1 July 2019, however, 
were postponed by the State Government until 1 January 2021 due to COVID-19. 

These fees are collected at the weighbridge by Central Highlands Regional Council (council) and payable 
to the Department of Environment and Science monthly so are not something that council can negotiate.

OFFICER RECOMMENDATION:
That Central Highlands Regional Council amend the 2020-21 Register of Commercial and Cost Recovery 
fees to include the increased Queensland Waste Levy fees by $5 for each of the leviable types of waste.

REPORT:

Background
The Queensland Waste Levy first announced in March 2018, commenced on 1 July 2019. This levy affects 
90% of Queensland population and encapsulate 39 of the 77 local government areas (note that Aboriginal 
councils are not included in the levy zone) (refer Figure 1)
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Figure 1: Levy zone

The waste levy is applied to general waste streams, including municipal solid waste, commercial and 
industrial waste, and construction and demolition waste. The levy is also applied to regulated (or 
hazardous) waste.

The waste levy was proposed to be increased annually by $5 each financial year which has been 
communicated broadly to commercial operators by both council and the State Government during face to 
face, digital and paper communications. Refer table 1 for the levy rate increase.

Table 1: Queensland Waste Levy increase for the 2020-21 financial year
Type of Waste Levy rate (per tonne) in 2020-21 

financial year
Treated timber sawdust and shavings $75 (1 July – 31 Dec)

$80 (1 Jan – 30 June)
Earth contaminated with a hazardous contaminant from land recorded on 
the environmental management register or contaminated land register

$75 (1 July – 31 Dec)
$80 (1 Jan – 30 June)

Regulated waste (Category 1) $155 (1 July – 31 Dec)
$160 (1 Jan – 30 June)

Regulated waste (Category 2) $105 (1 July – 31 Dec)
$110 (1 Jan – 30 June)

Other levyable waste $75 (1 July – 31 Dec)
$80 (1 Jan – 30 June)

Exemptions for specific waste $0

Discussion/Current issue
The waste levy for all classifications is proposed to increase by $5 on 1 July each year. To assist 
businesses in dealing with the financial impacts of COVID-19, in 2020 the Queensland Government 
deferred the increase of waste levy rates from 1 July 2020 to 1 January 2021.

GST is not applied to the waste levy when a landfill operator pays the waste levy to the Queensland 
Government. GST is applied to the waste levy when a landfill operator charges their customers a fee to 
cover their levy liability.

CONSIDERATIONS / IMPLICATIONS:

Corporate/Operational Plan Reference/Policy/Legislation: 
2. Building and Maintaining Quality Infrastructure; 
2.2.3 - Deliver waste, recycling and re-use strategies across the region.

5. Leadership and Governance;
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5.3.1 - Maintain high standards of corporate governance.
5.4.1 - Optimise management of council’s commercial business units.

Budget/Financial/Resourcing: 
This fee is associated with the Queensland Waste Levy so does not impact council’s revenue 
except for the GST on the waste levy fee.

Communication/Engagement:
This levy increase of $5 will impact council’s commercial customers who use the landfills. The 
increase will be communicated directly to all Councils account customers. A flyer detailing the levy 
changes will also be provided to customers when they use our landfilling facilities. Fee signage at 
our facilities will be updated ahead of 1 January 2021.

Risk Assessment: 
There is a risk to council financially if a resolution to amend the 2020-21 Register of Commercial 
and Cost Recovery fees does not occur. This is not budgeted as Council’s are aware that the fees 
will be increased each financial year (or at a lesser time as identified by the State Government).

Timings/Deadlines:
The increased fee takes effect on 1 January 2021 after being postponed from 1 July 2020.

Conflict of Interest Declaration:
Council officers contributing to the preparation and approval of this report have no conflicts of 
interest to declare.  

Human Rights Impact: 
No

Alternatives Considered:
There are no feasible alternatives as the Central Highlands Regional Council is one of the leviable 
councils in Queensland. Failure to adopt the council officer’s recommendation will create an 
outcome that is unbudgeted and not financially viable.

- END OF REPORT -
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7 INFORMATION REPORTS

7.1 Corporate Services

7.1.1 Monthly Financial Report ...... approx 20 mins 

INFORMATION REPORT

Date: 14 December 2020 Presentation Duration: Approx. 20 minutes

To: General Council Meeting

Author: Vicky Coleman, Manager Finance

Authorising Officer: Margaret Gatt, General Manager Corporate Services 

File Reference: 1579700

Presented for: Information

ATTACHMENTS: 
Attachment 1 – Statement of Comprehensive Income for the period ended 30 November 2020.
Attachment 2 – Statement of Financial Position as at 30 November 2020.
Attachment 3 – Statement of Cash Flows for the period ended 30 November 2020.
Attachment 4 – Works for Queensland summary as at 30 November 2020.
Attachment 5 – Works for Queensland Covid-19 summary as at 30 November 2020.

PURPOSE:
The purpose of this report is to provide a monthly update on council’s overall financial position in 
accordance with Section 204 of the Local Government Regulation 2012. It provides a snapshot of council’s 
financial position and performance against the original budget for the period ended 30 November 2020. 

The year to date (YTD) operating result is a deficit of $2.002m recorded against a YTD budget deficit of 
$3.579m. Capital expenditure of $20.305m has been recorded to the end of November against the full year 
BR1 budget of $84.762m, representing a YTD spend of 24%. The YTD spend increases to 49% when 
committed expenditure is included.

OFFICER RECOMMENDATION:
That Central Highlands Regional Council receive the monthly financial report for the period ended 30 
November 2020.

REPORT:

Background
This financial report compares actual performance to date with council’s adopted budget for 2020-2021 and 
identifies significant variances, or areas of concern. It also provides information about additional areas of 
financial interest to council and reinforces sound financial management practices throughout the 
organisation. 

The operating and capital results at the end of November are measured against BR1, which was adopted 
on 11 November 2020. 

The report comprises four main sections formulated around key financial statements and analysis that 
explain the operating position, financial position and cashflows of council:

1. Statement of Comprehensive Income (operating income and expenses)
2. Statement of Financial Position (balance sheet)
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3. Statement of Cash Flows.
4. Analysis of the capital works program.

Discussion/Current issue

1. Statement of Comprehensive Income for the period ended 30 November 2020

The Statement of Comprehensive Income (SOCI) is provided at Attachment 1. This report is a detailed 
statement showing income and expenses recorded during the reporting period. A YTD operating deficit of 
$2.002m is reported for the period ended 30 November 2020.

A summary Operating Statement, which has been extracted from the SOCI at Attachment 1, is provided 
below. This statement compares the YTD actual operating deficit of $2.002m to the YTD budgeted deficit of 
$3.579m.  

Operating Revenue:
The Operating Statement above reports a favourable variance for operating revenue with actuals in excess 
of budget by $1.020m. The major categories of operating revenue are shown graphically below, with a 
comparison of the YTD actual results to the YTD budget.  

N.B. Internal overhead allocation has been eliminated 

A summary of the key drivers contributing to the result at the end of the reporting period is provided in the 
table below. This is shown by the major revenue categories as detailed in the SOCI at Attachment 1. 

Revenue Category Result Comment on Significant Variances
Rates and Utility 
Charges

$229k 
unfavourable 
variance (42% 
received of annual 

Corporate Revenue and Expenses ($229k under budget)
 The unfavourable variance in Rates and Utility 

charges is due to an increase in ratepayers taking 
advantage of the 5% discount for early payment of 

YTD 
Actual
$000’s

YTD Current
Budget
$000’s 

Variance
$000’s

Variance
%

Operating Revenue 59,441 58,420 1,020 1.75%
Operating Expenses 43,989 44,513 (524) -1.18%
Earnings before Interest, Tax and Depreciation(EBITD) 15,452 13,907 1,544 11.11%
Interest Expense 1,414 1,447 (32) -2.23%
Depreciation 16,039 16,039 0 0.00%
Operating Result (excluding Capital revenue and expenditure) (2,002) (3,579) 1,577 -44.06%
*Current Budget refers to Budget Review 1 2020-2021

Summary Operating Statement - For the Period Ended November 2020

Rates and
Utility Charges

(Net)

Fees, Charges
and Rental Income

Sales, Recoverable
Works and

Other Income

Investment
Income

Operating
Grants, Subsidies,

Contributions
YTD Budget 2020/21 ($m) 42.83 2.25 9.65 0.79 2.89
YTD Actual 2020/21 ($m) 42.61 2.35 10.53 0.58 3.37
Variance (%) -0.5% 4.4% 9.1% -26.7% 16.6%
Variance ($) -$228,877 $99,551 $881,416 -$211,614 $479,881
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Revenue Category Result Comment on Significant Variances
budget) rates notices.  This will be reviewed at BR2.

Sales of Goods and 
Major Services

$467k favourable 
variance (42% 
received of annual 
budget)

Customer and Commercial Services ($467k over budget):
 A favourable variance of $435k in Saleyards 

revenue has been driven by the prolonged drought 
conditions leading to higher than forecast head of 
cattle passing through the saleyards.

Other Income $520k favourable 
variance (86% 
received of annual 
budget)

Customer and Commercial Services ($430k over budget):
 A favourable variance in Airport revenue of $430k 

has been recorded due primarily to security costs 
being reimbursed by both Qantas and Alliance 
Airlines. COVID-19 has reduced the security tax 
collected from the airlines creating a gap between 
the fixed cost of providing screening services and 
the security tax revenue.  Invoicing to recoup these 
gap fees will continue on a quarterly basis until 
passenger numbers normalise. The budget for this 
additional revenue will be adjusted at BR2.

Communities ($81k over budget): 
 Scrap metal recovery in the waste cost centre is 

ahead of budget by $53k. Part of this recovery has 
been received earlier than budgeted as well as the 
total recovery exceeding budget expectations.  The 
revenue  budget will be adjusted at BR 2 to reflect 
the additional recovery.

 An additional $15k has been received from NQ 
Resource Recovery for an annual waste audit 
contribution and waste education ahead of the 
anticipated budget timing.  The timing will be 
adjusted at BR2.

Operating Grants $480k favourable 
variance (21% 
received of annual 
budget)

Communities ($125k over budget):
 A $37k variance relates to paid parental leave 

reimbursements which are not included in the 
budget.

 The remaining variance is due to budget phasing, 
with grant revenue being received earlier than 
budgeted. This budget phasing will be adjusted at 
BR2.

Corporate Services ($150k over budget):
 Trainee & Apprentice funding has a favourable 

variance of $135k due to revenue being received 
earlier than budgeted. The budget phasing will be 
adjusted at BR2.

 Asset management has a $14k favourable variance 
due to paid parental leave reimbursement from 
Centrelink which are not included in the budget.

Infrastructure and Utilities ($165k over budget):
 Regional Jobs and Investment Packages (RJIP) 

funding for the Central Queensland Inland Port 
development (CQIP) have been received earlier 
than expected as development works are 
progressing ahead of the budgeted timeframe.  
Budget phasing will be reviewed at BR2.
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Revenue Category Result Comment on Significant Variances
Investment Income $212k 

unfavourable 
variance (31% 
received of annual 
budget)

Corporate Revenue and Expenses ($219k under budget):
 The unfavourable variance in Investment Income is 

due to decreased interest income as a result of 
further reductions in interest rates. Interest income 
will be reviewed at BR2.

Operating Expenses: 
The Operating Statement shown above reports a favourable variance at the end of the reporting period for 
operating expenditure, before interest and depreciation, of $524k. The major categories of operating 
expenditure are shown graphically below, with a comparison of the YTD actual results to the YTD budget. 

 
N.B. Internal overhead allocation has been eliminated

A summary of the key drivers contributing to the result at the end of the reporting period is provided in the 
table below. This is shown by the major expense categories as detailed in the SOCI at Attachment 1. 

Depreciation Employee Costs Finance Costs Goods and Services
YTD Budget 2020/21 ($m) 16.04 18.22 1.45 27.57
YTD Actual 2020/21 ($m) 16.04 17.69 1.41 27.25
Variance (%) 0.0% 2.9% 2.2% 1.1%
Variance ($) $- -$523,502 -$32,206 -$314,283
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Expenditure 
Category

Result Comment on Significant Variances

Materials and 
Services 

$314k favourable
variance
(39% 
of the annual 
budget expended)

Corporate Services ($214k overspend):
 Overspend mainly relates to fleet expenditure due to 

a focus on maintenance planning and scheduling.  
The budget for fleet maintenance will be reviewed at 
BR2.

Executive Management ($119k underspend):
 A $50k underspend within CEO’s office for 

donations and councillor travel is due to covid-19 
travel and community event restrictions.

 A $40k underspend in Health and Wellness is due to 
delays in services provided, however there is 
currently $122k in commitments indicating this is a 
temporary underspend.

Corporate Revenue and Expenses ($246k underspend):
 Currently an underspend is reflected in legal 

services due to an extension of the rates discount 
period, resulting in a decrease in recovery activities. 
These costs are expected to increase over the 
remainder of the year as the final payments become 
due.
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Employee Costs:
i. Labour Budget

Employee costs relating to both capital and operating activities are monitored closely each month. The 
graph below shows the actual YTD salary and wages costs, including oncost, and illustrates how this 
expenditure compares against the YTD budget. Overtime is included in this analysis, however non-wage 
employee type costs such as employee training, have been excluded. 

YTD actual operating salary and wages costs of $16.900m, compares to a YTD budget of $17.162m. 
Actual capital YTD wages costs of $1.423m compares to a YTD budget of $1.720m.  

The favourable variance in operating salary and wages costs at the end of November is due primarily to the 
workers compensation premium being lower than expected. 

Note: the above graph does not include non-wages and salary type expenditure (such as staff training, FBT, payroll tax, councillor remuneration) 
that form part of Councils’ total employee cost budget

ii. Overtime:
The graph below extracts the overtime costs from the total salary and wages expenditure balances above. 
Operating overtime costs are in excess of the YTD budget by $296k partly due to the increased RPC works 
program which had Infrastructure over budget by $158k.  RPC works are expected to slow down over 
December and January which should ease pressure on the overtime budget. 

The remaining overspend is mainly within Corporate Services, including the Asset Management unit 
(workshops) with a variance of $85k at the end of the reporting period. It is expected that the actual spend 
for Asset Management will even out over the financial year and no increase in budget is proposed at this 
stage. Further variances within Corporate Services are Financial Services with an overspend of $30k and 
People and Culture with an overspend of $29k.  The People and Culture overspend is due to apprentice 
and trainee costs which are allocated to this cost centre.

Current Year Budget YTD Budget YTD Actuals
20/21 Capital Wages (Incl Oncosts) 4,954,133 1,720,207 1,423,305
20/21 Operating Salaries & Wages (Incl

Oncosts) 41,763,629 17,161,692 16,899,588
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Wages and Salaries (Whole of Council)
Actual v Budget as at 30 November 2020

Communities ($195k underspend):
 Waste materials and services is currently reflecting 

an underspend due to timing of works across the 
department and an underspend of the waste levy 
payment.  The waster levy payment is offset with an 
associated reduction in revenue.
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Capital overtime exceeds budget at the end of November by $97k. The timing of this expenditure is 
influenced by the project lifecycle stages and will be reviewed at BR2.

Business Units Results:
Council has identified five activities within its operations that are considered business units. This section 
provides an overview of the operating result at the end of the reporting period for each of these distinct 
activities. 

The business units identified are: Airport, Saleyards, Waste, Water and Sewerage (reported as Water 
Utilities).

(a) Airport:

Current Year Budget YTD Budget YTD Actuals
20/21 Overtime (Capital) 355,174 136,605 233,855
20/21 Overtime (Operating) 2,261,979 942,491 1,238,044

0

500,000

1,000,000

1,500,000

2,000,000

2,500,000

3,000,000

Overtime (Whole of Council)
Actual v Budget as at 30 November 2020

Notes YTD
Actuals

YTD
Budget
(BR1)

Variance
$

Variance
%

Adopted
Full Year
Budget
(BR1)

Original
Full Year
Budget

Operating Income 
Sale of Goods and Services 2,391,315 2,271,020 120,295 5% 6,717,911 7,713,261
Other Income 1 336,976 336,976 0% - -
Rental Income 625 625 0% - -
Fees and Charges 8,150 8,150 0% - -
Internal Revenue - Full Cost Attribution (CSO Transfers) 95,833 95,833 - 0% 230,000 230,000

Total Operating Income 2,832,899 2,366,853 466,046 20% 6,947,911 7,943,261

Operating Expenses
Employee Benefits ( 308,962) ( 278,766) 30,197 11% ( 716,831) ( 717,690)
Materials and Services ( 817,850) ( 972,195) ( 154,345) -16% ( 2,437,190) ( 2,386,577)
Internal - Plant Hire and Overheads ( 206,479) ( 204,395) 2,084 1% ( 490,547) ( 490,547)
Abnormal Expenses (COVID-19) ( 81,512) ( 107,969) ( 26,457) -25% ( 107,969) ( 130,000)
Other Expenses ( 10,577) ( 10,577) - 0% ( 25,384) ( 25,384)

Total Operating Expenses ( 1,425,380) ( 1,573,901) ( 148,521) -9% ( 3,777,921) ( 3,750,198)

EBITDA - surplus/(deficit) 2 1,407,519 792,952 614,567 78% 3,169,990 4,193,063

Non-Operating Expenses
Finance Costs (Interest on Loans) ( 379,330) ( 376,909) 2,421 1% ( 904,581) ( 904,581)
Depreciation ( 644,571) ( 644,571) - 0% ( 1,546,970) ( 1,835,432)

Total Non-Operating Expenses ( 1,023,901) ( 1,021,480) 2,421 0% ( 2,451,551) ( 2,740,013)

NET EARNINGS - surplus/(deficit) 383,618 ( 228,527) 612,146 268% 718,439 1,453,050
Notes:
1. Security Cost recoupment from airl ines ($337k)
2. EBITDA = Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization

Operating Income and Expenses - Aerodrome
For Period Ending

November 2020
2020/2021
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Analysis of results:
The Aerodrome business unit has recorded an actual operating surplus of $384k to the end of November 
against a forecast deficit of $229k.  

Additional operating revenue of $337k has been received for the reimbursement of security costs by 
Qantas and Alliance Airlines and higher than expected car park revenue.  Until passenger numbers return 
to normal levels, it is expected that further revenue will be recouped from the airlines to recover the gap 
between the fixed costs of providing the screening services at the Emerald Airport and the security tax 
revenue. The original budget predicted a 35% reduction in revenue from passengers and security together 
with a 60% reduction in revenue from plane landings for the first quarter of the financial year. This forecast 
was reviewed at BR1 and a further reduction in revenue reflected. The additional security tax revenue that 
has since been clawed back will be reflected at BR2. 

Operating expenses are $149k under budget which relates to a lower than forecast spend on repairs and 
maintenance, ad hoc security costs, and COVID-19 related expenses. 

While November passenger numbers of 13,246 reflect an increase of 10% on the previous month, these 
numbers were still down on budget. Parking numbers of 1,790 for November were up by 3.5% on the 
previous month and 18% down on budget, which forecast numbers of 2,187.  Passenger numbers are 
continuing to recover but are expected to remain supressed throughout 2020-2021 due to the impact of 
COVID-19.  

(b) Saleyards:

Analysis of results:
The Saleyards business unit has recorded an actual operating surplus of $211k at the end of November 
against a forecast surplus of $3k.  

Operating income of $1.021m at the end of November is well ahead of the forecast budget with all major 
revenue lines contributing to this favourable result.  Operating expenses of $673k are $222k over budget 
with the overspend consistent with the increase in activity at the Saleyards.

November cattle numbers of 9,536 exceed budget by 20%, which forecast numbers at only 7,963. The 
additional activity at the Saleyards is also reflected in the number of hay bales that were fed out (399) and 
the number of cattle that were dipped (9,386) in November.

Notes YTD
Actuals

YTD
Budget
(BR1)

Variance
$

Variance
%

Adopted
Full Year
Budget
(BR1)

Original
Full Year
Budget

Operating Income 
Sale of Goods and Services 1,019,632 584,811 434,822 74% 1,379,385 1,379,385
Rental Income 1,864 1,864 0%

Total Operating Income 1,021,496 584,811 436,685 75% 1,379,385 1,379,385

Operating Expenses
Employee Benefits ( 188,888) ( 172,853) 16,035 9% ( 410,451) ( 406,942)
Materials and Services ( 364,185) ( 158,013) 206,172 130% ( 395,305) ( 395,305)
Internal - Plant Hire and Overheads ( 93,536) ( 93,643) ( 106) 0% ( 224,743) ( 224,743)
Abnormal Expenses (COVID-19) - 0%
Other Expenses ( 26,048) ( 26,048) - 0% ( 62,516) ( 62,516)

Total Operating Expenses ( 672,658) ( 450,557) 222,100 49% ( 1,093,015) ( 1,089,505)

EBITDA - surplus/(deficit) 1 348,838 134,254 214,585 160% 286,370 289,880

Non-Operating Expenses
Finance Costs (Interest on Loans) ( 8,150) ( 7,993) 157 2% ( 19,184) ( 19,184)
Depreciation ( 129,724) ( 129,724) - 0% ( 311,337) ( 280,684)

Total Non-Operating Expenses ( 137,874) ( 137,717) 157 0% ( 330,521) ( 299,868)

NET EARNINGS - surplus/(deficit) 210,964 ( 3,463) 214,428 -6191% ( 44,151) ( 9,988)
Notes:
1. EBITDA = Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization

Operating Income and Expenses - Saleyards
For Period Ending

November 2020
2020/2021
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 (c) Waste:

Analysis of results:
The Waste business unit has recorded an operating surplus of $505k at the end of November against a 
forecast surplus of $164k. The unfavourable variance for Fees and Charges income relates to a reduction 
in waste levy fees. The favourable variance of $70k in other income relates to both the timing and value of 
scrap metal recovery revenue which will be adjusted at BR2. Materials and services expenses are currently 
reflecting an underspend due to timing of works across the department together with a reduction in waste 
levy payments.  The reduction in waste levy payments is offset by the reduction in waste levy fee revenue.
(d) Water Utilities: 

Notes YTD
Actuals

YTD
Budget
(BR1)

Variance
$

Variance
%

Adopted
Full Year
Budget
(BR1)

Original
Full Year
Budget

Operating Income 
Rates and Charges 2,686,283 2,625,437 60,846 2% 6,301,049 6,301,049
Fees and Charges 1,092,984 1,175,528 ( 82,544) -7% 2,821,267 3,416,712
Internal Revenue 39,458 37,547 1,911 5% 90,112 90,112
Interest Received - 10,284 ( 10,284) -100% 24,681 24,681
Grants and Contributions 1 55,306 - 55,306 0% 133,551
Other Income 174,382 104,000 70,382 68% 205,000 205,000

Total Operating Income 4,048,412 3,952,796 95,617 2% 9,575,660 10,037,554

Operating Expenses
Employee Benefits ( 486,826) ( 454,915) 31,911 7% ( 1,087,786) ( 973,871)
Materials and Services ( 2,489,551) ( 2,732,030) ( 242,478) -9% ( 6,255,066) ( 6,241,786)
Internal - Plant Hire and Overheads ( 472,690) ( 511,045) ( 38,355) -8% ( 1,226,508) ( 1,226,508)
Abnormal Expenses (COVID-19) ( 2,600) 2,600 0%
Other Expenses ( 3,163) ( 3,163) - 0% ( 7,590) ( 7,590)

Total Operating Expenses ( 3,454,829) ( 3,701,152) ( 246,323) -7% ( 8,576,950) ( 8,449,755)

EBITDA - surplus/(deficit) 2 593,583 251,644 341,940 136% 998,710 1,587,799

Non-Operating Expenses
Finance Costs (Interest on Loans) ( 17,670) ( 17,277) 393 2% ( 41,465) ( 41,465)
Depreciation ( 70,618) ( 70,618) - 0% ( 169,483) ( 149,157)

Total Non-Operating Expenses ( 88,288) ( 87,895) 393 100% ( 210,948) ( 190,622)

NET EARNINGS - surplus/(deficit) 505,295 163,748 341,546 209% 787,762 1,397,177
Notes:
1. Regional Recycling Transport Assistance; LG Il legal Dumping Hotspot Program
2. EBITDA = Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization

Operating Income and Expenses - Waste

2020/2021

November 2020
For Period Ending

Notes YTD
Actuals

YTD
Budget
(BR1)

Variance
$

Variance
%

Adopted
Full Year
Budget
(BR1)

Original
Full Year
Budget

Operating Income 
Rates and Charges 11,636,522 11,478,552 157,971 1% 27,548,524 27,738,523
Rental Income ( 1,914) ( 1,914) 0% - -
Fees and Charges 110,615 66,250 44,365 67% 159,000 159,000
Internal Revenue 605,043 605,043 - 0% 1,452,102 1,452,102
Interest Received 50,592 31,963 18,628 58% 76,712 76,712
Grants and Contributions - - - 0% 1,268,318 1,268,318
Other Income - 20,833 ( 20,833) -100% 50,000 50,000

Total Operating Income 12,400,858 12,202,641 198,217 2% 30,554,656 30,744,655

Operating Expenses
Employee Benefits ( 1,983,964) ( 1,954,421) 29,543 2% ( 4,732,041) ( 4,707,542)
Materials and Services ( 2,761,358) ( 2,867,546) ( 106,188) -4% ( 7,170,111) ( 7,170,112)
Internal - Plant Hire and Overheads ( 2,055,936) ( 2,267,544) ( 211,608) -9% ( 5,442,105) ( 5,442,105)
Abnormal Expenses (COVID-19) - - 0%
Other Expenses ( 152,706) ( 139,091) 13,615 10% ( 333,818) ( 333,818)

Total Operating Expenses ( 6,953,964) ( 7,228,602) ( 274,638) -4% ( 17,678,075) ( 17,653,576)

EBITDA - surplus/(deficit) 1 5,446,894 4,974,039 472,855 10% 12,876,582 13,091,079

Non-Operating Expenses
Finance Costs (Interest on Loans) ( 453,783) ( 418,602) 35,181 8% ( 1,004,645) ( 1,004,645)
Depreciation ( 3,795,437) ( 3,795,437) - 0% ( 9,109,049) ( 8,338,782)

Total Non-Operating Expenses ( 4,249,220) ( 4,214,039) 35,181 1% ( 10,113,694) ( 9,343,427)

NET EARNINGS - surplus/(deficit) 1,197,674 760,000 437,675 58% 2,762,888 3,747,652
Notes:
1. EBITDA = Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization

Operating Income and Expenses - Water Utilities
For Period Ending

November 2020
2020/2021
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Analysis of results:
The Water Utilities business unit has recorded an actual operating surplus of $1.198m against a forecast 
surplus of $760k.  

Operating income is marginally ahead of budget primarily due to water rates exceeding budget by $99k  
and sewer rates $59k higher than the year to date budget.  Strong sales of standpipe water and higher than 
expected new connections have resulted in fees and charges exceeding budget by $44k.

Operating expenses are under budget due to underspends in materials and services expenditure relating to 
the timing and amount of payments for chemicals and unplanned maintenance activities. The annual 
average spend is still on track and a variance to budget is expected as the timing and amount of this 
expenditure is unpredictable. Internal Plant Hire expenditure is $210k under budget and relates to lower 
than expected utilisation of internal plant at this stage of the financial year.  Usage will be monitored over 
the next couple of months.

Financial Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic:
Council continues to deal with the uncertainty created by the COVID-19 pandemic. Processes have been 
implemented to ensure that the impacts of this pandemic on operating and capital budget forecasts are 
captured in the financial system. 

At the end of November, a total of $169k of COVID-19 related expenditure had been expensed over 
several departments within council. This was mainly associated with cleaning practices for all of council 
facilities, including airports and the disaster management centre. 

2. Statement of Financial Position as at 30 November 2020

A Statement of Financial Position is provided at Attachment 2. This statement is a detailed balance sheet 
and shows the financial position of council as at 30 November 2020. It is comprised of three main 
components, assets, liabilities and community equity. The attached balance sheet indicates that council is 
in a sound financial position. 

Rates and Water Debtors:
On 26 August 2020 the first half rates levy for 2020-2021 was issued to 95% of ratepayers. The due date of 
the levy was extended by 30 days to 3 November to allow for a 60-day payment period in consideration of 
the financial impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. The second and final batch of this levy was issued on 
13 November and is due for payment by 12 January 2021. Supplementary notices in relation to the first half 
levy are still to be issued relating to those properties that have had changes notified by the Department of 
Natural Resources, Mines and Energy (DNRME) or changes in services since January 2020. 

Water levies for 2019-2020 have now been issued and are all past due. The first half water levy for 2020-
-2021 was issued as a single batch on 28 October and is due for payment by 12 January 2021. This 
extension provides property owners with a 76-day discount period to avoid the due date falling over the 
Christmas New Year holiday period.

Combined rates and water debtors at the end of the reporting period are estimated at $10.300m. This 
balance comprises water arrears of approximately $1.627m and rate arrears of approximately $8.673m. 
Water arrears reported in the October report have increased by $34k as the due date of some water 
notices fell in November. The due date of the first half rates levy was 3 November and rate arrears have 
increased by $4.316m at the end of the reporting period.

Due to delays in issuing levy notices and the COVID-19 pandemic, council’s normal debt collection 
processes for both in-house and external recovery action, have been scaled back. This approach is 
consistent with several other councils who have suspended debt recovery action in response to COVID-19. 
At this stage, it is planned that all levels of debt recovery action will resume after the issue of the 2020-2021 
second half rates and water levies in March and April respectively. This action will be in accordance with 
the guidelines as specified in council’s Rates and Charges Collection Policy.
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Council usually refers debts that exceed $1,000 and are not in an active payment arrangement to an 
external debt collection agency. The company used by council is Recoveries and Reconstruction (R&R) 
who currently manage 155 accounts valued at $735k, which are at different stages of the legal process. 

Development of aged arrears reporting by township and rating category is considered a priority and 
additional resources have been engaged to assist in facilitating the production of the required reports, this 
report has been developed however the accuracy of the data and the information provided is still being 
validated by Council Officers before being used as a reporting tool. 

3. Statement of Cash Flows for the period ended 30 November 2020

A Statement of Cash Flows is provided at Attachment 3. This statement shows council’s expected cash 
balance at the close of the financial year of $77.684m, compared with the actual YTD cash flows. 

Council’s actual cash position remains sound with a balance of $102.753m as at the end of November, held 
predominately in a combination of fixed term deposits ($24.598m) and at call accounts ($78.141m). The 
timing of receipts and payments influences the reported cash balance at the end of each reporting period.

4. Capital Program

Actual capital expenditure of $20.305m has been recorded to the end of the reporting period against the full 
year BR1 budget of $84.762m, representing a YTD spend of 24%. There is a high level of committed 
expenditure at the end of November which increases the YTD spend to 49% when included.

The capital works baseline cashflow forecast for the period ended 30 November 2020 was $21.407m, 
which is higher than the YTD actual spend of $20.305m.  Several major projects in the delivery and 
construction phase are contributing to this variance as a result of commitments that had not converted to 
actual expenditure at the end of November.

Capital expenditure budgets were reviewed and adjusted as part of BR1 resulting in additional allocations 
for rescheduled projects from 2019-2020 and new externally funded projects. These changes will result in 
modifications to the current cashflow delivery forecast of the capital program.
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Works for Queensland:
Included in the above capital summary table are 12 projects that have been approved under the Works for 
Queensland (W4Q) program. Work on all projects has now been completed with final invoices to be 
received in December for 4 projects. 

Total funding for this program is $2.500m with 50% of the grant already received in 2018-2019 and $1.00m 
received in August 2020. The remaining $0.250m will be received by the end of the financial year.

The attached table (attachment 4), lists the individually approved projects and their current status.

Works for Queensland – Covid-19:
COVID-19 Works for Queensland (W4Q) is a new program announced by the Queensland Government at 
the end of last financial year. A total of $2.030m will be received to fund 13 projects that will be completed 
in 2020-2021. Of these projects four relate to operational works, with the remainder being capital projects 
that are included in the above summary capital table. At the end of November, 12 projects had already 
commenced.

The funding for this program will be received in stages, with 50% already received in July 2020 ($1.015m) 
and 40% ($812k) to be received by the end of the financial year. The remaining 10% ($203k) will be 
received in 2021-2022, pending finalisation of the reporting requirements.

The current budget for the COVID-19 W4Q program of works is $3.645m, with council contributing $1.615m 
of this total.

The attached table (attachment 5), lists the individually approved projects and their current status.

SUMMARY:
This report measures the actual results at the end of November 2020, against BR1. The YTD operating 
result is a deficit of $2.002m against a YTD budget deficit of $3.579m. 

Actual capital expenditure at the end of November is $20.305m, which represents a total YTD budget 
spend of 24%.

CONSIDERATIONS / IMPLICATIONS:

Corporate/Operational Plan Reference/Policy/Legislation: 
5. Leadership and Governance.
5.4 - Corporate Plan Strategy: Financial sustainability
5.4.2 - Ensure the long-term financial sustainability of the region through prudent financial 
management and budgeting.

Budget/Financial/Resourcing: 
The profiling of monthly income and expenditure is continually reviewed to provide more meaningful 
measures of performance throughout the year. Generally, at least three reviews of both the 
operating and capital budgets are performed during the year.

Communication/Engagement:
The monthly financial report is prepared in consultation with members of the management team.

Risk Assessment: 
Regular reporting and review of council’s financial position and performance provides the financial 
information needed to make sound financial decisions. The provision of this information creates a 
robust framework of financial responsibility within council to ensure the sound long-term financial 
management of council’s operations.

Council staff monitor the current economic conditions from the global to the local level in order to 
provide the best possible advice and information for decision making. Changes in the external 
operating regulatory environment may impact the timing and quality of the information presented.
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The financial impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic will be quantified and reported where material. 

Timings/Deadlines:
In accordance with Section 204 of the Local Government Regulation 2012, a financial report is to be 
presented to council on at least a monthly basis. 

Conflict of Interest Declaration:
Council officers contributing to the preparation and approval of this report have no conflicts of 
interest to declare.  

Human Rights Impact: 
No.

Alternatives Considered:
Not applicable.

- END OF REPORT -
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Attachment 1 

Central Highlands Regional Council
Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the period ended 30 November 2020

Actual
Year To Date

Current
Adopted Budget*

Year To Date

Current
Adopted Budget*

Full Year

Budget
Utilised to

Full Year
$000 $000 $000 %

Income
Operating Revenue

Rates, levies and charges 42,606 42,835 102,803 41%
Fees and charges 1,892 1,772 4,216 45%
Sale of Goods and Major Services 3,403 2,936 8,097 42%
Sales of Contract & Recoverable Works 6,208 6,313 15,150 41%
Rental income 461 482 1,216 38%
Interest received 580 792 1,916 30%
Other income 919 398 1,069 86%
Grants, subsidies, contributions and donations 3,373 2,893 15,999 21%

Total Operating Revenue 59,441 58,420 150,467 40%

Expenses
Operating Expenses
Employee benefits 17,694 18,218 44,282 40%
Materials and services 26,295 26,295 63,922 41%
Finance costs 1,414 1,447 3,311 43%
Depreciation and amortisation 16,039 16,039 38,495 42%

Total Operating Expenses 61,443 61,999 150,010 41%

Operating Result of Council - surplus/(deficit) (2,002) (3,579) 457 -438%

Capital Income and Expenditure
Capital Revenue

Grants, subsidies, contributions and donations 8,066 4,056 19,781 41%
Gain/(Loss) on sale of property, plant & equipment 121 - - 0%

8,187 4,056 19,781 41%

Other capital expenses - - 1,000 0%

Net Capital Income 8,187 4,056 18,781 44%

Net Result for the Year - surplus/(deficit) 6,185 477 19,238 32%

*Current Adopted Budget refers to Budget Review 1
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Attachment 2

Central Highlands Regional Council
Statement of Financial Position

As at 30 November 2020

Actual
Year To Date

Current
Adopted Budget*

Full Year
$000 $000

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 102,753 77,684
Trade and other receivables 24,055 12,210
Inventories 7,219 6,842
Other assets - 13,523

Total Current Assets 134,027 110,258

Non Current Assets
Trade and other receivables 2,259 -
Equity investments 15 15
Property, plant and equipment 1,513,346 1,557,395

Total Non Current Assets 1,515,830 1,557,410

Total Assets 1,649,856 1,667,668

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 20,264 13,381
Borrowings 3,234 6,234
Provisions 6,091 5,903
Other - 4,983

Total Current Liabilities 29,588 30,501

Non Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables - 14
Borrowings 62,390 66,167
Provisions 16,382 12,968

Total Non Current Liabilities 78,773 79,149

Total Liabilities 108,361 109,650

Net Community Assets 1,541,495 1,558,018

Community Equity
Asset revaluation surplus 517,229 520,665
Retained surplus / (deficiency) 1,018,080 1,018,115
Current year net earnings 6,186 19,238

Total Community Equity 1,541,495 1,558,018
*Current Budget refers to Budget Review 1
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Attachment 3

Current*
Actual Budget

Year to Date Full Year
$000 $000

Cash flows from operating activities:
     Receipts

Receipts from Customers 70,587 144,808
Operating grants, subsidies and contributions 3,373 17,478
Interest received 580 1,916

     Payments - -
Payments to suppliers and employees ( 52,162) ( 118,343)
Interest expense ( 1,266) ( 2,954)

     Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities 21,111 42,905

Cash flows from investing activities:
Payments for property, plant and equipment ( 20,328) ( 84,210)
Grants, subsidies, contributions and donations 8,066 17,934
Proceeds from Sale of property, plant and equipment 121 500

     Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing activities ( 12,141) ( 65,776)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from borrowings - 10,000
Repayment of borrowings ( 2,161) ( 5,389)

     Net cash inflow (outflow) from financing activities ( 2,161) 4,611

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents held 6,810 ( 18,259)
Cash and cash equivalents (including Investments) at beginning of the financial year ( 95,943) ( 95,943)
Cash and cash equivalents (including Investments) at end of the period 102,753 77,684

*Current Budget refers to Budget Review 1

CENTRAL HIGHLANDS REGIONAL COUNCIL 
Statement of Cash Flows

For the period ended 30 November 2020



Department Project title

W4Q
Total 

Grant Funding
(2019-2020 & 
2020-2021)

 W4Q
Council Contribution

(2019-2020 & 2020-2021)

W4Q
Total Project Budget  

(2019-2020 & 
2020-2021)

 Actual 
YTD 

 Committed YTD Actual +
Commitment YTD

W4Q 
Project Budget less YTD 

Actual + Commitment

YTD October 2020
Comments

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

Communities Dingo Hall Kitchen Upgrade                                                      60,000                                                     58,947                                                     118,947                                      118,947                                                 -   118,947                                                 -   Project is complete.

Communities
Springsure Sportsfield irrigation 
replacement

                                                   220,000                                                       2,288                                                     222,288                                      215,471                                                 -   215,471                                          6,817 
Project is complete. A variation will be sent to the 
Department to ask for a transfer of surplus funds to other 
approved projects.

Communities
McIndoe Park Sportsground Lighting 
upgrades

                                                   700,000                                                   100,000                                                     800,000                                      712,255                                        16,800 729,055                                        70,945 
Project is complete. Invoices to be finalised in December.  
A variation will be sent to the Department to ask for a 
transfer of surplus funds to other approved projects.

Communities
Capella Bridgeman Park sportsground 
lighting upgrades

                                                     90,000                                                   310,000                                                     400,000                                      450,672                                        12,750 463,422 -                                      63,422 
Project is complete.  Invoices to be finalised in December. 
A variation will be sent to the Department to ask for 
surplus funds to be transferred to this project.

Communities
Blackwater Hunter Street Sports Complex 
Netball renewal

                                                   350,000                                                       6,672                                                     356,672                                      356,672                                                 -   356,672 -                                        6,672 
Project is complete. 

Communities Comet Community Electronic Noticeboard                                                      35,000                                                     67,720                                                     102,720                                        59,178                                                 -   59,178                                        43,543 Project is complete. 

Communities Rolleston Sportsground - new storage shed                                                      40,000                                                       5,000                                                       45,000                                        44,004                                                 -   44,004                                              996 Project is complete. 

Communities
Rolleston Campdraft grounds - clubhouse 
ceiling and air-conditioning

                                                     80,000                                                              -                                                         80,000                                        75,303                                                 -   75,303                                          4,697 Project is complete. 

Communities Shade sail Rubyvale flats                                                      50,000                                                              -                                                         50,000                                        31,087                                                 -   31,087                                        18,913 
Project is complete.
A variation will be sent to the funding Department to ask 
for a transfer of surplus fund to other approved projects.    

Communities
Emerald Showgrounds Electrical and 
Lighting - Stage 1

                                                   245,000                                                   741,365                                                     986,365                                      868,023                                        41,262 909,285                                        77,080 Project is complete. Invoices to be finalised in December.

Communities Bluff Rugby League Amenities building                                                    550,000                                                     70,707                                                     620,707                                      623,971                                                 -   623,971 -                                        3,264 
Project is complete. Invoices to be finalised in December.  
A variation will be sent to the funding Department to ask 
for a transfer of surplus funds to this project.

Customer & Commercial Services
Concreting of Saleyards Delivery Lanes 3 & 
4

                                                     80,000                                                       8,650                                                       88,650                                        88,650                                                 -   88,650                                                 -   Project is complete.

Total                                                 2,500,000                                               1,371,349                                                  3,871,349                                   3,644,232                                        70,812 3,715,044                                      156,305 

Attachment 4
Works for Queensland 2019-21 Funding Summary

W4Q Project Budget and Funding W4Q Project Expenditure - YTD Actuals plus Commitments
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Attachment 5

Department Capital  /
Operational  

Project

Project Title W4Q Total
Grant Funding

 2020-2021

 W4Q 
Council 

Contribution
 2020-2021

W4Q
Total Project 

Budget
 2020-2021

 Actual YTD  Committed YTD Actual +
Commitment YTD

 W4Q 
Project Budget 

less YTD Actual + 
Commitment 

YTD  November 2020
Comments

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

Communities Capital
Emerald - McIndoe Park and Botanic 
Gardens pump self-clean                                           

50,000 49,000                           99,000                                    -                                      -                                      -   99,000 Procurement process is underway.

Communities Operational
Garden bed upgrades - Duaringa 
medians / Council office

50,000                                    -                             50,000                                    -                                      -                                      -                             50,000 Procurement process is underway.

Communities Operational
Maintenance works in council parks and 
Emerald Botanical Gardens

30,000                                    -                             30,000                                    -                                      -                                      -                             30,000 Preliminary designs are underway.

Communities Capital

Springsure lawn cemetery area 
irrigation, signage, tree planting, 
landscaping and resurface of the 
columbarium wall

120,000                                    -                           120,000                             1,677                           35,200                           36,877                           83,123 Project is underway.  Irrigaion order has been placed. 

Communities Capital
Springsure Town Hall Entry 
refurbishment including tiled flooring  
and  repair of  emergency doors

120,000                                    -                           120,000                                    -                                      -                                      -                           120,000 Procurement process is underway.

Communities Capital
Bluff Waste Resource Recovery Area 
Loading Bay Retaining Wall Repair                

60,000 6,000                           66,000                           13,624                           22,727                           36,351 29,649 
Bay has started construction and float equipment has 
repaired. Project is progressing well.

Communities Capital Bauhinia Community Hall Repairs 70,000                                    -                             70,000                             2,825                             5,850                             8,675                           61,325 Procurement process is underway.

Infrastructure & Utilities Capital Electrical Switchboard Replacements 90,000 450,000                         540,000 17,193 5,860                            23,053                          516,947 
Tender is currently in evaluation. A contract will 
award in December or January.

Infrastructure & Utilities Capital
Raw Water Pump and Switchboard 
Replacement

85,000 395,000                         480,000 60,944                             9,340                           70,284 409,716 
Detailed design is complete. Procurement request has 
carried out in November. Tender evaluation in 
December or January.

Infrastructure & Utilities Capital
Regional Radio Network Planning and 
Implementation

823,000 714,800                      1,537,800 24,436                           82,480                         106,916 1,430,884 
Project has engaged the Consultant for tender 
specification preparation.

Infrastructure & Utilities Operational Maintenance - sewer network 250,000                                    -                           250,000                                    -                                      -                           250,000 Yet to commence

Infrastructure & Utilities Operational
Stormwater additional planned 
maintenance

180,000                                    -                           180,000                                    -                                      -                                      -                           180,000 
Planning stage has completed. Cleaning and 
replacement of old existing works will commence in 
January 2021.

Communities Capital

Installation of the concrete slab, replace 
the two shelters and purchase new 
metal tables and chairs at Blackwater 
Rotary Park

102,000                                    -                           102,000                             4,300                           95,663                           99,963                             2,037 Project awarded and programmed to start in January.

Total                      2,030,000                      1,614,800                      3,644,800                         125,000                         257,120                         382,120                      3,262,680 

Works for Queensland 2020-21 COVID-19 Funding Summary
W4Q Project Budget and Funding W4Q Project Expenditure - YTD Actuals plus Commitments 
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